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On a continuing operations basis, CCA delivered a record net profit after
tax for the 2007 full year of $367.6 million, representing an increase of
17.2% on 2006, while earnings before interest and tax (EBIT} increased by
$85.9 million, ar 15.3%, to $648.4 million. The strong performance
delivered in the first half of 2007 was repeated in the second half. On a
continuing operations basis, EBIT for the second half increased by 16.7%
on trading revenue growth of 6.6% and volume growth of 3.7%.

CCAs profit result has been achieved through the strang performance of
the Australian and New Zealand beverage businesses, an excellent result
from Indonesia and a solid contributien from our emerging alcohol
business. The result has been driven by improved pricing and product mix,
a number of successful new product launches, and the incrementa!
eamings generated by our significant capital investment program and the
Trans-Tasman business integration.

Earnings per share (EPS}, before significant items, increased by 12.5% to
48.6 cents per share, while on a continuing operations basis EPS increased
by 16.5% to 48.8 cents per share.

CCA also delivered an excellent cash flow result for the year, with
operating cash flow increasing by $55.5 million to $523.9 million primarily
as a result of improved earnings.

Return on average capital employed (ROCE} also materially improved,
increasing to 19.0% from 16.3% in December 2006. The significant
impravement in ROCE was primarily due to the strong underlying eamings
growth in the business and the part-year impact of the reduction in CCA's
capital employed as a result of the sale of the South Korean business in
October 2007,

Dividend

Our strong financial performance enabled the Board to increase the final
dividend to 20.0 cents a share, fully franked. For the full year, the total fully
franked dividend was 35.5 cents a share, a 9.2% increase on last year,
representing a payout ratio of 73.0% of net profit, before significant items.

Corporate Governance

CCA has an ongoing commitment to transparency and good cerporate
govemnance. The Annual Report includes a number of statements on the
robust corporate governance structure and risk management framework
prevailing throughout CCA. CCA has always maintained a high level of
corporate governance and we continue to refine our practices in this area
gach year,

Coca-Cola Amatil (CCA} delivered a record net profit after tax
for the 2007 full year of $366.3 million, before significant
items, representing an increase of $42.8 million or 13.2% on
2006. Over the past five years, CCA has delivered average net
profit after tax growth of 12.3% per annum (before significant
items), underpinning the 13.9% per annum average increase
in dividends paid to shareholders over that periad.

The Coca-Cola Company

The Board is pleased with the strengthening of the relationship between
CCA and The Coca-Cola Company (TCCC). TCCC currently holds 30.4% of
the shares in CCA, and nominates two Non-Executive Directors of the
current nine member Board. CCA's Related Party Committee, comprising the
Independent Directors, reviewed all material transactions between CCA
and TCCC in 2007 and is an important ferum for dealing with governance
Issues.

Corporate Social Responsibility |

CCA strongly supports social and environmental activities through its
community and environmental programs. These programs help to sustain
business performance by strengthening the communities in which we
operate, improving business efficiency and developing relationships with
stakeholders, and ultimately leading to increased sharehclder returns.
CCA's sustainability report, Citizenship@CCA, measures our achievements
under four pillars — Environment, Marketplace, Workplace and Community.
| encourage you to read this report which is available on gur website
www.ccamatil.com.

Employees

One of the underlying strengths of the Group is the quality of its people.
Their commitment to CCA's core values underpins the results achieved this
year. On behalf of the Board, | would like to thank all employees for their
special efforts and contributions in 2007.

S A——

—

David Gonski, AC
Chairman
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These primary business drivers included:

1. Grow CCA's share of non-alcoholic beverages by continued expansion of
the product portfolio;

2. Broadan the beverage portfolio into the highly profitable alcoholic
beverages market in Australia and New Zealand;

3. Actively review ownership options for the South Karean business, while
maintaining its commitment to Indonesia, PNG and Fiji; and

4. Undertake a major IT infrastructure development to re-engineer
business processes and create a world-class operating system.

We have continued to expand our non-alcoholic beverage portfalio with a
number of successful new product launches, including Goulburn Valley
premium juice, smoothies and fresh flavoured milk, the Kirks Sugar Free
range, Pumped flavoured water and new Powerade Isotonic flavours.

In alcohol, we launched our three core premium beers in New Zealand in
October. Miller Chill was launched in Australia in November, the first
significant beer innovation in Australia for many years, and we also
successfully launched Jim Beam & Zero Sugar Cola in September.

CCA's rapidly-growing alcohol business generated aver $300 million in
revenue' in 2007 from the sale of Pacific Beverages' premium beers and
the Maxxium spirits portfolio. The business also delivered solid incremental
earnings to CCA including contract manufacturing reverue on the Jim
Beam alcoholic ready-to-drink range, various Maxxium sales incentives and
the premium beer sales by Pacific Beverages. In addition, CCAS overheads
were spread over a larger revenue base.

Additional capital investment of approximately $14 million in Indanesia in
the last two years in new can, PET and hot-fill capacity continued to drive
profitable growth in the modern food store channel.

The integration of CCA's Australian and New Zealand beverage businesses
delivered savings in 2007 of over $10 million from improved revenue
managerment initiatives and procurement savings. Further opportunities
have been identified in raw materials and indirect expenses procuremant,
joint new product development and the sharing of best-practice technical
innovation, all of which will be accelerated in 2008.

CCA's investment in a new technology platform across Australia and New
Zealand is expected to deliver many process and operating efficiencies.
The development, with implementation commencing later in 2008, will be
phased in over a number of years and is expected to materially lower CCAs
cost of doing business and deliver operating efficiency gains as the
platform for the introduction of shared services across the CCA group.

1 Includes Maxaium revenue which is not reported in CCA accounts

2 CCA Annual Report 2007 Managing Director's Review

2007 has been a successful year for CCA, marked by the
delivery on all of the primary business drivers that were
identified in our strategic review in April 2007.

Operations Review

Australia achieved an excellent result with EBIT growth of 12.3% on

strong trading revenue and volume growth of 9.1% and 2.6% respectively.

The result was achieved by the continued focus on new product and >
package inngvation and price realisation, and on initial contribution from

the emerging alcohol business. CCA's continued investment in new higher

value premium praducts and packages such as Brand Coke in 385ml glass -
and slim line cans, Powerade Isotenic, and Pumped flavoured water
delivered strong growth for the year as consumers responded positively to
CCA's increased range of premium brand and pack combinations.

y

New Zealand & Fiji recovered from a difficult 2006 trading year to
deliver a record EBIT growth of 19.5% on revenue growth of 9.1% and
volume growth of 1.5%. This was an excellent result given the business
was cycling the successful launch of Coca-Cola Zero in New Zealand in the
first half of 2006.

Indonesia & PNG — The region more than doubled EBIT to $36.8 millien,
with strong volume growth of 7.2% and revenue growth of 4.5% as the
ecanomic recovery in Indonesia that commeanced in the second half of 2006
continued throughout 2007.

Faod & Services delivered EBIT grawth of 5.1% on revenue growth of
5.5%, which was a solid result and was achieved despite the continuing
impact on SPC Ardmona of the drought, increased commodity prices and
increased competition from imported packaged fruit and vegetable
products.

Pacific Beverages JV — Pacific Beverages achieved streng penetration
with its premium beer brands particularly Pereni Nastco Azzurro and Miller
Genuine Draft, achieving volume growth of more than 150% over 2006
when the brands were under cther distribution arrangements.




Disposal of the South Korean Business

CCA completed the sale of its Seuth Korean business to 16 Household &
Health Care Ltd (LGH&H) on 24 October 2007 for $520 million including
net debt. The final loss on disposal after income tax expense was

$49.4 million, or $46.3 million on a pre tax basis, This amount has been
recognised as a significant item for 2007. Of the net sale proceeds, an
amount of $38.6 million is held in escrow. In October 2008, the remaining
escrow amount, less any amounts attributable to unresolved claims, is to
be received by CCA and by April 2009, CCA will receive any rermaining
esCrow amount.

Acquisition of Bluetongue Brewery

On 5 December 2007, Pacific Beverages. CCAs 50:50 alcohol joint venture
with SABMiller plc acquired Bluetongue Brewery. Blugtongue's premium
heer brands include Bluetongue Premium {zger, Bluetongue Premium Light,
Bluetongue Traditional Pilsner, Bluetongue Alcoholic Ginger Beer and Bondi
Blonde. The acquisition of Bluetongue Brewery adds a fast-growing and
uniquely Australian premium beer brand to Pacific Beverages' existing
pertfolio of imported premium beers and fits perfectly with our strategy of
developing our presence in the Australian premium beer market.

Brewery Development

Pacific Beverages intends to establish a boutigue premium brewery at
Warnervale in New South Wales in order to further accelerate its premium
beer strategy. The brewery site, when completed, will enable Pacific
Beverages to materially increase production of Bluetongue to meet
increased national demand, while also praviding capacity for the potential
production of other Australian premium beer brands. The brewery, with a
capacity of 500,000 hectolitres, is expected to be completed during 2010
and will be jointly funded by CCA and SABMiller.

Off-Market Share Buy-Back

CCA successfully completed an off-market share buy-back on 29 January
2008. A total of 21.7 millien shares, or approximaiely 2.9% of CCA's issued
shares, were bought back at a price of $7.84, representing a maximum
14% discount to the applicable market price. Due to the positive tender
response, a significant scale-back of appraximately 60% was applied.

Qutlook for 2008

The priorities for 2008 will be the continued expansion of CCA's non-
alcoholic and premium alcoholic beverage portfolio and further realising
the benefits of its Trans-Tasman husiness integration program. This will
be achieved through significant capital and technolegy investments in
Australia and New Zealand in cold drink equipment, automated
warehousing, systems infrastructure and increased heverage
production capacity.

We have some exciting new product launches in the pipeline for this year,
with our major new product for the year, Glacau Vitamin Water, launched
in Australia in February. Glacéau has been a huge success in the United
States where it now leads the enhanced water category.

Higher aluminium and PET input costs will continue to drive higher
beverage Cost of Goods Sold {COGS) per unit case in 2008, albeit at a
lower rate of increase than for the previous two years. Based on current
forward commodity prices and CCA's prevailing hedge boak, CCA expects
the beverage COGS per unit case to moderate in 2008 with an increase by
approximately 4% on a constant currency basis. This also includes an
increase of approximately 1% to 2% due to mix for the full year as CCAs
premiumisation strategy drives a higher value and higher cost praduct mix.

Capital expenditure for the full year 2008 is expected to be approximately
7% of revenue, including approximately 1% to 2% for infrastructure
expenditure related to the commencement of construction of the high-bay
warehouse at Eastern Creek and the SAP technology project.

The consumer spending environment will have challenges in 2008 with
interest rate rises, higher petrol prices and higher food inflation. Hawever,
on the plus side, employment remains very strong and there are income tax
cuts legislated for July. With the sale of the Seuth Korean business our
balance sheet is very strong and the 4.7 times EBIT interest cover is the
highest interest cover in over 10 years.

At this early stage, we expect to be able to once again achieve good
revenue growth in 2008. We remain optimistic that our strong performance
in 2007 has established a sound platform for 2008 and that the business is
in excellent shape to respond appropriately to changes in economic
conditions or consumer sentiment.

yapns

Terry Davis
Group Managing Director

-,
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Coca-Cola Amatil Limited
For the financial year ended 31 December 2007

The following commentary summarises the Company’s debt position,
capital employed, capital expenditure, cash flow position, COGS and
significant items.

Net Debt & Interest Cover

Net debt was significantly reduced during the year primarily as a result
of the continued strong operating cash flow and the receipt of the net
praceeds from the sale of the South Korean business. CCA has total
committed debt facilities of approximately $2,200 million with an
average maturity of 6.5 years, with total net debt of $1,607.3 million
as at 31 December 2007.

Following the sale of the South Korean business, CCA' financial ratios
have been further strengthened and the Company remains in a very strong
position to continue the development of its multi-beverage strategy in
2008, EBIT" interest cover increased from 4.0 timas at 31 December 2006 to
4.7 times at year end. CCA expects to be able to maintain an EBIT interest
cover of 4.0 to 5.0 times in 2008.

$A million 2007 2006 Chg
Net Debt 1,607.3 2,0746 (467.3)
Net debt / equity 111.6% 141.1% {295 pts)
Interest cover

{EBIT' / net interest) 4.7x 4.0x 0.7x

1 Before significant items
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Capital Employed
Group capital employed decreased by $497.3 million since December 2005,

primarily due to the reduction in the trading asset base, a result of the
divestment of the South Korean business.

Working capital increased by $98.0 millien primarily due to higher trade
receivables resulting from increased trading activity; the inclusion of the
$38.5 million escrow amount in respect of the sale of the South Korean
husiness as a receivable; and higher inventory levels in Australia and SPC
Ardmana.

Higher inventory levels were carried in November and December in
Australia to provide higher levels of service to CCA's customers over the
Christmas period. Significant improvements were made in out-of-stocks,
return rates and delivery perfarmance. CCAs quality score in Australia also
placed the Company in the top ten for Coca-Cola bottlers in the world.

The net reduction in propesty, plant & equipment {PP&E) of $197.3 million
was driven by the sale of the South Korean business. There was, howeves,
an increase in Australian PP&E due to the automated warehouse
development and increased beverage production capacity.

Capital Employed ($A million) 2007 2006 $Chyg
Working capital 895.8 7978 98.0
Praperty, plant & equipment 1,3026 1.499.9 (197.3)
IBAs & intangible assets 1,4416 2.001.3 (559.7)
Deferred tax liabilities {153.3) {327.9) 1746
Derivatives — non-deht 15.6 {31.1) 467
Other net assets / {liabilities} (454.3) {394.7) {595)
Capitai Employed 3,048.0 3.545.3 (497.3)
Return on average capital

employed (ROCE} %' 19.9% 18.3% 2.7 pts

1 Befose significant ilems

{Other material movements in investments in bottling agreements (IBA) and
other intangible assets, deferred income tax liability, derivatives — non-debt
and other net assets / (liabilities), were as a result of the sale of the South
Karean business in October 2007.

Group ROCE increased by a very strong 2.7 percentage points to 19.0%
from the full year 2006 result of 16.3% primarily due to the strong growth
in garnings and the impact of the part-year reduction in capital employed
as a result of the disposal of the South Korean business.




Capital Expenditure

Capital expenditure increased by $19.3 million 10 $300.3 million or 6.8% of
trading revenue. The increase in capex in Australia was primarily due to
the first stage of construction of the new automated warghouse facility at
the Northmead manufacturing operation, additional beverage can
production capacity in South Australia and New South Wales. a new hot-
fill beverage line in Queensland and the initial spend an the development

Cash Flow

Operating cash flow was very strong, increasing by $5%.5 million 1o
$523.9 million, with much of the improvement driven by improved earings.

Free cash flow remained very strang at $271.0 million. Higher levels of
capital expenditure and the cycling of the sale of properties in Australia
and South Korea in 2006 drove the broadly flat free cash flow result.

of the SAP integrated systems project announced tn April 2007, Cash Flow {$A million) 2007 2006 $Chg
The decrease in the Food & Services Division capital expenditure was due EBIT {before significant items} $53.1 5305 726
to cycling the high first half 2006 investment in cold drink equipment for — —
the Australian beverage aperations and the completion of the warehouse Depreciation & amortisation 176.8 2012 (24.4)
at SPC Ardmona. The reduction in New Zealand & Fiji is largely due to the . -
: . . . . f . 4. )
increased capital expenditure in the first half of 2006 on the automated Cash impact of Significant hems na 1) 530
warehause project in Auckland, while the reduction in Indonesta & PNG Change in working capital {98.0} {65.2) {28.8)
reflects a similar first half 2006 up-weighted investment in cold drink -
equipment and retumable caniainers. Net Interest paid (139.8) (1509 11
Capital expenditure / trading revenue 2007 2006 % Chg  Taxation paid (181.5)  129.4) (12.1)
Australia 5.4% 2.8% 26 pts Other 61.4 77.3 {15.9}
New Zealand & Fiji 10.6% 14.0% (3.4pts)  Operating cash flow 523.9 468.4 55.5
Indonesia & PNG 71% B.2% (1.1pts)  Capital expenditure (300.3) (281.0) (19.3}
Food & Services 12.0% 18.8% (6.8 pts}  Proceeds from sale of PP&E
& other 414 84.2 368
South Korea 3.8% 25% 1.3 pts (%)
Free cash flow 2no 216 06
CCA Group 6.8% 6.5% 0.3 pts o8

CCA remains committed ta a significant capital investment program in
order to drive organic growth. Major infrastructure projects, including the
Melbourne, Sydney and Auckland automated distribution centres and
increased beverage production capacity across all regions further
strengthen the growth capability of the business.

Cost of Goods Sold

Higher commodity input costs continued te impact on CCA's beverage
manufacturing cost base. On a constant currency basis and excluding South
Korea, beverage COGS per unit case increased by 6.3% for both the second
half and the full year, driven by the higher cost of aluminium and PET resin,
partially offset by a stronger Australian dollar.

Significant items — South Korea

For 2007, CCA reported significant item charges of $59.4 million before tax
and $55.6 million after tax in relation to the 2006 extortion threat and
impairment of the South Korean business in the first half and the disposal
of the business in the second half.
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Warwick White

Managing Director - Australasia — Age 46
Appointed in November 2002

Background: Warwick has 24 years in the Coca-Cola system and rejoined
Coca-Cola Amatil in November 2007 as the Managing Director of Australia.

Warwick has hatd mainly marketing and general management roles since
joining the Coca-Cola system in the early 1980s. Prior to joining CCA,
Warwick was the Regional Director for Coca-Cola Hellenic Bottting
Company with responsibility for Ireland, Poland, Hungary, Czech Republic
and Slovakia. This was preceded by 13 years in Great Britain, Europe and
Ireland in progressively more senior roles.

Peter Kelly
Managing Director — Asia — Age 42
Appointed in August 2005

Background: Peter has over 18 years in the Caca-Cola system, joining The
Coca-Cola Company in 1988 in Marketing and CCA in 1993 to take up staie
and then national general management roles. Most recent reles have been
as Director of Business Development for the CCA Group and as Director of

Operations and Lagistics for the Australian business.

George Adams
Managing Director — New Zealand & Fiji — Age 41
Appointed in December 2003

Background: A Fellow of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in Irefand.

George joined CCA on 1 December 2003. George has 13 years experience
in the Coca-Cola bottling system having previously spent 10 years with
Coca-Cala Hellenic Bottling Company in a numher of progressively senior
Finance, Commercial and IT roles in Europe. He has also worked as Finance
Director for British Telecom Regions based in Northern lreland. George was
also recently appointed to the Board of the New Zealand Food and Grocery
Council.

John Seward
Managing Director — Indonesia & PNG — Age 51
Appointed in August 2004

Background: John has spent ten years in the Coca-Cola system, joining
CCA in 2004 having run the Nigerian Bottler for Coca-Cola Hellenic Bottling
Company since 1997. Prior to this, he has held senicr positions in the
FMCG and the packaging businessas in Europe, the Middle East and in the
US. The majority of his career has been in sales and aperations both in
staff and general management roles and he brings a wealth of
international experience ta CCA.
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Nigel Garrard
Managing Director - Food & Services — Age 47
Appointed in February 2005

Background: A qualified Chartered Accountant, Nigel joined SPC Ltd in
2000 as Manaqing Director and has over 15 vears experience in the food
industry. He was instrumental in the successful merger of SPC and
Ardmona Foods, creating one of Australia’s leading food manufacturers.
Prior to joining SPCA, Nigel undertook a number of regional roles in
Australia and New Zealand over a 10 year period with the US based
Chiquita Brards Intemational. Nigel is currently Chairman of Natignal Food
Industry Strategy Ltd and a Director of Victorian Relief Foodbank Ltd.

Nessa 0'Sullivan
Chief Financial Officer — Operations — Age 43
Appointed in March 2008

Background: A Fellow of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in Ireland
and a graduate of University College Dublin. Nessa joined CCA in May
2005 as CFO for the Australia business. Prior to joining CCA Nessa held the
role of CFO and VP for the Australia/ New Zealand region of Yum!
Restaurants International. She spent 12 years with Yum! in senior roles in
Finance, Strategic Planning and IT. Nessa hotds dual Irish and Australian
citizenship and has worked in Eurepe, the United States, and Australia.

Ken McKenzie
Chief Financial Officer — Statutory & Compliance - Age 57
Appointed in March 2008

Background: Ken has been with Coca-Cola Amati! for 23 years where he
has held a number of senior financial roles resulting in extensive M&A and
corparate planning & reporting experience. He was instrumental in the
demerger of CCA's European businesses through the public listing on the
London Stock Exchange and the acquisition of CCA's Indanesian business.
Most recently, Ken has been the Group Financial Controlter for Coca-Cola
Amatil for the last 6 years. Ken is a qualified CPA with a Master of
Commerce from the University of New South Wales and has further
attended international universities such as MIT and Insead. Outside of
CCA, Ken is a member of the Financial Reporting Panel and the ASIC
Standing Committee.




David Gonski, AC

Chairman, Non-Executive Director {Independent) — Age 54
Joined the Board in October 1997 - Chairman of Related Party
Committee and Nominations Committee and member of Audit & Risk
Committee, Compensation Committee and Compliance & Social
Responsibility Committee.

Background: Salicitor for 10 years with the law firm of Freehills and
thereafter a corporate adviser in the firm of Wentworth Associates, now
part of the Investec group,

Degrees: B Com; LLB (UNSW) FAICD, FCPA

Other Listed Company Boards: Westfield Group; Singapore Airlines
Limited; Australian Securities Exchange Ltd.

Other Oirectorships held in the last three years: ING Group {resigned
2004}; John Fairfax Holdings Ltd {resigned 2005); Australia and New
Zealand Banking Group Ltd {resigned 2007).

Government & Community Invelvement: Chancellor of the University of
New South Wales; Chairman, UNSW Foundation Limited; Chairman of
Sydney Grammar Schaol.

Terry Davis
Group Managing Director, Executive Director ~ Age 50
Appointed in November 2001

Background: Joined CCA in November 2001 after 14 years in the global
wine industry with mast recent appeintment as the Managing Director of
Beringer Blass {the wine division of Foster’s Group Ltd).

Other Listed Company Boards: St George Bank Limited.

Government & Community Involvement: Council Member, University of
New South Wales Council; Member, AOC (NSW) Fundraising Committee —
Beijing 2008.

Catherine Brenner
Non-Executive Director (Independent) - Age 37

Joined the Board on 2 April 2008 — Member of Related Party Committee
and Nominations Committee.

Background: Ms Brenner is a former Managing Director of ABN AMRO
Rothschild where, prior to that appointment, she had held various senior
roles in the mergers and acquisitions and equity capital markets divisions.
She is experienced in both corporate advisory and equity capital markets,
including takeovers, capital raisings and trade sales. Ms Brenner was a
corporate lawyer, prior to becoming an investment banker.

Degrees: BEc and LLB {Macquarie University), MBA {Australian Graduate
School of Management)

Other Listed Company Boards: Centenniat Coal Company Limited and
Cryosite Limited.

Other Directorships held in the last three years: Trafalgar Corporate
Group Limited {resigned 2008},

Government & Community Involvement: Director, Australian
Brandenburg Orchestra.

Jillian Broadbent, AD

Non-Executive Director (Independent) - Age 59

Joined the Board in February 1993 — Chairman of Compliance & Social
Responsibility Commiitee, member of Compensation Committee,
Nominations Committee and Related Party Committee.

Background: Extensive experience in international banking, principally
with Bankers Trust Australia, advising a wide range of corporate clients on
risk management.

Degree: Bachelor of Arts {major in Economics and Mathematics) from
University of Sydney.

Other Listed Company Boards: Woaodside Petroleum Ltd.

Government & Community Involvement: Director, Reserve Bank of
Australia; Director, SBS Corporation.

Irial Finan
Non-Executive Director (Nominee of TCCC) - Age 50

Joined the Board in August 2005 ~ Member of Audit & Risk Committee
and Compliance & Saociat Responsibility Committee.

Background: Has had 26 years within the Coca-Cola system including
recently as Chief Exacutive Officer of Coca-Cola Hellenic Bottling Company
SA. Currently, President, Bottling Investments & Supply Chain for The Coca-
Cola Company.

Degree: Bachelor of Commerce from National University of ireland in
Galway and an Assaciate (later Fellow) of the Institute of Chartered
Management Accountants.

Other Listed Company Boards: Coca-Cola Enterprises, Coca-Cola
FEMSA, Coca-Cola Hellenic Bottfing Company; Supervisory board of Coca-
Cola Enterprises AG; Valuntary Advisor for NUY Galway Foundation Board
(National University Ireland) and Co-operation Ireland USA.

Geoffrey Kelly
Non-Executive Director (Nominee of TCCC) — Age 63

Joined the Board in April 2004 - {previously having been a Directar
between 1996 and 2001). Member of Compensation Cemmittee.

Background: Joined The Coca-Cola Company in 1970 and has held legal
positions with TCCC in the US, Asia and Europe. Currently Senior Vice
President and General Counsel, Chief Legal Officer of The Coca-Cola
Company.

Degree: Law Degree from University of Sydney.
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Wal King, AO

Non-Executive Director {Independent) — Age 63

Joined the Board in February 2002 — Member of Related Party
Committee, Nominations Committee and Compliance & Social
Responsibility Committee.

Background: Worked in the construction industry for 35 years and since
1987 has heen the Chief Executive Officer of Leighton Holdings Limited, a
company with substantial operations in Australia and Asia.

Degrees: Bachelor of Engineering; Master of Engineering Science and
Honorary Doctor of Science from University of New South Wales.

Other Listed Company Boards: Leighton Holdings Limited.

Government & Community Involvement: Director, University of New
South Wales Foundation Lid; Council Member, University of New South
Wales Council; Foundation Member, New South Wales Infrastructure
Council; President, Australian Constructors Association; Member, Business
Council of Australia.

David Meiklejohn

Non-Executive Director (Independent) - Age 66

Joined the Board in February 2005 - Chairman of Audit & Risk
Committes, and member of Nominations Committee, Related Party
Committee and Compliance & Social Responsibility Committee.

Background: Strong experience in finance and financial management and
as a Company Director. Chief Financial Officer of Amcor Limited for 19
years until retirement in June 2000.

Degree: Bachelor of Commerce from Queensland University.

Other Listed Company Boards: PaperlinX Ltd {Chairman); Australia and
New Zealand Banking Group Ltd; Mirrabooka [nvestments Limited.

Other Directorships held in the fast three years: SPC Ardmona Lid
{Chairman) (2005}, GasNet Australia Group {Deputy Chairman] (2004);
WMC Resources Ltd (2005); OneSteel Ltd {2005).

Government and Community Involvement: President of the Melbourne
Cricket Club.
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Mel Ward, AO

Non-Executive Director (Independent} - Age 66

Joined the Board in February 1999 — Chairman of Compensation
Committee, member of Audit & Risk Committee, Nominations Committee
and Related Party Committee.

Background: A Company Director since February 1992 when retired as
Managing Director of Telecom Australia and Chairman of Telecom Australia
{International) Ltd.

Degrees: Bachelor of Engineering {Honours) and Master of Engineering
Science from Queensland University.

Other Listed Company Boards: Macquarie Communications
Infrastructure Group; Pro Medicus Ltd {Chairman); Transfield Services Ltd;
West Australian Newspapers Ltd.

Other Directorships held in the last three years: Insurance
Manufacturers of Australia Limited, Major Performing Arts Board of the
Australia Council for the Arts.

General Counsel and Company Secretary

George Forster

General Counsel and Company Secretary — Age 53

Background: Joined CCA in April 2005 as Genera! Counse!. Appointed
Company Secretary on 14 February 2007. Extensive experience as a
corporate and commercial Yawyer of over 30 years including being a
partner of a leading Australian law firm and legal adviser to, and
Company Secretary of, a number of major coporates.

Degrees: Bachelors of Law and Commerce from the University of
New South Wales.




At Coca-Cola Amatil (CCA), the Board of Directors is committed to achieving
best practice in the areas of corporate governance and business conduct.
This Corporate Governance Statement reports on the main corporate
governance principles and practices followed by CCA as required by the
ASX Listing Rules.

The Company has followed the best practice recommendations established
in the ASX Carporate Governance Council’s "Principtes of Good Corporate
Governance and Best Practice Recommendations’.

The role of the board

The Board represents shareholders and has the ultimate responsibility for
managing CCA's business and affairs to the highest standards of corporate
governance and business conduct. The Board operates on the principle that
all significant matters are dealt with by the full Board and has specifically
reserved the fallowing matters for its decisions:

+ the strategic directian of the Company;

= approving budgets and other performance indicators, reviewing
performance against them and initiating corrective action when
required;

» ensuring that there are adequate structures te provide for compliance
with applicable laws;

= ensuring that there are adequate systems and procedures to identify,
assess and manage risks;

« ensuring that there are appropriate policies and systems in place to
ensure compliance;

« monitoring the Board structure and composition;

* appointing the Group Managing Director {MD) and evaluating his or her
ongoing performance against predetermined criteria;

* approving the remuneration of the MD and remuneration palicy and
suceession plans for the MD and senior management;

= ensuring that there is an appropriate focus on the interests of all
stakeholders; and

* representing the interests of and being accountable to the Company’s
shareholders.

To assist in its deliberations, the Board has established five main
commitiees which, apart fram soutine matters, act primarily in a review or
advisory capacity. These are the Related Party Committee, Nominations
Committee, Audit & Risk Committee, Compensation Committee and
Compliance & Social Responsibility Committee. Details of each Committee
are set out in this report. The delegation of responsibilities to those
committees will only occur provided that sufficient systems are in place to
ensure that the Board is meeting its responsibilities. The respansibility for
implementing the approved business plans and for the day-to-day
operations of CCA is delegated to the MD who, with the management
team, is accountable to the Board.

Composition of the Board
The composition of the Board is based on the {ollowing factors:

+ the Chairman is a Non-Executive Director and is independent;

= the MD is the Executive Director;

s The Coca-Cola Company has nominated two Non-Executive Directors
[currently Geoffrey Kelly and Irial Finan);

* the majority of the Nen-Executive Directors are independent;

& one third of the Board (other than the MD} is required to retire at each
Annual General Meeting and may stand for re-election. The Directors
to retire shall be those who have been longest in office since their
last election;

& 3 Director who has been appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy
is required to be considered for re-election by the shareholders at the
next Annual General Meeting.

The Board is comprised of the following nine members:

Name Position Independent  Appointed
David Gonski, AC Chairmman, Non-Executive Director  Yes 1997
Catherine Brenner*  Non-Executive Director Yes 2008
Jillian Broadbent, AO  Non-Executive Director Yes 1899
Wal King, AD Non-Executive Director Yes 2002
David Meiklejohn Non-Executive Director Yes 2005
Mel Ward, AD Non-Executive Director Yes 1999
Iria} Finan** Non-Executive Oirector Nao 2005
Geoffrey Kelly** Non-Executive Oirector No 2004
Terry Davis Executive Director and No 2001

Group Managing Director

* Appointed 2 April 2008
**Nominated by The Coca-Cala Company

Directors - independence

A Director is considered independent provided he or she is free of any
husiness or other relationship with CCA or a related party, which could
reasonably be perceived to materially interfere with the exercise of their
unfettered and independent judgement. A related party for this purpose
would include The Coca-Cola Company.

When a potential conflict of interest arises, the Director concerned
withdraws from the Board meeting while such matters are considered.
Accordingly, the Director concerned takes no part in discussions nor
exercises any influence over the Board if a potential conflict of interest
exists. Transactions with The Coca-Cola Company are reviewed by the
Related Party Committee. Related party transactions are disclosed in
Note 36 to the financial statements.

Related Party Committee

The Related Party Committee is comprised of the six independent
Non-Executive Directors {and does not include any Directors who are or
have been associated with a related party. The MD and the CFO attend
meetings by invitation).

The Committee reviews transactions between CCA and its related parties
to ensure that the terms of such transactions are no more favourable than
would reasonably be expected of transactions negotiated on an arms
{ength basis, It meets prior to each scheduled Board meeting to review
all material transactions of CCA in which The Coca-Cola Company, or

any other related party, is involved.
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Directors - selection

The composition of the Board is considered regutarly by the Nominations
Committee and any recommendations presented to the full Board. The
review ensures that the Board has available an appropriate mix of abilities
and experience to serve the interests of all shareholders.

The process of appeinting a Directar is that, when a vacancy exists or is
expected, the Nominations Committee identifies candidates with the
appropriate expertise and experience. The Board reviews the candidates
and the most suitable person is either appointed by the Board and comes
up for re-election at the next Annual General Meeting or is recommended
to sharehalders for election at a shareholders” meeting.

CCA also encourages its shareholders to nominate persons of suitable
skills and experience for Board positions. The website contains a
nomination form and any nomination, made in good faith, will be
considered by the Nominations Committee.

Nominations Committee

The Mominations Committee is comprised of six independent Non-
Executive Directors (it does not include any Directors who are or have
been associated with a related party). The Committee reviews the
Board's composition to ensure that it comprises Directars with the right
mix of skills and experience to enable it to fulfil its responsibilities to
shareholders. The Committee also identifies suitable candidates for
appointment to the Board and reviews general matters of corporate
governance. The Committee has alse been given responsibility for
reviewing the Company's standards of corporate governanee,

Directors — induction and training

On appointment, each Non-Executive Director is required to acknowledge
the terms of appointment as set out in their letter of appointment. The
appointment letter covers, inter alia, the term of appointment, duties,
remuneration and expenses, rights of access to infermation, ather
directorships, dealing in CCA's shares and termination.

On appointment, each Director is provided with the Company’s policies and
briefed on the content by the Company Secretary. Directors have available
to them a series of training programs, covering sush topics as the Board's
role, Board camposition and conduct, risks and responsibilities of company
directors, to ensure that they are fully informed on current govemance
issues.

Independent professional advice

For the purposes of the proper performance of their duties, Directors are
eniitled to seek independent professional advice at CCA's expense. Before

doing so, a Director must notify the Chairman {or the MD in the Chairman’s
absence) and must make a copy of the advice available to all Directors.
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Ethical standards

Code of Conduct

The Board recognises the need to observe the highest standards of
corporate practice and business conduct. To this end, CCA has established
a formal Code of Cenduct, which requires management and employees to
adopt high ethical standards in all of CCA's activities.

The Audit & Risk Committee is responsible for ensuring effective
compliance policies exist to ensure compliance with the requirements
estatlished in the Code of Conduct.

The Code contains procedures for identifying and reporting any departures
from the required standards. CCA has also established a system for
distribution of the Code at appropriate intervals to employees and for them
to acknowledge its receipt.

The Code sets standards of behaviaur expected from everyone who
performs work for CCA - Directors, employees and individual contractors. 1t
is also expected that CCA's suppliers will enforce a similar set of standards
with their employess.

Share ownership and dealings

Under the terms of the Non-Executive Directors’ Share Plan, a minimum of
25% (and up to 100%) of CCA Directors’ base fees are salary sacrificed by
each Director. An amount equivalent to the fees sacrificed is contributed to
the Non-Executive Directors” Share Plan for the benefit of that Director.
Details of all holdings by Directors in the Company are set out in the
Directors' Report on page 15.

Directors are subject to the Corporatians Act 2001 which rastricts their
buying, selling or subscribing for securities in CCA if they are in possession
of inside information. The Board has also adopted a formal poficy for share
dealings by Directors and senior management. Except for shares purchased
an the first business day of each month under the Non-Executive Directars’
Share Plan, the policy aliows for the buying and selling of CCA shares only
during the four week periods following the release of the full year and half
year results and the Annual General Meeting, unless exceptional
circumstances apply. The policy prohibits speculative transactians involving
CCA shares and reinfarces the prohibition on insider trading contained in
the Carporations Act 2001.

Financial reporting -

The MD and Chief Financial Officer have provided a written certificate to
the Board that the Statutory Accounts comply with Accounting Standards
and other mandatory reporting requirements in all materia! respects, that
they give a true and fair view in all material respects of the financial
position and performance of the Company, and that management’s risk
management and internal controls over the financizl report are operating
effectively and efficiently in all material respects.




Risk management

The Board is responsible for ensuring that there are adequate systems and
procedures in place to identify, assess and manage risks. CCA's Audit &
Risk Committee reviews reports by members of the management team (and
independent advisers, where appropriate) during the year and, where
appropriate, makes recommendations to the Board in respect cf:

» overall business risk in CCA's countries of operation;
+ treasury risk (including currency and borrowing risks};
* procurement;

* insurance;

* taxation;

» |itigation; and

« other matters as it deems appropriate.

The Committee alse reviews and, where appropriate, makes
recommendations to the Board in respect of policies relating to the above
matters. This includes ensuring that CCA has systems that identify, assess,
monitor and marage risk. The internal and external audit functions also
review CCA's risk assessment and management. The internal and external
audit functions are separate and independent of each other.

In addition to the risk management duties of the Audit & Risk Committee,
the Board has retained responsibility far approving the strategic direction
of CCA and ensuring the maintenance of the highast standards of guality.
This extends beyond product quality to encompass all ways i which CCAs
reputation and its products are measured. The Board manitors this
responsibility through the receipt of regular risk assessment reports and
management presentations.

Audit & Risk Committee

The Audit & Risk Committee comprises four Non-Executive Directors (the
MD and Chief Financial Officers (CFO) attend meetings by invitation}. The
Committee is chaired by an independent Non-Executive Director who is
not the Chairman of the Board.

The key responsibilities of the Committee are: Audit — the review of the
auditor's performance, the professional independence of the auditor, audit
nolicies, procedures and reports, as a direct link between the Board and the
auditor. Financial Statements — the review of CCAS financial statements,
the effectiveness and compliance with accounting policies and standards
and adequacy of disclosures. Risk Management — the review of policies
and reports on all major categories of risk inciuding, but not limited to,
overall business risk in CCA's operations, treasury risk (inclucing currency
and borrowing risks), procurement, insurance, taxation and litigation.

The Committee ensures that there are effective policies covering such
matters as treasury policy, procurement policy, code of conduct and
whistle blawing.

Continuous disclosure

The following principles, consistent with the continucus disclosure
obligations under ASX Listing Rules, govern CCA's communication:

o CCAwill, in accordance with the ASX Listing Rules, immediately issue
to ASX any information that a reasonable person would expect 10 have
a material effect an the price or value of CCA's securities;

¢ CCAs Disclosure Committee manages the day-to-day continuous
disclosure issues and operates flexibly and informally. It is responsible
for compliance, coordinating disclosure and educating employees about
CCA's communication policy; and

« all material information issued to ASX, the Annual Reports, full year
and half year results and presentation material given to analysts is
published on CCA's website [www.ccamatif.com.au). Any person
wishing to receive advice by email of CCA's ASX announcements can
register at www.ccamatil.com.au.

The Company Secretary is the primary person respensible for
communication with ASX. In the absence of the Company Secretary, the
Investor Relations Manager is the contact.

Only authorised spokespersons can communicate on behalf of the Campany
with shareholders, the media or the investment community.

Communication with shareholders

The rights of CCA's shareholders are detailed in CCA's Censtitution. Those
rights include electing the members of the Board. In addition, shareholders
have the right to vote on important matters which have an impact on CCA.

To allow shareholders to effectively exercise these rights, the Board is
committed to improving the communication to shareholders of high quality,
relevant and useful information in a timety manner. CCA has adopted the
following communication framework:

* an ongoing communication program — regular, comprehensive and
publicly available disclosures to be undertaken covering important
topics including performance and governance issues;

» contact information — contact details for the Investar Relations
department and Company Secretary are provided to facilitate and
Bncourage communication;

s communication responsibilities — identification of the items that are
appropriate for Board comment and those for management comment;

* communication policy — a publicly disclosed policy that covers all forms
of communication, including meetings, telephone cal's, email and other
written communications; and

» policy review — regular Board review to ensure adherence to the
communication pelicy.

CCAs communication policy (a copy is available on the Company website at
www.ccamatil.com.au/disclosurepolicy.asp) requires that shareholders be
informed about strategic objectives and major developments. CCA is
committed to keeping sharehalders informed and improving accessibility to
shareholders through:

« Australian Securities Exchange (ASX} announcements;

+ company publications {including the Annual Report and
Sharsholder News;

+ the Annual Gereral Meeting {and its web casting);

» the Company website [www.ccamatil.com.au);

* the investor contact number {61 2 9259 6159); and

* 3 suggestion box on the website.
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Communication with shareholders continued

CCA's shareholders are encouraged to make their views knawn to the
Company and to directly raise matters of concern. From time to time, CCA
Tequests meetings with its shareholders and shareholder interest groups to
share views on matters of interest. The views of those parties are shared
with the Board on a regular basis, both fiy the Chairman and management.

Annual General Meeting

Shareholders are encouraged to attend CCA's Annual General Meeting and
use this apportunity to ask questions. The Annual General Meeting will
remain the main oppertunity each year for the majority of ordinary
shareholders te comment and to question CCA's Board and management.

CCA is committed to improving the efficiency of its Annual General
Meetings and encourages participation of shareholders through:

* the prior collection of shareholder questions for answering during the
meeting. Questions can be submitted either by completing the relevant
form accompanying the notice of meeting or by emailing CCA at
aus_investar_relations@anz.ccamatil.com. Questions that have been
lodged, and their answers, are posted on the Company website at the
FAQ section;

* providing a process to ensure that shareholders are considerate of each
other’s right to participate;

* providing an opportunity after each Annual General Meeting to discuss
matters with the Board and management; and

* web-casting the proceeding for shareholders unable to attend in person.

Copies of the speeches delivered at the meeting are posted to the
website after delivery.

Further, the external auditor attends the Annual General Meeting and is
available to answer shareholder guestions about the conduct of the audit
and the preparation and content of the auditor's report.

Directors — performance review

A review of Directors’ performance is undertaken at least every two years
and if a majority of Directars consider a Director’s performance falls below
the predetermined criteria required, then the Director has agreed to retire
at the next Annual General Meeting and & resolution will be put to
shareholders to vote on the re-election of that Director. The last
perfarmance review was undertaken in 2007.

Remuneration

On an annual basis, the Compensation Committee obtains data from
external remuneration sources to ensure the Company's remuneration
practices are in line with market conditions. Full details of the Committee's
responsibilities and the Remuneration Policy are set out in the
Remuneration Report on page 18 of this Annual Report,

Interests of stakeholders

CCA acknowledges the importance of its relationships with its
shareholders and other stakeholders including employees, contractors

and the wider community. CCA believes that being a good corporate citizen
is an essential part of business and pursues this goal in all the markets in
which it operates. In 2007, CCA published its first Sustainability Report
which focuses on four pillars of commitment — Environment, Marketplace,
Workplace and Community. This Repart can be viewed on

the CCA website at www.ccamatil.com.au.

The Compliance & Social Responsibility Committee was established
in 2006. The structure and responsibilities of the Committee are set
cut below.

Campliance & Social Responsibility Committae

The Compliance & Sacial Responsibility Committee comprises five Non-

Executive Directors. The Committee regularly reviews and reports to the

Beard on compliance with laws including occupational health and safety,
environmental protection, product safety and trade practices.

The Committee also reviews policies reflecting on the Company's
reputation, including quality standards, dealing in the Company’s securities
and disclosure. In respect of social responsibility, it reviews reports and
makes recommendations to the Board, where appropriate, in respect of
political donations, community sponsorship and support and all issues
pertaining to sustainability that may be relevant to the Company.

Compensation Committes

The Campensation Committee comprises four Non-Executive Directors
(the MD attends by invitation). A majority of members must be
independeant Non-Executive Directers.

The Committee reviews matters relating to the remuneration of the
Executive Director and senior management, as well as senior management
succession planning,
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Other hoard committees

Te assist in its deliberations, the Board has established a further two
committees which attend to routine matters:

The Administration Committee and the Securities Committee meet
as required.

Composition: Any two Directors or a Director and the CFD.

The Administration Committee attends to routing matters, particularly the
execution of documents in the normal course of business.

The Securities Committee attends to routine matters relating to the
allotment of securities.




Best practice recommendations

The fallowing table summarises CCA's compliance with the ASX Corporate Governance Council's Pringiptes of Good Corporate Governance and Best

Practice Recommendations.

2007 Annual
Compliance Report reference

1.1 Formalise and disclose the functions reserved to the Board and those delegated to management. v page 9
2.1 A majority of the Board should be Independent Directors. v page 9
2.2 The Chairperson should be an independent Director. v page 9
2.3 The roles of Chairperson and Chief Executive Officer should not be exercised by the same individual. v page 9
2.4 The Board should establish a Nomination Committee. v page 10
25 Provide the information indicated in Guide to reporting on Principle 2. v
3.1 Establish a code of conduct to guide Directars, the Chief Executive Dfficer (or equivalent),

the Chief Financial Officer (or equivalent} and any other key executives as 1o

* the practices necessary to maintain confidence in the Company’s integrity; and

* the responsibility and accountability of individuals for reporting and investigating reports of

unethical practices. page 10

3.2 Disclose the policy concerning trading in Company securities by Directors, officers and employees. page 10
3.3 Provide the information indicated in Guide to reporting on Principle 3.
4.1 Require the Chief Executive Officer (or equivalent) and the Chief Financial Officer {or equivalent)

to state in writing to the Board that the Company’s financial reports present a true and fair view,

in all material respects, of the Company's financial condition and operational results and are in

accordance with relevant accounting standards. page 10
4.2 The Board should establish an Audit Committee. v page 11
4.3 Structure the Audit Committee so that it consists of:

» anly Non-Executive Directors;

* 3 majority of Independent Directors;

» an independent Chairperson, wha is not Chairperson of the Board; and

* at least three members. v page 11
4.4 The Audit Committee should have a formal charter. v page 11
45 Provide the information indicated in Guide to reporting on Principle 4. v
5.1 Establish written policies and procedures designed to ensure compliance with ASX Listing Rule

disclosure requirements and to ensure accountability at a senior management level for that

compliance. v page 11

5.2 Provide the infarmation indicated in Guide to reporting on Principle 5.
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Best practice recommendations continued

Compliance

2007 Annual
Report reference

6.1 Design and disclose a communication strategy to promote effective communication with
shareholders and encourage effective participation at general meetings.

v

page 11

6.2 Request the external auditor to attend the Annual General Meeting and be available to answer
shareholder questions about the conduct of the audit and the preparation and conient of the
auditor’s report.

page 12

7.1 The Board or appropriate committee should establish policies on risk oversight and management.

page 11

7.2 The Chief Executive Officer {or equivalent) and the Chief Financial Qfficer (or equivalent) should
state to the Board in writing that:

» the statement given in accordance with best practice recommendation 4.1 {the integrity of
financial statements} is founded on a sound system of risk management and internal compliance
and control which implements the policies adopted by the Board; and

« the Company’s risk management and intemal compliance and contro! system is operating
efficiently and effectively in all material respects.

1.3 Provide the information indicated in Guide to reporting on Principle 7.

8.1 Disclose the pracess for performance evaluation of the Board, its committees and individual
Directors, and key executives.

page 12

9.1 Provide disclosure in relation to the Company’s remuneration policies to enable investors to
understand {i) the costs and benefits of those policies and {ii) the link between remuneration paid
to directors and key executives and corporate performance.

/2

page 12

9.2 The Board should establish a Remuneration Committee.

page 12

9.3 Clearly distinguish the structure of Non-Executive Directors’ remuneration frem that of executives.

9.4 Ensure that payment of equity based executive remuneration is made in accordance with
thresholds set in plans approved by shareholders.

/3

9.5 Provide the information indicated in Guide to reporting on Principle 9.

10.1Establish and disclose a code of conduct to guide compliance with Jegal and other obligations
to legitimate stakeholders.

page 10

The above disclosure should be read in conjunction with the following:

1 CCA has reported its compliance with this recammendation in accordance with the guidelines detailed in the ‘Guide to Compliance with
ASX Principle 7: Recognise and Manage Risk’ prepared by the Group of 100 and endorsed by the ASX Corporate Governance Council;

2 Disclosure of remuneration policy and procedures is set out in page 18 of the Annual Report; and
Equity based remuneration paid to the MD is approved annually by shareholders.
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Coca-Cola Amatil Limited
For the financial year ended 31 December 2007

The Directors submit hereunder their Report on Coca-Cola Amatil Limited (Company, CCA or CCA Entity) and its subsidiaries {Group ar CCA Group) for the
financial year ended 31 December 2007.

Names and particulars of Directors

The names of the Directors of Coca-Cola Amatil Limited in office during the financial year and until the date of this Report and the beneficial interest of
each Director in the share capital of the Company are detailed below -

Non-Executive Executive
Long Term Non-Executive Directors’ Salary
Ordinary Incentive Directors’ Retirement Sacrifice
shares Share Plan’ Share Plan' Share Trust' Share Plan'
No. No. No. No. No.

Directors in office at the date of this Report
David Michael Gonski, AC 50,471 - 176,985 89,808 -
Jillian Rosemary Broadbent, AQ 3,546 - 19,482 32,899 -
Terry James Davis 266,932 298,225 - - 167,964
Irial Finan - - - 10,108 - -
Geoffrey James Kelly 1.420 - 14,158 - -
Wallace Macarthur King, AQ 1,200 - 32,790 6,824 -
David Edward Meiklgjohn 5715 - 11,941 - -
Melvyn Keith Ward, AD 2,902 - 19,458 32,446 -

} Beneficial interest held subject to conditions of the Plan.

Particulars of the qualifications, other directorships, experience and special responsibilities of each Director are set out on page 7 of the Annual Report.

Dividends
Rate per  Fully franked
share per share Amount Date paid or
[ £ m payable

Final dividend declared on ordinary shares -
{not recognised as a tiability) : 200 200 146.8 7 April 2008
Dividends paid in the year —
Final dividend on ordinary shares for 2006 18.0 18.0 135.2 2 April 2007
Interim dividend on ordinary shares for 2007 155 5.5 116.9  Z October 2007

Corporate information

Coca-Cola Amatil Limited is a company limited by shares that is incorporated and domiciled in Australia. The Company does not have a parent entity. The
address of the registered office of the Company is set out on page 116 of the Annual Report.

Employees
The Group had 15,666 employees as at 31 December 2007 {2008: 18,060).
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For the financial year ended 31 December 2007

Operating and financial review
Principal activities and operations

The principal activities of the Group during the financial year ended
31 December 2007 were —

« the manufacture, distribution and marketing of carbonated saft drinks,
still and mineral waters, fruit juices, coffee and other alcohol-free
beverages;

s the processing and marketing of fruit, vegetables and other food
products; and

« the manufacturing and distribution of premium beer brands and the
premium spirit portfolio of global distributor Maxxium for Pacific
Beverages Piy Ltd, a joint venture entity between CCA and SABMiller
ple.

The Group's principal operations were in Australia, New Zealand, Fiji,
Indonesia and Papua New Guinea {PNG). The Group’s operation in South
Korea was discontinued on 24 Qctober 2007.

Financial results

The Group’s net profit attributable to members of the Company was
$310.7 miltion, compared to $282.4 million in 2006. The net profit
attributable ta members includes 2 loss after tax of $56.9 million from the
discontinued South Karean operation.

The Graup's net profit from continving operations was $367.6 miltion,
compared to $313.6 million in 2006, representing a 17.2% increase from
last year.

The Group's trading revenue from cantinuing operations for the financial
year was $3,331.8 million, compared with $3.641.6 million for 2006.
Earnings before interest and tax {EBIT} from continwing operations
increased by 15.3% to $648.4 million, compared to $562.5 miltion in 2006.

The Group's net finance costs from continuing operations for the financial
year were $132.4 million, compared to $134.5 million in 2006.

Operating cash flow increased by 11.8% to $523.9 million compared with
$468.4 million in 2006.
Review of operations

The EBIT contribution from each cperating segment of the cantinuing
operations was as follows —

s Aystralian Beverage business EBIT increased by 12.3% 1o
$446.0 million, compared with $397.3 millicn in 20086;

* New Zealand & Fiji Beverage business EBIT increased by 19.5% to
$77.8 million. compared with $65.1 million in 2006;

» Indonesia & PNG Beverage business EBIT increased by 103.1% to
$36.8 million, compared to $17.6 million in 2006; and

* Food & Services EBIT increased by 5.1% to $87.0 million, compared
with $82.8 million in 2006.

Further details of the operations of the Group during the financial year are
set out on pages 1 to 5 of the Annual Report.
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Significant changes in the state of affairs

On 20 August 2007, CCA announced that it had signed a formal sale and
purchase agreement with LG Household & Health Care Ltd (LGH&H) for the
sale of CCAs South Korean business. The disposal of the South Korean
business was completed an 24 October 2007, on which date contro! of the
business passed to LGH&H.

During the year, CCA acquired a coffee business and related assets for a
total consideration of $10.7 million. CCA also increased its investment in
Pacific Beverages Pty Ltd, the joint venture entity CCA formed with
SABMiller ple in August 2006, to principally fund the acquisition of
Blugtongue Brewery Py Ltd.

In the opinion of the Directors, there have been no other significant
changes in the Group’s state of affairs or principal activities during the
twelve months to 31 December 2007,

Future developments

Information on the future developments of the Group and its business
strategies are included in the front section of this Annual Report.

While the Company continues to meet its obligations in respect of
continuous disclosure, further information of likely developments, business
strategies and prospects has not been included here because, in the
opinion of the Directors, such disclosure would unreasonably prejudice the
interests of the Group.

Environmental regulation and performance

Management of environmentat issues is a core companent of operational
management within the Group’s businesses. The Graup is committed to
understanding and minimising any adverse environmental impacts of its
beverage and food manufacturing activities, recognising that the key areas
of environmental impact are water use, energy use and post sale to
consumer waste.

Group policy is to ensure all environmental laws and permit conditions are
observed. The Group monitors its environmental issues at an operational
level, overlaid with a compliance system overseen by the Compliance &
Social Responsibility Committee. Although the Group’s various operations
involve relatively low inherent environmental risks, matters of non-
comptiance are identified from time to time and are corrected as part of
routine management, and typically notified to the appropriate regulatory
authority.




Directors’ meetings

The number of Directors’ meetings {including meetings of Committees of Directors) and the number of meetings attended by each of the Directors of the
Company during the financial year are detailed below ~

Compliance
& Social
Board of Audit & Risk  Responsibility Compensation  Related Party  Nominations Other
Directors Committee’ Committee® Committee’ Committee® Committee* Committees’
Meetings No.of  Mestings No.of  Meetings No. of Megting No.of  Mestings No.of  Meetings No of No. of
held while meetings  held while meetings  beld while meetings  held while meetings  held whils meetings  held while meetings meetings
aDirector artended amember atiended amember attended amember attended amember attended amember attended attended
Directors in office at the end of
the financial year
D.M. Gonski, AC ] B 1 1 5 8 1 1 2
J.R. Broadbent, AQ 6 8 - - 5 8 1 1 -
TJ. Davis ] 6 - - - - - - - - - - 12
|. Finan' 6 4 4 1 4 ? - - - - - - -
G.J. Kelly' 6 5 - - - - 5 3 - - - - -
W.M. King, AD B 5 - - 4 3 - - 8 b 1 1 -
D.E. Meiklejohn 6 5 4 4 3 - - 8 7 1 1 -
M.K. Ward, AD 3] 4 4 - - b 5 B 7 1 1 -

1 Non-residents of Australia.

2 The Audit & Ris' Commiitee reviews malters relevant 1o control systems so as to effectively safeguard the Company's assels, accounting records held to comply with statutory requirements and
other financial information. it consists of four Non-Executive Directors. Refer to the Carporate Governance section an page 9 of the Annual Report for further details on this and other Committees.

3 This Commitiee reviews systems of control sa as to effectively safeguard against contraventions of the Company’s statutory responsibilities and to ensure there are policies and pracedures in
place to protect the Company's reputation as a respansible corporate citizen. It consists of five Non-Executive Directors.

4 This Committee reviews matters relevant to the remuneration of executive Directors end senior Company executives. It consists of four Non-Executive Directors.

5  This Commitiee reviews agreements and business transactions with refated panies. |t consists of five Non-Executive Directors who are not associated with a related party.

§  This Committee reviews the composition of the Board, including identifying suitable candidates for appointment to the Board and reviews general matters of corperate gavernance. It consists of
five independent Non-Executive Directors,

7 Committees were created to attend to allstments of securities and administrative matters ar behal? of the Board. A quarum for these Committees is any two Directors, or any one Director and the
Chief Financial Officer.

Committee membership

As at the date of this Report, the Company had an Audit & Risk Committee, a Compliance & Social Responsibility Committee, a Compensation Committee,
a Related Party Committee and a Nominations Committee of the Board of Directors.

Members acting on the Committees of the Board during the year were —

Compliance & Social

Audit & Risk Responsibility Compensation Related Party Nominations

D.E. Meiklejohn' J.R. Broadbent, AD' M.K. Ward, AQ" D.M. Gonski, AC D.M. Gonski, AC'

D.M. Gonski, AC? D.M. Gonski, AC D.M. Gonski, AC J.R. Broadbent, AQ J.R. Broadbent, AQ

I, Finan |. Finan J.R. Broadbent, AQ WM. King, ACG WM. King, AD

MK. Ward, AD W.M. King, AQ G.J. Kelly D.E. Meiklejohn D.E. Meiklejohn
D.E. Meiklejohn M.K. Ward, AD M.X. Ward, AD

1 Chairman cf the relevant Committes.
2 Appointed to the Commitiee on 8 Avgust 2007.

Directors’ and officers’ liability insurance

The Company has paid the premium for directors’ and officers’ liability insurance in respect of Directors and executive officers of the Company and its
subsidiaries as permitted by the Corporations Act 2001. The terms of the palicy prohibit disclosure of details of the insurance cover and premium.
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Remuneration report

This remuneration report cutlines the Director and executive remuneration
arrangements of the Company and the Group in accordance with the
requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 and its Regulations. It also
pravides the remuneration disclosures required by paragraphs Aus 25.4 to
Aus 25.7.2 of AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures, which have been
transferred to the remuneration report in accordance with Corparations
Amendment Regulations 2006 (No. 4). For the purposes of this report, key
management personne! of the Group are defined as those persons having
authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the major
activities cf the Company and the Group, directly or indirectly, including any
Director (whether executive or otherwise) of the Company, and includes the
five executives in the Campany and the Group receiving the highest
remuneration. The information contained in this report has been audited.

For the purposes of this report, the term executive encompasses the senior
executives, general managers and secretaries of the Company and
the Group.

Compensation Committee
a} Function

The Compensaticn Committee (the Committee) is @ Cammittee of the Board
of Directors. Its functions are to review —

* issues relating to the remuneration of CCA's Group Managing Director,
senior executives and Non-Executive Directors;

* senior executives succession planning; and

* general matters of remuneration and succession planning.

b} Membership
The Committee will comprise four Non-Executive Directors. The CCA Board
appoints the Chairman of the Committee.

c) Meetings

The Committee will meet at a minimum of three times per year. The normal
meeting schedule will be four meetings per year, being in February, June,
August and December. The Committee can also meet on such other
accasions as deemed necessary by the Chairman. A quorum for meetings
will be two members. CCA's Group Managing Director, Human Resources
Director and Remuneration Manager will be in attendance for the
meetings. The Chairman of the Commitiee will report the findings and
recommendations of the Committee t¢ the Board at its next megting.

d} Responsibilittes

Remuneration
On an annual basis, the Committee will —

* obtain data from external remuneration sources to ensure the
Company's remuneration practices are in line with market conditions;

* review the Group Managing Director’s remuneration package, incentive
payments and termination arrangements and where appropriate make
recommendations to the Board;

* review and approve all material remuneration components of senior
executive remuneration packages and incentive payments {at CCA job
grade C and above);

* review country retirement plans;

* review and approve senior executive variable incentive plan rules and
participation for the forthcoming year (both annual cash plans and the
Long Term Incentive Share Plan); and

* review and where appropriate make recommendations to the Board for
changes to Non-Executive Director remuneration,
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The Committee atso reviews any appointments, terminations and changes
to remuneration during the year for those senior executives reporting
directly to the Group Managing Director,

Succession planning
On at least an annual basis, the Committee will review the succession
plans for the Group Managing Director and senior executives.

e) Autherity
With respect to remuneration -

= for senior executives, the Committee has the authority to approve
remuneration, policies and procedures. Matters of significant
importance will be referred to the Board; and

* recommendations on the Group Managing Director and Non-Executive
Director remuneration will be referred to the Board.

With respect to succession planning —

+ for senior executives, the Committeg has the authority to apprave.
Matters of significant importance will be referred to the Board; and

+ recommendations on the Group Managing Director succession planning
will be referred to the Board.

Remuneration Policy

The Committee is responsible for reviewing the nature and amount of the
Group Managing Director’s and senior executives” remuneration. In
determining the camposition and amount of the Group Managing Director's
and senior executives’ remuneration, the Committee applies the Company's
Remuneration Policy in which the main principles and practices are as
follows —

* remuneration will be competitively set to attract, motivate and retain
top calibre executives;
s remuneration will incorporate, to a significant degree, variable pay for
performance elements, both short term and long term, which will —
— link executive reward with the strategic goals and performance
of the Group;
— aiign the interests of executives with those of shareholders;
— reward the Group Managing Director and senior executives for
Group, business unit {where applicable) and individual
performance against appropriate benchmarks and targets; and
— ensure total remuneration is competitive by market standards;
¢ remuneration will be reviewed annually by the Committee through a
pracess that considers Group, business unit and individual performance.
The Committee will also consider pertinent advice from external
consuliants on current international and local market practices and will
take account of market compariscns for similar rales together with the
level of responsibilities of the individual;
= remuneration systems will complement and reinforce the Company's
Code of Conduct and succession planning; and
* remuneration and terms and conditions of employment will be specified
in an individual letter of employment and signed by the Company and
the executive. The relationship of remuneration, potential annual
incentive and long term incentive payments is established for each level
of executive management by the Committee. For executives, the
patential incentive payments as a proportion of total potential
remuneration increase with seniority and responsibility in the
organisation.

Remuneration structure

The Company’s remuneration structure provides the flexibility to design
individual remuneration packages for the Greup Managing Director and
executives based on their importance to the success of the business and
their potential to impact business performance.




Remuneration report continued
Remuneration structure continued

The remuneration of the Group Managing Directar and executives
comprises fixed remuneration and at risk remuneration, as follows -

» fixed remuneration — including base salary, benefits such as
superannuation; and

® at risk remuneration —
- short term incentive; and
— long term incentive.

The remuneration of Non-Executive Directors compnises base fees, Board
Committee fees and superannuaticn guarantee where prescribed by law.

The Group Managing Director and senior executives' total remuneration is
targeted at the 75th percentile of comparable positions in comparable
companigs. However, this remuneration will only be achieved if the
individual and Company performance targets are met.

The markets against which total remuneration is benchmarked will vary by
position and total remuneration will be benchmarked to that of companies
that are comparable to CCA. The remuneration of the Group Managing
Director will continue to be benchmarked against that of other Australian
and where applicable international companies comparable to CCA.

The Company’s approach in recent years is to move to have a greater
component of at risk remuneration for executives and for senior exetutives
to have higher levels of shareholding in CCA. At risk remuneration as a
percentage of total remuneration may vary depending on the importance of
the individual to the success of the business and their potential to impact
on husiness performance.

a) Fixed remuneration

Fixed remuneration comprises base salary and benefits (including
superannuation) and includes any applicable fringe benefits tax reflecting
CCA’ total cost to the Company approach. The base remuneration is
determined on an individual basis, considering the size and scope of the
role, the importance of the role to the Company and the competitiveness of
the role in the market place.

Fixed remuneration also includes deferred remuneration payable under the
terms of a service agreement, which is either a cnce only payment in cash
or a once only award of CCA shares made at the completion of a specified
employment period.

Fixed remuneration does not vary over the course of a year due to
perfarmance. Remuneration packages (including fixed components of base
salaries and benefits and variable compenents) are reviewed annually, and
there are no guaranteed increases to any remuneratian companent.

The Committee considers pertinent advice from external remuneration
consultants on fixed remuneration [including base salary} taking account of
international and local market practices and market comparisons for similar
roles. together with the level of respansibility, performance and potential of
the executive.

b} At risk remuneration

At risk remuneration comprises both short term {annual) and lang term
incentives. The annual incentive and long term incentive are an integral
part of CCA's approach to competitive performance based remuneration.
These at risk components of the Group Managing Director and senior
exeCutives' remuneration are intended 10 ensure an appropriate proportion
of the remuneration is linked to growth in shareholder value and the
achievement of key operational targets, The Group Managing Director and
senior execuiives’ remuneration is linked to parformance through short and
long term incentives as follows —

Short Term Incentive Plan (STIP)

The STIP provides the opportunity for executives to eam an annual cash
incentive that is subject to the achievement of targets that are set at the
beginning of the financial year. The Board annually invites the Group
Managing Director and senior executives to participate in the STIP. Both an
target and maximum STIP amounts are set by reference io the external
market of CCA's appropriate peers. The incentives are valued in the
executive’s remuneration package at an on-target value, which assumes
100% achievement of the targets. Company performance targets are
reviewed and approved by the Committee at the beginning of the year and
are clearly defined and measurable.

The STIP aims to provide a focus on key abjectives for each year, to
emphasise team performance and to identify and reward individual
contribution. Payments from the STIP are determined based on the
perfarmance of the Group or business unit and individual performance over
the past year.

Group performance is based on achievement of volume and net operating
profit after tax {NOPAT} targets against budget. Business unit performance
is hased on achievement of earnings before interest and tax targets against
budget and where relevant for the business unit, achievement of volume
targets against budget. These performance measures have been selected
as they directly align the executives’ reward to the key performance drivers
of the Company. Individual performance is based on the achievement of
pre-determined key performance indicators.

The Committee reviews annually the ongoing appropriateness of the STIP.
the Plan rules and the degree of difficulty in meeting the targets. At the
completion of the financial year, the Committee relies on audited financial
resuits for calculating payments in accordance with the Plan rules. The
Committee reviews the actual performance against the targets, considers
individual performance and taking into account all material factors
affecting the business, approves all incentive payments for the past
financial year prior to payment being made in March of the following
financial year. The incentive is paid in cash for all countries with the
exception of Austrafia, where 10% of the incentive earned up to target and
100% of any incentive earned over target (up to a maximum of 120%] is
required to be sacrificed into CCA ordinary shares. An executive can also
elect to have up to a further 15% of the earned incentive sacrificed into
sharas. Shares must remain in trust for twelve manths, after which a
participant may withdraw the shares.

Long Term Incentive Share Plan (LTISP)

The Board annually invites the Group Managing Direcior and seniar
executives to participate in the performance based LTISP. The LTISP was
established in 2002, replacing hoth a long term cash incentive plan and
subsequently the Executive Option Plan, which had no performance
hurdles.

The LTISP creates a direct link between the financial performance of the
Campany, the value created for shareholders and the reward earned by key
executives. In addition, the LTISP assists in retention of the senior
executives and provides a mechanism for executives to increase their
holding of shares, ensuring better alignment with shareholders. Both
threshold and maximum LTISP amounts are set by reference to the external
market of CCA's appropriate peer group of companies.

CCA Annual Report 2007 19



For the financial year ended 31 December 2007

Remuneration report continued
Remuneration structure continued

Long Term Incentive Share Plan (LTISP) continued
The LTISP offers the executive a night to an ordinary share in the Company,
subject to the achievement of the applicable performance conditians —

+ in respect of the 2004-20086, 2005-2007, 2006-2008 performance
periods, half of the award is subject to a Total Shareholder Return {TSR)
measure and half of the award is subject to the measurement of
achievement of average annual grawth in NOPAT aver the period. The
NOPAT hurdle was selected as it is a stretching and “line of sight”
hurdle for the Plan participants, with achievement of the hurdle directly
correlating to improved shareholder value. In determining whether the
NOPAT hurdle has been achieved, appropriate adjustments will be made
for movements in the issued capita! of the Company resulting from the
isste of new shares for acquisitions made by the Company or capital
reconstructions such as buy-backs ete. Shares issued with respect to
the acguisition of SPC Ardmona Ltd will give rise to a commensurate
adjustment in the calculation of the applicable NOPAT hurdle under the
2005-2007 and 2006-2008 plans; and

 inrespect of the 2007-2009 performance period, half of the award is
subject to a TSR measure and half of the award is subject to the
measurement of achievement of average annual growth in earnings per
share (EPS) over the period. EPS has been selected to replace the
NQOPAT hurdle as it is considered to be a more appropriate key indicator
of the financial success of the business, and achievement of the EPS
target will have a positive impact on TSR.

At the completion of the relevant plan period, an external consultant
undertakes the TSR calculations in accerdance with a pre-determined TSR
methodology and the Plan rules. For those plans subject to a NOPAT/EPS
performance measure, the Committee relies on audited financial results
and the award of shares is calculated in accordance with the Plan rules.
The Committee reviews the calculations and approves all awards prior to
the shares being awarded.

For each performance hurdle an appropriate vesting scale rewards a
greater number of shares for over-achievement of the minimum threshold.
Detaiis of each plans vasting scales are provided on pages 23 to 27.
On-target total remuneration for an executive is premised on achieving
the threshold performance {i.e. 51st percentile for TSR).

Far the 2007-2008 LTISP, following feedback from shareholders prior ta the
2006 Annual General Megting, the vesting scale for the Group Managing
Director was altered so that in effect he received 67.5% of his ariginally
proposed threshold award. On review, the Board believed that reducing the
on-target or threshold award for the other executives invited into this plan
would reduce their on-target total remuneration o an extent where their
remuneration becomes less compeiitive and increases the risk of retaining key
executives at a time when labour markets are very competitive. As a result,
the original vesting scales remained unchanged for this group, and two
vesting scales now cperate for this particutar plan {one vesting scale for
the Group Managing Director and the second for all other executives in
the plan).

Further detail on the performance conditions, peer groups, maximum
awards and retesting is provided in the accompanying summary of the
terms and conditions of the LTISP on pages 23 to 27. If the executive
ceases to be employed before the end of the performance period by reason
of death, disablement, retirement or redundancy, or for such other reason
determined by the Board, the following proportion of shares offered to the
executive in respect of that performance period will be allecaied subject to
the Board's discretion —
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» if more than one-third of the perfarmance period has elapsed, the
number of shares to be allocated will be pro rated over the performance
period and the performance condition will apply at the date of cessation
of employment; and

* where less than one-third of the performance period has elapsed, none
of the shares will be allocated.

In the event of a change of control of the Company prior to the end of a
performance period, the threshold number of shares offered to the
executive in respect of the performance period will be allocated to the
executive irrespective of whether the performance condition has been
satisfied.

Once snares have baen allocatad following the achievement of the
performance conditions, there remains a restriction on executives disposing
of a minimum portion of 25% of the shares allocated to them under the
LTISP for two years after allocation in accordance with a prescribed scale.
The restrictions on disposal will cease if an executive ceases employment
and may be waived by the Board in special circumstances such as change
of control or other events affecting the issued capital of the Company.

Any awards under the LTISP are made in accordance with the rules of the
LTISP. The shares are offered to the executives at no cost. At the end of the
performance period and subject to the satisfacticn of the performance
condition{s), any shares altocated will be acquired by the Plan trustee and
under the Plan rules can either be acquired by purchase of shares on the
Australian Securities Exchange {ASX) at the prevaiting market price or by
subscription for new shares at no cost to the executive. To date, all awards
of shares earned by executives have been purchased an market.

Executive Retention Share Plan (ERSP}

The Board approved a new Executive Retention Share Plan in early 2007,
and invited key senior executives to participate. The Group Managing
Directar is not eligible to participate without shareholder approval and was
not invited to participate in the 2007-2009 ERSP.

Retention of key executives is viewed as critical to the success of CCA over
the next three years especially given that in most of the markets that CCA
operates in there is a shortage of senior executive talent. The ERSP
complements the LTISP and offers an award of shares at the end of a three
year period with no performance hurdles attached, providing the executive
is still employed by the Company. The 2007-2009 ERSP is a canversion of a
partion of the annual LTISP award into the ERSP award. Three years worth
of one-third of the annual on-target LTISP award is realfocated as the tota)
equivalent number of shares in the ERSP, with the corresponding plans
being reduced accordingly. Whilst it is recognised that this award alone
will not guarantee retention and that senior executive retention varies
amongst individuals for many varied and complex reasons {including
amcngst cther things meaningful career paths, succession planning and
employee engagement) by offering some tangible reward in the form of
CCA shares this does provide a direct incentive for the participant to
remain employed with the Group through until vesting date. Once the
shares vest, there is no further holding restriction.

If an executive leaves the employment of CCA prior to the completion of
the three year period no shares are vested. If the executive ceases to be
employed before the end of the three year period by reasan of death,
disablement, retirement or redundancy, or for such other reason determined
by the Board, the number of shares to be allocated will be pro rated over
three year perigd.

In early 2007 a total of 69 executives were awarded a combined award of
437,587 shares in the 2007-2009 £RSP with a vesting in early 2010. As at
the beginning of 2008, only two of the group of B9 executives have left the
emptoyment of the CCA Group.




Remuneration report continued

Remuneration structure continued

Exscutive Retention Share Plan (ERSP) continued

The Board also approved an Indonesian Key Executive Retention Plan for 23 local Indonesian managers, given specific retention issues within this particular
group, with half the award conditional upan meeting pre-determined EBIT targets and half the award conditional upon being employed at the completion of
the Plan period. A total of 23 Indonesian managers were invited to participate for a combined award of 64,650 shares, vesting on 31 December 2008,

Speculative trading
Under CCA's Policy of Dealing in CCA Shares, Directors and executives are prohibited from dealing in short term or speculative trading in the Company’s
shares and transactions in the derivative markets.

The prehibition on shart term or speculative trading includes direct dealings in the Company’s shares and transactions in the derivative markets involving
exchange traded options, share warrants and similar instruments.

The entering into of all types of “protection arrangements” for any CCA shares [or CCA products in the derivative markets) that are held directly or
indirectly by Directors or senior management {including both in respect of vested and unvested shares in any Director or employee share plan) are
prohibited at any time, irrespective of whether such protection arrangements are entered into during trading windows or otherwise.

The movement of shares during the reporting period held directly, indirectly or beneficially, by the Group Managing Director is disclosed in Note 33 to the
financial statements.

CCA's financial performance
The following details CCA's financial performance over the last six years —

Year end 31 December 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007
Total dividends {cents per share) 185 230 28.0 315 325 355
Net operating profit after tax' (SM} 205.5 2388 7743 3205 3235 366.3°
Share price at 31 December? ($) 5.27 6.23 8.13 i 1376 948

1 Net profit before significant items.
2 Share price at 3i December 2001 was $5.98.
3 [ncludes operating resuft for South Korea of $1.3 millien loss.
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Remuneration report continued
Remuneration structure continued
CCA’s financial performance continued

CCA's share price against the ASX all Industrials Top 100 (ASX 100) for the last six years is as follows —
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CCA's TSR against the ASX All Industrials Top 100 [ASX 100) for the last six years is as follows ~
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Remuneration report continued
Remuneration structure continued
The foltowing summarises the terms and conditions of each current plan within LTISP —

a) 2004-2006 Long Term Incentive Share Plan

Offered to
Period

Performance condition

Retesting

Peer group

Performance

Group Managing Director ant executives.
1 January 2004 to 31 December 2006.

Two performance conditions exist, with half of the award subject ta a TSR measure and half of the award subject to the
achievement of average annual growth in NOPAT over the period.

Component A — applies to all participants.

None of the award will vest if CCA's TSR is below the 50th percentile of the peer group. Two-thirds of the maximum
award will vest if CCA's TSR is at the 50th percentile of the peer group {the threshold). Between the 50th percentile and
75th percentile, vesting increases on a straight line basis. The maximum award will vest if CCA's TSR is at ar abave the
75th percentile.

Companent B — applies to all participants.

None of the award will be allocated unless the Company’s average growth in NOPAT is 10% per annum over the
performance period. If the Company's average growth is 10% per annum over the performance period, two-thirds of the
maximum award will vest {the thresho!d). Between 10% and 15% per annum average growth, vesting increases on a
straight ling basis. The maximum award will vest if CCA's average growth is at or above 15% per annum.

Component C — applies only to the Group Managing Director (for details refer to the section on the Group Managing
Director’s employment contract),

For the TSR performance measure, one year at quarterly intervals. There is no retesting of the NOPAT perfermance
measure,

ASX 100 minus banks and financial services companies and mining and resources companies plus S&P's GICS Cansumer
Staples Companies with a market value greater than $300 million. The peer group is adjusted to remove any companies
that are not members of the peer group at the end of the performance period. A total of 58 companies commenced in the
peer group; these companies can be found in the peer graup company listing on pages 28 and 29.

Companents A and B — as at 31 December 2007, for the TSR performance measure CCA ranked at the 46th percentile,

with the TSR portion not vesting. For the NOPAT performance measure, as at 31 December 2006, CCA averaged 10.1%
growth par annum during the period, and the NOPAT partion of the Companent vested at £7.3% of the maximum award
for Component B.

Companent C — at the end of the twelve month performance period for the TSR performance measure, CCA ranked at the
35th percentile and for the NOPAT performance measure, CCA achieved 16.4% growth per annum during the period, with
the TSR portion of the Component noi vesting and the NOPAT portion of the Component vesting at 50% of the maximum
award.

No further awards will be made for any of the three Components, and the plan is now closed.
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Remuneration report continued
Remuneration structure continued
b} 2005-2007 Long Term Incentive Share Plan

Offered to
Period

Performance condition

Overall maximum award

Exceptional performance

Retesting

Peer group

Performance

Group Managing Director and executives.
1 January 2005 to 31 December 2007.

Twa performance conditions exist, with half of the award subject to a TSR measure and half of the award subject o the
achievement of average annual growth in NOPAT over the period.

Component A — applies to all participants.

None of the award will vest if CCA's TSR is below the 50th percentile of the peer group. 58.824% of the maximum TSR
award will vest if CCA's TSR is at the 50th percentite of the peer group (the threshald). Between the 50th percentile and
70th percentile, vesting increases on a straight line basis. 88.235% of the maximum TSR award will vest if CCA's TSR is
at the 70th percentile of the peer group. Between the 70th percentile and 75th percentile, vesting increases con a straight
line basis, The maximum TSH award will vest if CCA's TSR is at or above the 75th percentile.

Component B — applies to all participants.

Nane of the award will be allocated unless the Company's average growth in NOPAT is 8% per annum over the
performance period. 47.058% of the maximum NOPAT award will vest if the Company’s average growth is 8% per
annum. Between 8% and 9% annual average growth, vesting increases on a straight line basis. 58.824% of the
maximum NOPAT award will vest if the Company’s average growth is 9% per annum (the threshold). Between 9% and
10% annual average growth, vesting increases on a straight line basis. 70.588% of the maximum NOPAT award will vest
if the Company’s average growth is 10% per annum. Between 10% and 15% annual average growth, vesting increases
on a straight line basis. The maximum NOPAT award will vest if the Company’s average growth is at or above 15% per
annum. In determining whether the NOPAT hurdle has been achieved, appropriate adjustments will be made for
movements in the issued capital of the Company resutting from the issue of new shares for acquisitions mada by the
Company or capital reconstructions such as buy-backs etc. Shares issued with respect to the acquisition of SPC Ardmana
Ltd will give rise to a commensurate adjustment in the calculation of the applicable NOPAT hurdle under this plan.

Component C — applies only to the Group Managing Director {for details refer to the section on the Group Managing
Director’s employment contract).

The combined number of shares to be awarded under the TSR performance measure together with those awarded under
the NOPAT performance measure cannot exceed 88.235% of the combined maximum awards under each individual
parformance measure,

If the TSR ranking exceeds the 70th percentile {subject to the SPC Ardmona Ltd adjustment detailed above] or if the
average growth in NOPAT exceeds 15% per annum, a minimum of 58.824% of the maximum award of both the shares
allocated under the TSR performance measure and the NOPAT performance measure will be awarded.

For the TSR performance measure, two years at quarterly intervals. There is na retesting of the NOPAT performance
measure,

ASX 100 minus barks and financial services companies and mining and resources companies plus S&P's GICS Consumer
Staples Companies with a market value greater than $300 miflion. The peer group is adjusted to remove any companies
that are not members of the peer group at the end of the performance period, with 15 companies on the raserve list to
replace those, which are removed. A total of 61 companies commenced in the peer group; these companies can be found
in the peer group company listing on pages 28 and 29.

Reserve list — Adelaide Brighton Limited, Austereo Group Limited, Coates Hire Limited, Corporate Express Australia
Limited, David Jones Limited, FKP Property Group, Great Southern Plantations Limited, GWA International Limited,
Ramsay Health Care Limited, Smorgon Steel Group Limited, Southem Cross Broadeasting (Australia) Limited, Spotless
Group Limited, Transfield Services Limited, Veda Advantage Limited {formerly Baycorp Advantage Limited) and
WorleyParsons Limited.

Components A and B — as at 31 December 2007, for the TSR performance measure CCA ranked at the 55th percentile
and the TSR portion vests at 66.2% of the maximum award. For the NOPAT performance measure, and taking account of
the sale of South Korea and significant one-off events, CCA achieved 10.3% average growth per annum during the
period and the NOPAT portion vests at 72.4% of the maximum award.

Component C — at the end of the twelve month performance period, for the TSR performance measure CCA ranked at the
35th percentile and for the NOPAT performance measure CCA achigved 12.9% growth, with the TSR portion of the
Component not vesting and the NOPAT portion of the Component vesting at 49.7% of the maximum award.
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Remuneration report continued
Remuneration structure continued
c) 2006-2008 Long Term Incentive Share Plan

Offered to
Pertod

Performance condition

Exceptiona! performance

Retesting

Peer group

Performance

Group Managing Director and executives.
1 January 2006 to 31 December 2008.

Two performance conditians exist, with half of the award subject to a TSR measure and half of the award subject to the
achievement of average annual growth in NOPAT aver the period. The 2006-2008 LTISP has been reviewed to better
atign the Company’s performance with executive reward, with the introduction of two peer groups for the TSR
performance hurdle with each peer group having equal weighting in the TSR measure, and peer group 1 reflecting
comparable companies listed on the ASX and peer group 2 representing selected consumer staples and food, beverages
and tobacco companies.

Companent A — applies to all participants.

Nane of the award will vest if CCA's TSR is below the 50th percentile of the peer group. 72.5% of the maximum TSR
award will vest if CCA's TSR is at the 50th percentile of the peer group (the threshofd). If CCA's TSR is at the 55th
percentile of the peer group, 87.5% of the maximum TSR will vest {and between the 50th percentile and 55th percentile,
vesting increases on a straight line basis). If CCA's TSR is at the 60th percentile of the peer group, 92.5% of the
maximurm TSR will vest {and between the 55th percentile and 60th percentile, vesting increases on a straight line basis).
If CCA's TSR is at the 75th percentile of the peer group, 100% of the maximum TSR will vest {and between the 60th
percentile and 75th percentile, vesting increases an a straight line basis). The maximum TSR award will vest if CCA's
TSR is at or above the 75th percentile.

Component B — applies to all participants.

None of the award will be allocated unfess the Company's average growth in NOPAT is 8% per annum over the
performance period. 72.5% of the maximum NOPAT award will vest if the Company’s average growth is 8% per annum.
Between 8% and 9% annual average growth, vesting increases on a straight line basis. 87.5% of the maximum NOPAT
award will vest if the Company’s average growth is 9% per annum {the threshold). Between 9% and 10% annual
average growth, vesting increases on a straight line basis. 92.5% of the maximum NOPAT award will vest if the
Company's average growih is 10% per annum, Between 10% and 15% annual average growth, vesting increases on a
straight line basis. 96.25% of the maximum NOPAT award will vest if the Company's average growth is 15% per annum.
100% of the maximum NOPAT award will vest if the Company’s average growth is 16% per annum. Between 15% and
16% annual average growth, vesting increases on a straight line basis. The maximum NOPAT award will vest if the
Company’s average growth is at or above 16% per annum. In determining whether the NOPAT hurdle has been achieved,
appropriate adjustments will be made fer movements in the issued capital of the Company resulting from the issue of
new shares for acquisitions made by the Company or capital reconstructions such as buy-backs etc. Shares issued with
respect to the acquisition of SPC Ardmona Ltd will give rise to a commensurate adjustment in the calculation of the
applicable NOPAT hurdle under the 2005-2007 and 2006-2008 plans.

Component C — applies only to the Group Managing Director (for details refer to the section on the Group Managing
Director's employment contract),

if the Company's earnings per share is greater than an average annual growth of 10% over the three year period, then a
minimum of 72.5% of the maximum award of hath the shares allocated under both the TSR perfarmance measures {for
both peer groups} and the NOPAT performance measure must be awarded. This is nat an additional award but applies to
the calculation of Components A and B above.

For the TSR performance measure, one year at quarterly intervals. There is no retesting of the NOPAT performance measure.

Two peer groups have heen adopted to measure TSR performance with peer group 1 reflecting comparable companies
listed on the ASX and peer greup 2 representing selected cansumer staples and food, beverages and tobacco companies.

The 43 peer group 1 and 30 peer group 2 comganies can be found in the peer group company listing on pages 28 and 29.

Components A and B - as at 31 December 2007, for the TSR performance measure, for peer group 1 CCA ranked at the
68th percentile and for peer group 2 CCA ranked at the 84th percentile. For the NOPAT performance measure, CCA
achieved 9% growth per annum during the period, and taking account of the sale of South Korea and significant ong-off
events consistent with the 2005-2007 plan calculation.

Component C — at the end of the twelve month performance period, for the TSR parformance measure, for peer group 1
CCA ranked at the 23rd percentile and for peer group 2 CCA ranked at the 50th percentile with half the TSR portion of
Companent C vesting, at 18.1% of the maximum Component C award. The NOPAT portion of the Component C does
not vest,
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Remuneration report continued
Remuneration structure continued
d} 2007-2009 Long Term Incentive Share Plan

Offered to
Period

Perfarmance conditions

Vesting scale

— Group Managing Director

Group Managing Director and executives.
1 January 2007 to 31 December 2009.

Two performance conditions exist, with half of the award subject to a TSR measure and half of the award subject to the
achievement of average annual growth in EPS over the period. For the TSR hurdle two peer groups are used with each
peer group having equal weighting in the TSR measure; peer group 1 reflects comparable companies listed on the ASX
and peer group 2 represents selected consumer staples and faod, beverages and tobacco companies.

Two vesting scales are in place for this particular plan, with a vesting scale for the Group Managing Director and a vesting
scale for all other executives. The vesting scale for all other executives offers a higher award at earlier achievement levels,
given that for this group their awards are substantially less than those of the Group Managing Director.

Component A — none of the award will vest if CCAs TSR is below the 51st percentile of the peer group. 51% of the
maximum TSR award will vest if CCAs TSR is at the 51st percentile of the peer group {the thresheld). If CCA's TSR is at
the 55th percentite of the peer group, 60% of the maximum TSR will vest {and between the 50th percentile and 55th
percentile, vesting increases on a straight line basis). If CCA's TSR is at the 60th percentile of the peer group, 70% of the
maximum TSR will vest (and between the 55th percentile and 60th percentile, vesting increases on a straight line basis).
If CCA's TSR is at the 65th percentile of the peer group, 80% of the maximum TSR will vest (and between the 60th
percentile and 65th percentile, vesting increases on a straight line basis). If CCA's TSR is at the 70th percentile of the
peer group, 90% of the maximum TSR will vest {and between the 65th percentile and 70th percentile, vesting increases
on a straight line basis). If CCA's TSR is at the 75th percentile of the peer group, 100% of the maximum TSR will vest
(and between the 70th percentile and 75th percentile, vesting increases on a straight line basis). The maximum TSR
award will vest if CCA's TSR is at or above the 75th percentile.

Component B — none of the award will be allocated unless the Company’s average growth in EPS is 8.2% per annum
aver the performance period. 51% of the maximum EPS award will vest if the Company's average growth is 8.2% per
annum. Between 8.2% and 9% annual average growth, vesting increases on a straight line basis. 60% of the maximum
EPS award will vest if the Company’s average growth is 9% per annum (the threshold}. Between 9% and 10% annual
average growth, vesting increases on a straight line basis. 70% of the maximum EPS award will vest if the Company's
average growth is 10% per annum. Between 10% and 15% annual average growth, vesting increases on a straight line
basis. 85% of the maximum EPS award will vest if the Company’s average growth is 15% per annum. 100% of the
maximum EPS award will vest if the Company’s average growth is 16% per annum, Between 15% and 16% annuat
average growth, vesting increases on a straight line basis. The maximum EPS award will vest if the Company’s average
growth is at or above 16% per annum.

for the 2007-2009 LTISP, the Group Managing Director was not entitled to any Component C award.
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Remuneration report continued
Remuneration structure continued
d} 2007-2009 Lang Term Incentive Share Plan continued

— all other executives

Retesting

Peer group

Performance

Component A — none of the award will vest if CCA's TSR is below the 51st percentile of the peer group. 75.5% of the
maximum TSR award will vest if CCAs TSR is at the 51st percentile of the peer group {the threshold). If CCA's TSR is at the
55th percentile of the peer group, 87.5% of the maximum TSR will vest (and between the 50th percentile and 55th percentile,
vesting increases on a straight line basis). If CCASs TSR is at the 60th percentile of the peer group, 92.5% of the maximum TSR
will vest (and between the 55th percentile and 60th percentile, vesting increases on a straight line basis). If CCAs TSR is at the
B5th percentile of the peer group, 95% of the maximum TSR will vest (and hetween the 60th percentile and 65th percentile,
vesting increases on a straight line basis), If CCA' TSR is at the 70th percentile of the peer group, 97.5% of the maximum TSR
will vest (and between the B5th percentile and 70th percentile, vesting increases on a straight line basis). If CCAs TSR is at the
75th percentile of the peer group, 100% of the maximum TSR will vest {and between the 70th percentile and 75th percentile,
vesting increases on a straight line basis). The maximum TSR award will vest if CCA's TSR is at or above the 75th percentile.

Comganent B — none of the award will be allocated unless the Company’s average growth in EPS is 8.2% per annum
over the performance period. 75.5% of the maximum EPS award will vest if the Company’s average growth is 8.2% per
annum {the thrashold). Between 8.2% and 9% annual average growth, vesting increases on a straight line basis. 87.5%
of the maximum EPS award will vest if the Company's average growth is 9% per annum. Between 9% and 10% annual
average growth, vesting increases on a straight line basis. 92.5% of the maximum EPS award will vest if the Company’s
average growth is 10% per annum. Between 10% and 13.3% annual average growth, vesting increases on a straight line
basis. 95% of the maximum EPS award will vest if the Company’s average growth is 13.3% per annum. Between 13.3%
and 15.3% annual average growth, vesting increases on a straight line basis. 97.5% of the maximum EPS award will
vest if the Company’s average growth is 15.3% per annum. 100% of the maximum EPS award will vest if the Company's
average growth is 16% per annum. Between 15.3% and 16% annual average growth, vesting increases an a straight ling
basts. The maximum EPS award will vest if the Company’s average growth is at or abave 16% per annum.

For the TSR performance measure, one year at quarterly intervals. There is no retesting of the EPS performance measure.

Two peer groups have been adopted to measure TSR performance with peer group 1 reflecting comparable companies
listed on the ASX and peer group 2 representing selected consumer staples and food, beverages and tobacco companies.

The 43 peer group 1 and 30 peer group 2 companies can be found in the peer group company listing on pages 28 and 29.

As at 31 December 2007, for the TSR performance measure, for peer group 1 CCA ranked at the 87th percentile and for
peer group 2 CCA ranked at the B1st percentile. For the EPS performance measure, CCA achieved 16.5% growth per
annum during the period.
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Remuneration report continued
Remuneration structure continued
Peer group company listing
Long Term incentive Share Plan

2006-2008 2007-2009
Company name 2004-2006 2005-2007  Peergroup1 Peergroup2 Peergroup1 Peergroup 2
ABB Grain Limited Yes Yes Yes
ABC Learning Centres Limited Yes
AGL Energy Limited Yes Yes Yes Yes
Alinta Limited Yes Yes
Altria Group Inc Yes Yes
Amcor Limited Yes Yes Yes Yes
Ansell Limited Yes Yes Yes Yes
APN News & Media Limited Yes Yes Yes
Avristocrat Leisure Limited Yes Yes Yes Yes
ASX Limited Yes
Australian Agricultural Company Limited Yes Yes Yes
Australian Pure Fruits Limited Yes
AWB Limited Yes Yes Yes Yes
Billabong International Limited Yes Yes Yes Yes
BlueScope Steel Limited Yes Yes Yes Yes
Boral Limited Yes Yes Yes Yes
Brambles Industries Limited Yes Yes Yes Yes
Burns Philp & Company Limited Yes Yes Yes
Caltex Australia Limited Yes
Chiquita Brands South Pacific Limited Yes Yes
Coca-Cola Amatil Limited Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes
Cochlear Limited Yes Yes Yes Yes
Cockatoo Ridge Wines Limited Yes Yes
Coles Group Limited Yes Yes Yes Yes
Computershare Limited Yes Yes Yes Yes
Constellation Brands, Inc Yes Yes
CSL Limited Yes Yes Yes Yes
CSR Limited Yes Yes Yes Yes
DCA Group Limited Yes Yes
Downer EDI Limited Yes Yes
Dyno Nobel Limited Yes
Evans & Tate Limited Yes Yes
Fairfax Media Limited Yes Yes Yes Yes
FH Holdings Limited Yes Yes
Foodland Associated Limited Yes Yes
Foster’s Group Limited Yes Yes Yes Yes
Futuris Corporation Limited Yes Yes Yes Yas
Goodman Fielder Limited Yes
GrainCorp Limited Yes Yes Yes
Green's Foods Limited Yes Yes
Gunns Limited Yes Yes
Harvey Norman Holdings Limited Yes Yes Yes
James Hardie industries NV (DI} Yes Yes Yes Yes
KH Foods Limited Yes Yes
Leighton Holdings Limited Yes Yes Yes Yes
Lend Lease Corporation Limited Yes Yes
Lien Nathan Limited Yes Yes Yes Yes
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Remuneration report continued
Remuneration structure continued
Peer group company listings continued
Long Term Incentive Share Plan

2006-2008 2007-2009
Company name 2004-2006 2005-2007  Peergroupl Peergroup2 Peergroup1 Peergroup 2
Macquarie Airports Yes
Marybarough Sugar Factory Limited Yes Yes
Mayne Nickless Limited Yes Yes
Mayne Pharma Limited Yes Yes
McGuigan Simeon Wines Limited Yes Yes Yes Yes
Metcash Limited Yes Yes Yes Yes
Mirvac Graup Yes
Namoi Cotton Co-operative Limited Yes Yes
National Foods Limited Yes Yes
News Corporation Limited Yes Yes
On Q Graup Limited Yes
OneSteel Limited Yes Yes Yes Yes
Orica Limited Yes Yes Yes Yes
Pacific Brands Limited Yes Yes
PaperlinX Limited Yes Yes Yes Yes
Patrick Corporation Limited Yas Yes Yes
Publishing & Broadcasting Limited Yes Yes Yes Yes
Qantas Airways Limited Yes Yes Yes Yes
(Queensland Cotton Holdings Limited Yes Yes
ResMed Inc Yes Yes Yes Yes
Ridley Corporation Limited Yes Yes Yes Yes
Rinker Group Limited Yes Yes Yes
Select Harvests Limited Yes Yes Yes
Sigma Pharmaceuticals Limited Yes Yes Yes Yes
Sims Group Limited Yes Yes Yes Yes
Sonic Heafthcare Limited Yes Yes Yes Yes
) Southcorp Limited Yes Yes
SPC Ardmona Limited Yes
Symbion Health Limited Yes Yes
TAB Limited Yes
Tahcorp Holdings Limited Yes Yes Yes Yes
Tandou Limited Yes Yes
Tassal Group Limited Yes Yes
Tattersall's Limited Yes Yes
Telecom Corporation of New Zealand Limited Yes Yes Yes Yes
Telstra Corporation Limited Yes Yes Yes Yes
Ten Network Holdings Limited Yes Yes Yes
Toll Holdings Limited Yes Yes Yes Yes
Transurban Group Yes Yes Yes Yes
UNITAB Limited Yes
Warrnambool Cheese & Butter
Factory Company Holdings Limited Yes Yes
Wesfarmers Limited Yes Yes Yes Yes
West Australian Newspapers Holdings Limited Yes Yes Yes Yes
Westfield Holdings Limited Yes
Woolworths Limited Yes Yes Yes Yes
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Remuneration report continued
Summary of employment contracts
The following are details of the employment cantracts for key management personnel {excluding Non-Executive Directors) -

T.J. Davis — Group Managing Director

Employment period

Remuneration package

Benefits

Short Term Incentive Plan

Long Term Incentive Share Plan

Service agreement

To 30 November 2010.

The on-target remuneration package is comprised of a 53% fixed component and a 47% variable component. The
Committee reviews the remuneration package annually.

Superannuation, vehicle benefits, car-parking, leave loading and Company product.
Ranges from on-target being 68% of base salary, up to a maximum award of 120% of base salary.

Mr Davis has the following allocations of shares —

Vested Lapsed Unvested

Plan Component Maximum amount amount (maximum}
2004-2006 Aand B 174,750 58,833 115,917 -
C 100,000 50,000 50,000 -

274,750 108,833 165,917 -

2005-2007 A 99,025 71,648 27,377 -
B 99,025 65,531 - 33,494

Maximum of A and B 174,750 137179 4,077 33494

C 150,000 130,750 500 18,750

324,750 267.929 4,577 52,244

2006-2008 A — peer group 1 45,517 - - 45517
A - peer group 2 45,517 - - 45517

B 91,034 - - 91.034

Maximum of A and B 182,068 - - 182,068

C 137.932 25,000 - 112,932

320,000 25,000 - 295,000

2007-2009 A — peer group 1 51,300 - - 51,300
A — peer group 2 51,300 - - 51.300

B 102,600 - - 102,600

Maximum of A and B 205,200 - - 205,200

Companent A — subject to the measurement of TSR. Companent B — subject to the measurement of average annual
grawth in NOPAT/EPS. Component C - as part of Mr Davis’ conditions of employment, it had been agreed that Mr Davis
waould be granted an award of options under the Executive Option Plan annuatly on 12 November 2003 to 2006 inclusive.
Subsequently, the Board determined not to issue further non-hurdle based options ta executives and executive Directors
under the Executive Opiion Plan, and as a consequence Component € was offered in lieu for the 2004-2006, 2005-2007
and 2006-2008 plans. For these three plans one-half of the shares are subject to the same performance measure as
Component A and one-half of the shares are subject to the same performance measure as Component 8. The
performance measures will be tested twelve months after the commencement date of the performance period and if the
performance measures have been achieved at that date, the shares will be allocaied to My Davis.

The service agreement commenced on 12 November 2001 and in 2008 was extended to expire on 30 November 2010. As
Mr Davis was in the employment of the Company on 31 December 2007, he received $335,000. If Mr Davis is in the
employment of the Company on 11 November 2008 {being the completion of seven years of employment with the
Company), he receives a payment of $385,000, if Mr Davis is in the employment of the Company on 11 November 2009,
he receives a further payment of $385,000 and on completion of his service agreement on 30 November 2010 he
receives a final payment under the agreement of $385,000.
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Remuneration report continued
Summary of employment contracts continued
T.J. Davis — Group Managing Director continued

Termination

Completion of employment
period

Notice period to extend
service agreement

Resignation

If the Company terminates Mr Davis’ employment {for circumstances other than those related to fraud, dishanesty or
serious misconduct) after 31 December 2007 but before 11 November 2008, he receives a service agreement payment of
$1,155,000 and if his employment is terminated after 11 November 2008 but before 11 November 2008, he receives a
service agreement payment of $770,000 and if his employment is terminated after 11 November 2008 but before 30
November 2010, he receives a service agreement payment of $385,600.

In addition, if the Company terminates Mr Davis’ employment after 31 December 2007 {for circumstances other than
those related to fraud, dishonesty or serious misconduct), he receives twelve months of total remuneration.

Upen completion of the employment period at 30 November 2010, for those awards in the LTISP where the retesting has
not completed, the Board will be able to allocate shares in circumstances where it would otherwise be unfair not to
allocate shares. For those awards where the three year performance period will net have completed, Mr Davis will be
eligible for a pro rata award. Any annual and long service leave will be paid in accordance with the Company policy on
payment of leave due to involuntary termination.

Mr Davis will be given not less than twelve months notice as to the Company's intention to not exiend his
service agreement.

A minimum three months notice.

J.M. Wartig — Chief Financial Officer

Length of contract

Remuneratian package

Benefits
Short Term Incentive Plan

Long Term Incentive Share Pian

Executive Retention Share Plan

Service agreement

Termination

Resignation

Subsequent Resignation

Open ended.

The on-target remuneration package is comprised of a 49% fixed component and a 51% variable component.
The Committee reviews the remuneration package annually.

Superannuation, vehicle benefits, car-parking, Employees Share Plan and Company product.
Ranges from on-target being 67% of fixed salary, up to a maximum award of 120% of fixed salary.

Mr Wartig has the following allocations of shares —

Vested lapsed Unvested
Plan Component Maximum amount amount {maximum)
2004-2008 AandB 105,000 35,350 69,650 -
2005-2007 AandB 105,000 82,425 2450 20,125
2006-2008 Aand B 96,552 - - 96,552
2007-2008 AandB 46,358 - - 46,358

For the 2005-2007 LTISP. the maximum TSR award is 59,500 shares and the maximum NOPAT award is 59,500 shares;
however, the combined maximum of hoth awards is 105,000 shares.

Mr Wartig has the following allocations of shares —

Vested Lapsed Unvested
Plan Maximum amount amount {maximum)
2007-2009 35,000 - - 35,000

The service agreement commenced on 21 Jung 2004 and expires 21 June 2009. If Mr Wartig is in the employment of the
Cempany on 21 June 2009, he receives $500,000 {calculated as a deferred remuneration amount of $100,000 per
completed year of service for the five years he has been employed with the Company), with ane-fifth of this amount
having been disclosed on an annual basis.

If the Company terminates Mr Wartig’s employment {for circumstances other than those related to fraud, dishonesty or
serigus misconduct) before 21 June 2009, he receives a lump sum service agreement payment of $500,000 and in
addition he receives a maximum of twelve menths of fixed remuneration (inclusive of both pay in lieu of natice and
severance). This payment does not apply on expiry of the service agreement. In the event of a change of control of the
Company, and the Company wishes to terminate his employment arrangement without cause, the Company will pay him
not less than 12 months of fixed remuneration, inclusive of both notice and saverance.

A minimum three manths notice.

Mr Wartig resigned subsequent to 31 December 2007, effective 31 March 2008.
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Remuneration report continued
Summary of employment contracts continued
W.G. White — Managing Director, Australasia

Length of contract

Remuneration package

Benefiis

Short Term Incentive Plan

Long Term Incentive Share Plan

Executive Retention Share Plan

Service agreement

Termination

Notice period to extend
service agreement

Resignation

Open ended.

The on-target remuneration package is comprised of a 52% fixed component and a 48% variable component.
The Committee reviews the remuneration package annually.

Superannuation, vehicle benefits, car-parking, leave loading, Employees Share Plan, club membership and
Company product.

Ranges from an target being 97% of base salary, up to a maximum award of 173% of base salary.

Mr White has the following allocations of shares —

Vested Lapsed Unvested
Plan Component Maximum amaunt amount {maximum)
2004-2006 Aand B 15,275 36.809 76,466 -
2005-2007 Aand B 115,275 90491 2,689 22,095
2006-2008 AandB 106,000 - - 106,000
2007-2009 Aand B 50,894 - - 50,894

For the 2005-2007 LTISP, the maximum TSR award is 69,323 shares and the maximum NOPAT award is 65,323 shares;
however, the combined maximum of both awards is 115,275 shares.

Mr White has the following allocations of shares —

Vested Lapsed Unvested
Plan Maximum amount amount {maximum)
2007-2009 38,425 - - 38,425

The service agreement commenced on 1 November 2002. Under Mr White's original service agreement, he received a
paymert of $350,000 on 1 November 2005 after three years of employment with the Company. The current service
agreement expires on 1 July 20i0. If Mr White is in the employment of the Company on 31 October 2008, he receives
46,255 CCA shares, with one-third of this value disclosed an an annual basis. If Mr White is in the employment of the
Company on 31 October 2009, he receives a further 19,823 CCA shares. If Mr White is in the employment of the
Company on 1 July 2010, he receives a further 74,126 CCA shares. Mr White is entitled to receive the dividends on
all of these shares prir to their vesting.

If the Company terminates Mr White’s employment [for circumstances other than those related to fraud, dishonesty or
serious misconduct) before 31 October 2008, he receives a service agreement award of 46,255 CCA shares. If the
Company terminates his employment after 31 October 2008 but before 31 October 2009, he receives a service agreement
award of 19,823 CCA shares. If the-Company terminates his employment after 31 October 2009 but before 1 July 2010,
he receives a service agreement award of 74,126 CCA shares. In addition, if the Company terminates Mr White’s
employment before 31 October 2009 {for circumstances other than those related to fraud, dishonesty or serious
misconduct), he receives four months notice {or four months pay in liew of notice} and twelve manths of fixed
remuneration. In the event of a change of control of the Company, and the Company wishes to terminate his employment
arrangement without cause, the Company will pay him not less than 12 months of fixed remuneration, inclusive of both
notice and severance.

Mr White will be given not less than twelve months notice as to the Company’s intention to not extend his
service agreement.

A mintmum four months notice.
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Remuneration report continued
Summary of employment contracts continued
G. Adams — Managing Director, New Zealand & Fiji

Length of contract Open ended.

Remuneration package The on-target remuneration package is comprised of a 59% fixed component and a 41% variable camponent.
The Committee reviews the remuneration package annually.

Benefits Superannuation, vehicle benefits, Employees Share Plan, club membership and Company product.

Short Term Incentive Flan Ranges from on-target being 63% of base salary, up to @ maximum award of 111% of base salary.

Long Term incentive Share Plan ~ Mr Adams has the following allocations of shares —

Vested Lapsed Unvested
Plan Component Maximum amount amount (maximum)
2004-2006 AandB 31,500 10,605 20,895 -
2005-2007 Aand B 31,500 24,728 735 6.037
2006-2008 Aand B 14,483 - - 14,483
2007-2009 Aand B 6,954 - - 6.954

For the 2005-2007 LTISP the maximum TSR award is 17,850 shares and the maximum NOPAT award is 17,850 shares:
however, the combined maximum of both awards is 31,500 shares.

Executive Retention Share Plan My Adams has the following allocations of shares —

Vested Lapsed Unvested
Plan Maximum amount amaunt (maximum)
2007-2069 5,250 - - 5,250
Service agreement None.
Termination If the Company terminates Mr Adams’ employment during his New Zealand assignment (for circumstances other than

those related to fraud, dishonesty, serious misconduct or unacceptable performance} and no suitable alternative position
is available, he is entitled to three months of fixed remuneration in lieu of both notice and severance (calculated at CCA's
current policy of ene month notice and one month for every year of completed service with CCA). In the event of a
change of contrel of the Company, and the Company wishes to terminate his employment arrangement without cause,
the Cempany will pay him niot less than 12 months of fixed remuneration, inclusive of both notice and severance,

Resignation A minimurn one month notice.

P. Kelly — Managing Director, Asia

Length of contract Open ended.

Remuneration package The on-target remuneration package is comprised of a 56% fixed component and a 44% variable component.
The Committes reviews the remuneration package annually.

Benefits Superannuation, vehicle benefits, car-parking, leave loading, Employees Share Plan, club membership and
Company product.

Short Term Incentive Plan Ranges from on-target being 65% of base salary, up to a maximum award of 119% of base salary.

Long Term Incentive Share Plan  Mr Kelly has the following atlocations of shares —

Vested Lapsed Unwested
Plan Component Maximum amount amount {maximum;)
2004-2006 Aand B 34,500 11,615 22,885 -
2005-2007 Aand B 35,250 27,61 822 6,757
20086-2008 Aand B 44,138 - - 44,138
2007-2009 Aand B 21,192 - - 21,192

- For the 2005-2007 LTISP. the maximum TSR award is 19,975 shares and the maximum NOPAT award is 19,975 shares;
however, the combined maximum of both awards is 35,250 shares.
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Remuneration report continued
Summary of employment contracts continued
P Kelly — Managing Director, Asia continued

Executive Retention Share Plan

Service agreement

Termination

Resignation

Mr Kelly has the following allocatiens of shares —

Vested Lapsed Unvested
Plan Maximum amount amount (maximumy)
2007-2009 16,000 - - 16,000

None.

If the Company terminates Mr Kelly's employment due to his position being redundant and no suitable altemative
position is available, he is entitled to a minimum of one month notice and twelve menths of fixed remuneration.
In the event of a change of contral of the Company, and the Company wishes 10 terminate his employment
arrangement without cause, the Company will pay him not less than 12 months of fixed remuneration, inclusive of
bath notice and severance.

A minimum one month notice.

J. Seward — Managing Director, Indonesia & PNG

Length of contract

Remuneration package

Benefits

Short Jerm Incentive Plan

Long Term Incentive Share Plan

Executive Retentton Share Plan

Service agreement

Termination

Resignation

Open ended,

The on-target remuneration package is comprised of a 3% fixed compenent and a 31% variable component.
The Committee reviews the remuneration package annually.

Superannuation, vehicle benefits, car-parking, Employees Share Plan, ¢lub membership, Campany product, expatriate
benefits including medical, subsidised housing and wtilities, home leave, school fees, host country aillowance and
environmental allowance.

Ranges from on-target heing 76% of base salary, up to a maximum award of 140% of base salary.

Mr Seward has the following allocations of shares —

Vested Lapsed Unvested
Plan Component Maximum amount amaount {maximum)
2004-2006 AandB 36,000 12,120 23,880 -
2005-2007 AandB 36,000 28,260 840 6,900
2006-2008 AandB 37.24 - - 3724
2007-2009 Aand B 17,881 - - 17,881

For the 2005-2007 LTISP. the maximum TSR award is 20,400 shares and the maximum NOPAT award is 20,400 shares;
however, the combined maximum of both awards is 36,000 shares.

Mr Seward has the following allocations of shares -

Vested Lapsed Unvested
Plan Maximum amaount amount {maximum}
2007-2009 13,500 - - 13,500

None.

If the Company terminates Mr Seward's employment during his Indonesian assignment {for circumstances other than
those related to fraud, dishonesty, serious misconduct or unacceptable performance] and no suitable alternative position
is available, he is entitled to a minimum of ning months of fixed remuneration in lieu of both notice and severance
{calculated at CCA’s current policy of one monith notice and one month for every year of completed service with the
Coca-Cola System). In the event of a change of cantral of the Company, and the Company wishes to terminate his
employment arrangement without cause, the Company will pay him not less than 12 months of fixed remuneration,
inclusive of both notice and severance.

A minimum two months notice.
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Remuneration report continued
Summary of employment contracts continued
N. Garrard — Managing Director, Food & Services

Length of contract

Remuneration package

Benefits
Short Term Incentive Plan

Long Term incentive Share Plan

Executive Retention Share Plan

Service agreement

Completion payment

Termination

Resignation

Open ended.

The on-target remuneration package is comprised of a 52% fixed companent and a 48% vartable component.
The Cammittee reviews the remuneration package annually.

Superannuation, Employees Share Plan and Company product.
Ranges frem on-target being 60% of fixed salary, up to a maximum award of 120% of fixed salary.

Mr Garrard has the following altocations of shares —

Vested Lapsed Unvested
Plan Component Maximum amaunt amount {maximum)
2005-2007 Aand B 42,000 32,970 980 8,050
2006-2008 Aand B 38,621 - - 38,621
2007-2009 Aand B 18,543 - - 18,543

For the 2005-2007 LTISP, the maximum TSR award is 23,800 shares and the maximum NOPAT award is 23,800 shares;
however, the combined maximum of both awards is 42,000 shares.

Mr Garrard has the following allocations of shares —

Vested Lapsed Unvested
Plan Maximum amount amount (maximum)
2007-2009 67,802 - - 67.802
None,

As Mr Garrard was an employee ¢n the two year anniversary of the purchase by CCA of all of the shares in
SPC Ardmona Limited, CCA paid him a comgletion bonus of $250,000 before tax in March 2007. This arrangement was
not renewed; however, this was taken to account when determining Mr Garrard’s 2007-2009 ERSP award.

If the Company terminates Mr Garrard’s employment {for circumstances other than those related to fraud, dishonesty or
serious misconduct), he is entitled to three months notice and twelve months of fixed remureration. In the event of a
change of control of the Company, and the Company wishes to terminate his employment arrangement without cause,
the Company will pay him nat less than 12 months of fixed remuneration, inclusive of both notice and severance.

A minimum three months notice.

R. Randall — Managing Director, Sauth Korea

Lengih of contract

Remuneration package

Benefits

Short Term Incentive Plan

Long Term Incentive Share Plan

Service agreement

Open ended.

The on-target remuneration package is comprised of a 73% fixed companent and a 27% variable companent.
The Committee reviews the remuneration package annually.

Superannuation, vehicle benefits, car-parking, Employees Share Plan, club membership, Company product, expatriate
henefits including medical, subsidised housing and utilities, home leave, school fees, host country allowance and
environmental allowance.

Ranges from on target being 73% of base salary, up to a maximum award of 134% of base salary.

Mr Randall has the following allocations of shares —

Vested Lapsed Unvested
Plan Component Maximum amount amount (maximumy}
2004-2006 AandB 15,000 5,050 9,950 -
2005-2007 Aand B 12,000 89,420 280 2.300
2006-2008 AandB 20,690 - - 20,690
2007-2009 AandB 13,245 - - 13,245

For the 2005-2007 LTISE the maximum TSR award is 6,800 shares and the maximum NOPAT award is 6,800 shares;
however, the combined maximum of bosh awards is 12,000 shares.

None.
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Remuneration report continued

Summary of employment contracts continued
R. Randall — Managing Director, South Korea continued

Termination As a result of the sale of Coca-Cola Korea Bottling Company, Ltd in October 2007, Me Randall left the employment of the
Company on 31 October 2007, Mr Randall received payments for notice, severance and repatriation in accordance with
the Company’s policy given his length of service within the Coca-Cola system.

M. Clark — General Manager, Grinders Coffee Business, Australia

Length of contract From 7 August 2006 to 31 July 2008.

Remuneration package The on-target remuneration package is comprised of a 67% fixed component and a 33% variable component. There is no
review of the remuneration package.

Benefits N/a.

Short Term Incentive Plan $200,000 per annum for two years, payable in one amount of $400,000 on 31 July 2008 if the pre-determined key

performance indicators have been successfully achieved. This amount will not be payable if, for whatever reason the
two year fixed term of employment is not completed.

Long Term Incentive Share Plan ~ Mr Clark has the fellowing alfocations of shares -

Vested Lapsed Unvested
Plan Camponent Maximum amount amount {maximum)
2004-2006 AandB 67,500 22,725 44775 -
2005-2007 Aand B 32,280 25,340 753 6,187

For the 2005-2007 LTISP, the maximum TSR award is 18,292 shares and the maximum NOPAT award is 18,292 shares;
however, the combined maximumn of both awards is 32,280 shares.

Resignation A minimum one month notice.

Following the establishment of the Food & Services reporting segment, which includes Grinders, Mr Clark ceased to be
designated as key management personnel on 18 Agrit 2007.

Remuneration of Non-Executive Directors
The remuneration of Non-Executive Directors takes into account the size and complexity of CCA's operations, their responsibility for the stewardship of the
Company and their workloads. It comprises Directors’ fees {base plus Board Committee fees), superannuation contributians and retirement benefits.

Total Non-Executive Directors' fees are not to exceed the annual limit of $1.5 million as previously approved by shareholders. Based on advice received
from external remuneration consultants {via the Compensation Committee), Non-Executive Director fees arg set and approved by the executive Director.

No element of the Non-Executive Director’s remuneration is performance related.

The current annual Directors’ fees payable to Non-Executive Directors for the year ended 31 December 2007 are as follows -

H
Chairman {inclusive of Committee fees) 364,000
Director {base fee} 121,300
Chairman — Audit & Risk Committee 20,000
Member — Audit & Risk Committee 11,550
Chairman — Compensation Committee 15,000
Member — Compensation Committee 8,000
Chairman — Compliance & Sacial Responsibilities Committee 15,000
Member — Compliance & Sccial Responsibilities Committee 8.000

No fees are payable in respect of membership of any other Board Committees.

From 1 July 2003, the Non-Executive Directors agreed to apply a minimurm of 25% {and up to 100%} of their Directors’ fees to purchase ordinary shares
in the Company. The shares are purchased on market. The trustee of the Non-Executive Directors’ Share Plan will hold the shares until the benefictary
ceases to he a Director of the Company.

There is no current scheme for the payment of retirement benefits. However, pursuant to the resolution passed at the Annual General Meeting held
3 May 2008, the accruad benefits under the prior scheme were used to purchase 152,236 shares in the Company at $6.8495 per share on 6 May 2006.
The shares are held by the trustee of the Non-Executive Directors’ Retirement Share Trust (NEDRST].

Further details on the NEDRST are included in Note 25 to the financial statements.

Where applicable, contributions required under superannuation guarantee legislation are made on behalf of the Directors.
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Remuneration report continued

Remuneration of key management personnel

The details of each key management persennel’s remuneration and the five named executives receiving the highest remuneration for the CCA Group and
CCA Entity during the financial year are set out below -

Total
Other perfor-
Post long Termi- mance
Shart term employment term nation®  Share hased payments related
South Naon- Retire-  Deferred
Salary Korean  monetary Super- ment  remune- ERSP/
and fees' ST incentive®  benefits’ annuation®  benefits' ration’ Lnses ESP? other® Total
Year $ $ $ s $ $ $ $ $ $ $ H %
Directors
D.M. Gonski, AC 2007 364,000 - - - 12908 < - - - - - 376,808 -
Chairman {Non-Executive} 2006 346,700 - - - 12413 2409 - - - - - 383132 -
J.R. Broadbent, AQ 2007 144,300 - - - 12837 - - - - - - 152137 -
Director (Non-Executive) 2006 139,850 - - - 12,363 8,799 - - - - - 181,012 -
Tt Davis 2007 1,925,000 1,500,000 500,000 210525 765,000 - 295350 - 1,763,408 - - 1,359.283" 57
Director and Group
Managing Director 2006 1537583 1,602,672 — 243802 628,091 -~ 212,650 - 1,321,933 - — 5.546,79 53
I, Finan 2007 140,850 - - - 126N - - - - - - 153527 -
Director (Non-Executive) 2006 127,100 - - - 11439 - - - - - - 13853 -
G.J. Kelly 2007 129300 - - - 18637 - - - - - - 140,937 -
Directar {Non-Executive} 2006 122500 - - - 11,025 - - - - - - 133525 -
WM. King, AD 2007 129,300 - - - 1,637 - - - - - - 140,937 -
Director {Non-Executive) 2006 115550 - - - 10,400 1.825 - - - - - 121775 -
D.E. Meiklgjohn 2007 149,300 - - - 12908 - - - - - - 16,208 -
Director {Non-Executive) 2006 127,900 - - - 11438 - - - - - - 138539 -
M.K. Ward, AD 2007 147,850 - - - 12,508 - - - - - - 160,758 -
Director {Non-Executive) 2006 138,650 - - - 12,308 8,678 - - - - - 154,637 -
Total Directors 2007 31295900 1,900,000 500000 210525 B52512 - 295350 - 1,763,408 - — 8,651,695
Total Directars 2006 2,655,033 1602572 - 243902 709439 43327 212650 - 1321933 - - 6,788,950
Executives
J.M. Wartig 2007 670995 662500 40000 93453 105658 - 19406 - 638306 20,130 95282 2405730 56
Chief Financial Qfficer 2006 653,083 300,000 - 914722 133432 - B1652 - 408,118 19592 - 1,693,297 a7
W.G. White 2007 538125 705,600 - 155757 174,262 - - - 100,770 16,144 353666 2645324 53
Managing Director,
Australasia 2006 520333 665712 - 148715 166,046 - - - 28054 14916 176908 2,141,685 52
G. Adams 2007 268580 262,500 - 68810 74351 - - - 159388 8,057 14292 855978 49
Managing Director,
New Zealand & Fiji 2006 250,186 73,270 — 45686 45281 - - - 103764 7.505 - 525,672 kL
P. Kelly 2007 415965 330,600 150,000 87503 177,292 - - - 239800 12210 43557 1,456,927 49
Managing Director, Asia 2006 395350 264,581 - 91,050 158,383 - - - 151,142 11,827 - 1,072,333 39
J. Seward” 2007 285276 242,958 -~ 563542 73953 - - - 23 8558 36,752 1,439,060 3
Managing Director,
Indonesia & PNG 2006 286214 94,543 - 616427 53,306 - - - 145260 8,586 - 1,204,336 20
N. Garrard 2007 77247¢ 350,800 - 12700 12908 - 20833 - 28291 23174 184580 1,585,756 3
Managing Director,
Food & Servites 2006 736623 401500 - - 1213 - 125000 - 104251 72,099 - 1,401,812 36
Aefer to the following page for footnote details.
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Remuneration report continued
Remuneration of key management personne! continued

Total
Other perfor-
Post long Termi- mange
Short term employment term nation*  Share based payments related
South Non- Retire-  Deferred
Salary Korean  monetary Super- ment  remune- ERSP/
and fees’ STIP incentive®  benefits' annuation®  benefits' ration’ mse ESP® other" Total
Year 3 $ H $ $ $ H $ $ $ § $ %
Former key management
personnel
R. Randal|@*" n07 111317 - - 295964 24824 - - 388,161 85,548 5,320 - 9771134 9
Managing Director,
South Korea 2006 259,382 128,019 — 445811 - 54236 - - - B3DI8 7,781 - 958,387 20
M. Clark" 2007 118,35 - - - amm - - - 45219 - - 187,246 i)
General Manager, Grinders
Cotfee Business, Australia 2006 432414 87,500 - 115675 85764 - - 404762 133319 8,093 - 1,267,529 17
Total executives 2007 3,247,084 2555958 190,060 1,277,729 666,919 - 100239 388161 2315343 93593 728129 11563155
Total executives 2006 3533565 2,015,125 - 15955806 708,587 - 212652 404,762 1556924 100401 176,909 10,2648
Total remuneration 2007 6,376,984 4455959 690,000 1488254 151943 - 395589 388,161 4078751 93593 728129 20214850
Total remuneration 2006 6,188,598 3,617,797 —1,799808 1,418026 43,321 425302 404,762 2878857 100,401 178,809 17.053.781

Remuneration amounts are calculated over the period in which the individual held the key management position.

1 Directars’ fees include amounts contribited to the Non-Executive Directors’ Share Plan. Fees for Non-Executive Directors includes Committee fees.

2 Short Term Incentive Plan [STIP).

3 Aonce only 2007 short term incentive award for sale of the South Korean business that was intreduced for 16 key executives involved in the sale process of Coca-Cola Korea Bottling Company,
Ltd, Given the complexity of the safe, the importance to CCA far the sale process ta be completed and within the time parameters determined, the Board believed it appropriate to motivate and
reward the group working on the sale process, especially given the complexity of the transaction and the substantial amount of effort required by this group to complete the sale. The awards,
that varied depending on the executive’s seniority, involvement and impact on the sale process were determined at the beginning of 2007 and were only paid upon successful completion of

the sale.

4 Non-monetary benefits includes the value of vehicle benefits, club membership, Company product and where applicable expatriate benefits. In the case of Mr Clark, the prier year included
interest paid up to 31 July 2006, on certzin loans held independently with a financial institution.

5  lIncludes national and actual cantributions to superannuation.
6  Represents the nominal value of the accrued retirement benefit to 3 May 2066, being the date of the Annual General Meeting at which a resolution was passed to convert the accrued benefits as
this date into CCA shares less the present value {as required by Australian Accounting Standards) of the amount accrued as at 31 December 2005.
7 Represents the estimated present value of the accrued benefit payable under the terms of the service agreement less amounts accrued in the prior periods.
B Termiration benefits include payments for severance and unused leave benefits paid upon termination. Amounts shown exclude amounts previously disclosed in remuneration.
9 Long Term Incentive Share Plan (LFISP}. Rapresents the estimated fair value of CCA shares offered in the Plan calculated by multiplying the threshold number of shares by the fair value of the
shares at grant date and amertisad over the performance period, The plans have been valued using the Monte Carlo simulation methodolagy. This methedalogy calculates the fair value of
performance rights based on the share price at grant date and assumptions for the expected risk free rate of interast for the performance period, the votatility of the share price returns, the
dividend entitlements and performance conditions of the plans.

Comporent A - TSR

Component B — NOPAT/EPS

Component G — Mr Davis

All other Al pther

Mr Davis Mr Garrard executives Mr Davis Mr Garrard executives TSR NOPAT

$ 3 § 3 3 H $

2004-2006 561 - 541 6.34 - 6.19 669 6.74
2005-2007 767 150 B.16 694 IAY) 763 862 742
2006-2008 peer group 1 385 418 418 623 6.18 6.18 422 6.84
2006-2008 peer group 2 449 450 450 nfa n/a nfa 497 n/a
2007-2009 peer group 1 B71 6.7 671 851 851 851 nfa nfa
2007-2009 peer group 2 707 .07 7.07 nfa nfa nfa nfa nfa

The current year's cemynesation includes the following —

+  Component B of the 2004-2006 plan that vested at 31 December 2006 has been valued at the purchase price of $8.076 less amounts accrued in prior periods;
s Component C of the 2006-2008 plan that vested at 31 December 2006 for Mr Davis has been valued at the purchase price of $8.076 less amounts accrued in prior periods: and
*  Components A and B for the 2005-2007 LTISP vested at 31 December 2007, The following share awards will be made and have been included at the fair value for the plan -

Mr Davis 193,429 Mr Adams
Mr Wartig 82.475 Mr Kelly
Mr White 90,491 Mr Seward

24728
en
28,260

The shares dus to key management personnel will be purchased in early 2008.
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Remuneration report continued
Remuneration of key management personnel continued

10 Employees Share Plan {ESP) represents the Company’s matching contribution.
11 Shares granted under the ERSP were purchased in February 2007 at $8.167 and are being amortised over the three year vesting period. An amount of $249,060 (2006: $176,909) is included for
ather share based payments, which represents the amortised amount for the period of the shares purchased in respect of the service agreemant for Mr White. The Executive Salary Sacrifice

Share Plan holds these shares until they vest.

12 Mr Davis® increase in 1otal remuneration in 2007 aver 2006 was principally the result of —

*  Anincrease in 2007 base salary over 2006 base salary of $387.417 to give closer alignment with the domestic ang internationat consumer goods market in accordance with the Company’s

rernuneration policy:

e Anincrease in 2007 STIP over 2006 STIP of $297.328, that reflects the over-target achievernent;

*  Aonce only 2007 short term incentive award for sale of the South Korean business of $500,000 {refer footnote 3 as abave); and

»  Anincrease in LTISP of $441,475 as a result of the 2005-2007 LTISP vesting over target, with all of the remaining on-target award plus the over-target award being taken to account {up to

fair value) in 2007
13 Messrs Seward and Randall were remunerated in USD whilst in Asia,

14 Amounts are calculated up to the date the individual ceased to hold the key management position.

The percentage of cash grants vested to the maximum cash award available under the STIP during the financial year is set out below —

2007 2006
% %

Director
TJ. Davis 82 58
Executives
J.M. Wartig 69 44
W.G. White 76 61
G. Adams 4 3
P Kelly 67 53
J. Seward 70 34
N. Garrard 38 43
Former key management personnel
R. Randall - 44
M. Clark - 13

The cash grants will be paid in early 2008.

There is no retesting of this plan and the unvested portion is forfeited.

LTISP entitlements

Participation in the LTISP is consistant with thase aspects of the Plan already detailed in this report, All senior executive participation is governed by Company
policy and the Plan trust deed. Shares are awarded to participants at the end of the relevant performance period and only to the extent that the performance
conditions are satisfied. Under the trust deed, shares may be awarded to participants where employment is terminated prior to the completion of the
performance period and more than one-third of the performance period has efapsed, The Board in its discretion has determined that if the executive’s
performance has been of an acceptable standard, the terms and conditions of the relevant performance period will apply as at the date empiloyment ceases.

Shares are fully vested at the end of the perfarmance period, ance the prescribed target has been achieved. A portion of these shares must be held in the
Plan for two years. The amount to be held is determined by a prescribed scale dependent on the level achieved.

The following outlines the minimum and maximum unvested level of participation for key management personnel in current offers under the LTISP —

2006-2008 2007-2009
Number of ordinary shares
in CCA offered in the LTISP Min. Max. Min. Max. Min. Max.
Director
T.J. Davis'® - 52,244 207,000 295,000 104,652 205,200
Executives
JM. Wartig® - 20125 70,000 96,652 35,000 46,358
W.G. White? - 22,095 76,850 106,000 38,245 50,894
G. Adams? - 6,037 10,500 14,483 5,250 6,954
P Kelly* - 6,757 32,000 44,138 16,000 21,192
J. Seward? - 6,900 27.000 3124 13,500 17,881
N. Garrard? - 8,050 78,000 38.621 14,000 18,543

Refer to the following page for foctnote details
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Remuneration report continued

Remuneration of key management personmel continued

1 Mr Davis received an award from the 2005-2007 LFISP for 74,500 shares in 2006 and an award from the 2006-2008 LTISP for Component C of 25,000 shares in 2007.
2 The NOPAT an¢ TSR performance measures of the 2005-2007 LTISP were achieved and accordingly the following share awards will be made ~

Mr Davis 193,429 Mr Adams 4728 Mr Gamrard 32970
Mr Wartig 82475 Mr Kelly 27,61
Mr White 90,481 Mr Seward 28,260

The following outlines the estimated minimum and maximum value of the unamortised amount to be expensed in future financial years -

2005-2007 2006-2008 2007-2009

Value of ordinary shares Min. Max. Min. Max. Min. Max.
in CCA offered in the LTISP $ $ $ $ $ $
Director

T.J. Davis - 418,524 537,190 822,879 827,048 1,254,880
Executives

J.M. Wartig - 164,220 176,859 258,906 219,056 267,393
W.G. White - 180,295 194,166 284,240 240,494 293,554
G. Adams - 49,267 26,530 38,834 32,855 40,114
P. Kelly - 55,137 80,848 118,361 100,412 122,234
J. Seward - 56,304 68,216 99,864 84,492 103,137
N. Garrard - 60,375 70,743 103,565 87,626 106,952

The value is based on the estimated fair value of shares offered in the Plan at grant date.

Awards granted or vested under LTISP during the financial year are set out below —

% of maximum % of maximum
2007 Plan year Shares awarded vested unvested % lapsed
Director
T.J. Davis 2005-2007 193,429 77 21 7
Executives
JM. Wartig 2005-2007 82425 79 19 z
W.G. White 2005-2007 90,491 79 19 Z
G. Adams 2005-2007 24,728 79 19 2
P Kelly 2005-2007 27,671 79 19 2
J. Seward 2005-2007 28,260 79 19 2
N. Garrard 2005-2007 32,970 79 19 2
These shares will be purchased in early 2008.
2006 Ptan year Shares awarded % of maximum % lapsed
Director
T.J. Davis 2004-2006 58,833 67 13
T.J. Davis' 2006-2008 25,000 72 -
Executives
J.M. Wartig 2004-2006 35,350 67 13
W.G. White 2004-2006 38,809 67 13
G. Adams 2004-2006 10,605 67 3
P Kelly 2004-2006 11,615 67 3
J. Seward 2004-2006 12,120 67 33
R. Randall 2004-2006 5,050 67 3
M. Clark 2004-2006 22125 67 3

1 The Component C TSR {peer group 2) performance hurdfe was achieved as at 31 December 2006 with 25,000 shares being altocated.
The maximum award under this performance hurdle ¥s 34,483; therefore, the remaining 9,483 shares are subject to the standard performance period.

These shares were purchased in early 2007.

Awards granted under LTISP are made at no cost to the employee.
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Remuneration report continued
Remuneration of key management persennel continued
The following outlines the unamortised amount to be expensed in future financial vears in relation to the ERSP ~

2007-2009

Value of ordinary shares in GCA offered in the ERSP No. of shares $
Executives

J.M. Wartig 35,000 190,563
W.G. White 38,425 209,211
G. Adams 5,250 28,585
P. Kelly 16,000 87,115
J. Seward 13,500 73,503
N. Garrard 67,802 369,158

These shares were purchased in early 2007 for $8.167 per share.

The following outlines the unamertised amounts ta be expensed in future financial years in relation to shares awarded under service agreements which are
held by the Executive Salary Sacrifice Share Plan —

2007 2008
Value of ordinary shares in CCA
offered under service agreements No. of shares $ $
Executive
W.G. White 140,204 578,330 827,390

66,078 shares were purchased in November 2005 for $7.5667 per share and 74,126 shares were purchased in June 2006 for $7.1499 per share.
There were no amounts in respect of options included in remuneration for the current financial year or the prior financial year.

No optiors have been issued by the Company since 1 January 2003, and al! optians held by key management personnel have been exercised or expired
during the current financial year.

No performance conditions were attached to the grant of optians.

Options held by key management personnel
Options exercised during the 2007 financial year are set out below. There were no options exercised in the prior financial year.

No. of options Exercise price Amount paid
2007 exercised $ $
Executive
W. White 80,000 5.18 414,400
Former key management personnel
R. Randall 6,000 6.33 37,980
M. Clark 87,500 6.33 553,875

Each option exercised resulted in one shara in the Company being issued.

There were no unpaid amounts on the options exercised.

Share options

No options have been issued since 1 January 2003. From the beginning of the 2003 financial year, options were removed from the remuneration package of
Group executives. Details of options on issue at the end of the financial year and options exercised during the financial year are included in Note 25 to the
financial statements.
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For the financial year ended 31 December 2007

Events after the balance date
a) Off-market share buy-back

{On 29 January 2008, CCA announced the successful completion of its $170.0 million off-market share buy-back. A totat of 21.7 million shares were bought
back at a price of $7.84, which represents a 14% discount to the market price being the volume weighted average price of CCAs ordinary shares on the

ASX over the five trading days up to and including 25 January 2008).

The off-market share buy-back has no impact on the Group’s financial results for the year ended 31 December 2007, and is not expected to impact on CCAs

ability to fully frank its dividends in the future.

b} Pacific Beverages' brewery development

On 8 February 2008, CCA made a media announcement that Pacific Beverages Pty Ltd, the joint venture entity CCA formed with SABMiller ple, will build a
boutique premium brewery at Warnervale in the Central Coast region of New South Wales. The brewery, with a capacity of 500,000 hectolitres, is

expected to be completed in 2010 and will be jointly funded by CCA and SABMiller plc.

¢} Dividend
Since the end of the financial year, the Directors have declared the following dividend —
Fully franked
Rate per share per share Amount
Class of share ¢ ¢ M Date payable
Ordinary 20.0 200 146.8 7 April 2008

The dividend has not been recognised as a liability in the 31 December 2007 financial statements.

Rounding

The Company is of a kind referred to in the Australian Securities and Investments Commission {ASIC) Class Order No. 98/100 and, in accordance with this

Class Order, amounts in the financial statements and this Report have been rounded off to the nearest tenth of & million dollars.
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Auditor independence and non-audit services
Auditor independence
The following independence declaration has been obtained from the Company’s auditor, Emst & Young —

i’IERNST& YOUNG & Ernst & Young Centre & Tel 6129248 5555

680 George Street Fax 6129248 5959
Sydney NSW 2000 DX Sydney Stock
Australia Exchange 10172

GPO Box 2646
Sydney NSW 2001

Auditor's independence declaration to the Directors of Coca-Cola Amatil Limited

In relation to our audit of the financial report of Coca-Cola Amatil Limited for the financial year ended 31 December 2007, to the best of my knowledge and
belief, there have been no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 or any applicable code of professional
conduct.

é/»—'zd-r

Ernst & Young T. van Veen
Partner
Sydney
13 February 2008

Liability limited by a scheme approved under
Professional Standards Legislation

Non-audit services

The following non-audit services were pravided by the Company’s auditor, Ernst & Young, and international member firms. The Directors are satisfied that
the provision of non-gudit services is compatible with the general standard of independence for auditors imposed by the Corporations Act 2001. The nature
and scope of each type of non-audit service provided means that auditor independence was not compromised.

Ernst & Young received or is due to receive the following amounts for the provision of non-audit services —
Other assurance services $415,000
Tax compliance reviews $36.000

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors.

N A // !

D.M. Gonski, AC T.J. Davis

Chairman Group Managing Director
Sydney Sydney

13 February 2008 13 February 2008

CCA Annual Report 2007 43




Coca-Cola Amatil Limited and its subsidiaries
Far the financial year ended 31 December 2007

CCA Group CCA Entity
Refer 2007 2006 2007 2006
Note M M M M
Continuing operations
Revenue, excluding finance income
Trading revenue 39318 3,641.6 - -
Other revenue 85.4 63.0 779.2 458.8
3 4,017.2 37046 779.7 458.8
Expenses, excluding finance costs
Cost of goods sold 4 (2,151.2) (2,014.5) - -
Selling (566.6) {552.5) - -
Warehouse and distribution (314.5) {3175) - -
Administration and other (331.3) {257.3) {496.0) (109.1)
(3,369.6) (3.141.8) {496.0) (109.1)
Share of net profit/(loss) of joint venture entity
accounted for using the equity method 1 0.8 [0.3) - -
Earnings before interest and tax 648.4 562.5 2837 3497
Net finance costs
Finance costs 4 {152.0} (152.3} (179.9) (161.8)
Finance income 3 246 17.8 147.7 107.0
{132.4} (134.5} {32.2) {54.8)
Profit from continuing operations before income tax 516.0 47280 2515 2949
Income tax (expensel/benefit 5 (148.4) (114.4} 18 (75.4)
Profit from continuing operations after income tax 367.6 3136 2593 2195
Discontinued operation
Loss from discontinued operation after income tax 6b) {56.9) (31.2) - -
Profit after tax attributable to members of Coca-Cola Amatil Limited 0.7 2824 259.3 2195
e ¢
Earnings per share (EPS) for profit from continuing eperations
attributable to ordinary equity holders of the Company 27
Basic EPS 48.8 a9
Diluted EPS 48.7 418
Earnings per share (EPS) for profit attributable to ordinary
equity holders of the Company 27
Basic EPS 41.3 377
Diluted EPS 41.2 376
Dividends paid 26
Prior year final dividend paid per ordinary share 18.0 17.5
Current year interim dividend paid per ordinary share 15.5 145

Notes appearing on pages 49 ta 111 to be read as part of the financial statements
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Coca-Cola Amatil Limited and its subsidiaries
As at 31 December 2007

CCA Group CCA Entity
Refer 2007 2006 2007 2006
Note M M M ™M
Current assets
Cash assets 7 3719.7 436.1 98 3075
-l Trade and other receivables 8 686.0 6777 0.4 10.7
< Inventories g9 646.0 6116 - -
Prepayments 44 495 31 2.2
: Current tax assets 49 4.7 - -
Derivatives 1 13.7 51.0 59 416
1,774.7 18306 419.2 362.0
Non-current assets held for sale 10 - 228 - -
Total current assets 1,7174.7 18534 4192 362.0
Non-current assets
Trade and other receivables 8 35 17.9 2,098.2 20266
Investment in joint venture entity " 16.4 1.2 158 15
Investments in securities 12 - - 24144 27447
Investments in bottlers’ agreements 13 9288 1,505.6 - -
Property, plant and equipment 14 1,302.6 1,4999 - -
Intangible assets 15 5128 4957 - -
Prepayments 136 211 15 08
Deferred tax assets 20 1.8 2.2 49 129
Derivatives 34 83.9 - 807 -
Total non-current assets 2.863.4 35436 4,615.5 4,786.5
Total assets 4,638.1 5.397.0 b.034.7 51485
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 17 436.2 4915 520.4 34
Interest bearing liabilities 18 1714 2784 170.3 165.7
Current tax liabilities 66.4 341 47.8 271
Provisions 19 85.9 737 29.8 205
Accrued charges 3313 306.7 17.9 185
Derivatives 3 420 169.8 15.0 149.1
Total current liabilities 1139.2 1,354.2 0.2 3853
Non-current liabilities
Trade and other payables 17 - 29 - 4787
Interest bearing liabilities 18 1,695.2 20775 16314 1,837.3
Provisions 19 12.7 615 7.0 10.8
Deferred tax liabilities 20 153.3 3279 - -
Defined benefit superannuation plan liabilities 71 36.6 323 15.1 35
Derivatives 34 160.3 70.0 1525 00
Total non-current liabilities 2,058.2 25721 1,806.0 2,400.3
Total liabilities 31974 3.926.3 2,607.2 27856
Net assets 1.440.7 1,4707 24215 2.362.9
Equity
Share capital 22 2,027.8 2,001 1 20278 20011
Shares held by equity compensation plans 23 {16.3) {152 - -
Reserves 24 250 139.2 64.8 34
{Accumulated losses)/retained earnings {595.8) (654.4) 3349 3277
Total equity 1,440.7 14707 24215 23629
Notes appearing on pages 49 to 111 to be read as part of the financial statements
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CGoca-Cola Amatil Limited and its subsidiaries
For the financial year ended 31 December 2007

CCA Group CCA Entity
Refer 2007 2006 2007 2006
Note M M M AV ]
Inflows/{outflows)
Cash flows from operating activities
Receipts from customers 4469.4 4,398.0 - -
Receipts from subsidianies for management and guarantee fees - - 108.6 438.4
Payments to suppliers and employees (3,672.2) (3,609.6) {117.9} (108.1)
Dividends received 11 14 17 187
Finance income received 246 195 1471 105.8
Interest and other finance costs paid (164.4) (170.4) (183.6} {167.1)
Income tax paid {141.5) (129.4) (81.2} (28.8)
Net cash flows from/{used in) operating activities before significant items 512.0 509.5 {125.3) 2589
Significant items Z 1.8 (41.7) - -
Net cash flows from/(used in} operating activities ic) 5239 468.4 {125.3) 258.9
Cash flows from investing activities
Proceeds from disposat of —
surplus South Korean properties 238 263 - -
land in Eastern Creek, Australia - 492 - -
ather property, plant and equipment 50 8.7 - -
investments in securities - 0.7 - -
right to Maxxium incentive payments 188 - - -
Return of share capital from subsidiaries - - - 12
Payments for —
additions of property. plant and equipment {291.8) (275.2} - 0.4)
additions of software development assets (8.5) (5.8} - -
acquisitions of entities and operations (net} -
current period acquisitions 32b) {14.9) {15.5) - -
prior period acquisitions — deferred amounts {(0.6) (9.5} - -
investment in joint venture entity (12.8} (1.5} (12.8) (1.5}
additions of other non-current assets (0.2} (0.7} - -
loan made during the period - (2.9} - {1.5)
Net cash flows used in investing activities before significant item (281.2) {226.2) (12.8) (2.2)
Significant item Be) 3518 - - -
Net cash flows from/{used in) investing activities 70.6 (226.2) (12.8) {2.2)
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from issue of shares 124 46 124 46
Proceeds from borrowings 2455 8848 - 5527
Borrowings repaid {666.8) (782.4) (259.7) (97.1)
Net decrease/{increase) in intragroup loans - - 635.5 {313.9)
Dividends paid 26a) {237.8) (225.2) {232.8) {2252
Net cash flows {(used in)/from financing activities {646.7) (118.2} 150.4 {78.9)
Net {decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents {52.2) 124.0 12.3 177.8
Cash and cash equivalents held at the beginning
of the financial year 4361 3138 307.5 129.7
Exchange rate adjustments to cash and cash equivalents
held at the beginning of the financial year (4.6) (1.7 - -
Cash and cash equivalents held at the end
of the financial year 7a} 37193 436.1 3198 307.5

Notes appearing on pages 49 to 111 to be read as part of the financial statements
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Coca-Cola Amatil Limited and its subsidiaries
For the financial year ended 31 December 2007

CCA Group Equity attributable to members of Coca-Cola Amatil Limited
Shares held
by equity
Share  compensation Accumulated Total
Refer capital plans Reserves' losses equity
Note $M ™ M M M

At 1 January 2007 2,001 (15.2) 1392 {654.9) 1,470.7
Transactions recognised directly in equity —
Fareign exchange differences —

on translation of foreign operations - - {89.5) - {89.5)

transfer to income statements cn disposal of operation be) - - {46.7) - {46.7)
Movement in —

unvested shares held by equity compensation plans - 1.1} (2.3) - {3.5)

share based remuneration plans - - 10.2 - 10.2

share hased payment - - 3.3) - (3.3}

fair value of cash flow hedges - - 115 - 115
Total of transactions recognised directly in equity - (1.1) 114.2) - (115.3)
Profit - - - N0z n0.?
Total changes in equity other than those
arising from transactions with equity holders - {1.1) {114.2) 3107 195.4
Transactions with equity holders —
Mavement in ordinary shares 22 26.7 - - - 26.7
Dividends appropriated 26 - - - {252.1} i252.1)
Total of transactions with equity holders 26.7 - - (252.1) {225.4)
At 31 December 2007 2,0278 {16.3} 250 (595.8} 1,440.7
At 1 January 2006 1,982.1 (11.9) 1518 (697.2) 14248
Transactions recognised directly in equity —
Foreign exchange differences on translation of
fareign operations— - - (6.5) - (6.5}
Movement in —

unvested shares held by equity compensation plans - {3.3) 25 - 0.8)

share based remuneration plans - - 47 - 47

share based payment - - {0.4) - (0.4)

fair value of cash flow hedges - - {129 - (12.9)
Total of transactions recognised directly in equity - {3.3) {12.6 - (15.9)
Profit - - - 282.4 2824
Total changes in equity other than those
arising from transactions with equity holders - (3.3} {12.6} 7824 266.5
Transactions with equity holders —
Movement in ordinary shares 22 190 - - - 19.0
Dividends appropriated 26 - - - {239.6) (239.6}
Total of transactions with equity holders 19.0 - - {239.6) (2206}
At 31 December 2006 2,001.1 {15.2) 139.2 {654.4) 1.470.7
1 Refer to Note 24.
Notes appearing on pages 49 to 111 to be read as part of the financial statements
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For the financial year ended 31 December 2007

CCA Entity Equity attributable to members of Coca-Cola Amatil Limited
Share Retained Total
Refer capital Reserves' earnings equity
Note M M M ™M
At 1 January 2007 20011 341 3217 2.362.9
Transactions recognised directly in equity —
Movement in —
share based remuneration plans - 8.7 - 8.7
share based payment - (3.3) - {3.3)
fair value of cash flow hedges - 253 - 253
Total of transactions recognised directly in equity - 30.7 - 30.7
Profit - - 2593 2593
Total changes in equity other than those arising from
transactions with equity holders - 307 2593 290.0
Transactions with equity holders -
Movement in ordinary shares 22 26.7 - - 26.7
Dividends appropriated 26 - - {252.1) {252.1)
Total of transactions with equity holders 26.7 - {Z52.1) (225.9)
At 31 December 2007 20218 64.8 3349 2,421.5
At 1 January 2006 1,982.1 12.1 3478 2,342.0
Transactiens recognised directly in equity —
tMavement in —
share hased remuneration plans - 44 - 4.4
share based payment - (0.4} - {0.4)
fair value of cash flow hedges - 18.0 - 18.0
Total of transactions recognised directly in equity - 22.0 - 220
Profit - - 2195 2195
Total changes in equity other than those arising from
transactions with equity holders - 22.0 2185 45
Transactions with equity holders -
Movement in ordinary shares 22 19.0 - - 19.0
Dividends appropriated 26 - - (239.6) {239.6)
Total of transactions with equity holders 19.0 - {239.6) {220.6)
At 31 December 2006 2,001.1 31 3217 2.362.9

1 Refer to Note 24.

Notes appearing on pages 49 to 111 to be read as part of the financial statements
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Coca-Cola Amatil Limited and its subsidiaries

For the financtal year ended 31 December 2007

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of financial report preparation

This general purpose financial report has been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards, other authoritative pronouncements of the
Australian Accounting Standards Board and the Corporations Act 2001

The financial report has been prepared on the basis of historical cost, except for derivative financial instruments which have been measured at fair value.
The carrying values of recognised assets and liabilities that are hedged with fair value hedges are adjusted to record changes in the fair valugs attributable

to the risks that are being hedged.

The financial report is presented in Australian Dollars and all values are rounded to the nearest tenth of a million dollars, unless otherwise stated under
the option available to the Company under ASIC Class Order No. 98/100. The Company is an entity to which the class order applies.

a} Statement of compliance

Australian Accounting Standards include Australian equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards (AIFRS). Compliance with AIFRS ensures that
the financial statements and notes thereto, comply with International Financial Reporting Standards (|FRS).

The Group has adopted AASB 7 “Financial Instruments; Disclosures™ and AASB 101 “Amendments — Presentation of Financial Statements”. The adoption
of these standards has only affected the disclosure in the financial statements. There has been no effect on profit and loss or the financial pesition of the

Group.

Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations that have been issued or amended but are not yet effective have not been early adopted by the Group

for the annual reporting period ended 31 December 2007. These are outlined in the table below.

Application Impact en Group Application date
Reference Title Summary date of standard’ financial report tor Group
AASB AASB 2 Group and Requires arrangements 1 Mar 2007 No impact on the Group 1 Jan 2008
Interpretation 11 Treasury Share Transactions  whereby the rights to an as the Group's accounting
entity’s equity instruments policy is to account for
to be accounted for as an such arrangements as
equity settled share based equity settled share
payment and provides based payments.
guidance on how
subsidiaries should account
for such arrangements
whereby the employees
receive rights to equity
instruments of the
parent entity.
AASB 2007 -4 Amendments to Australian  Removes the differences 1. Jul 2007 Unless the Group elects 1 Jan 2008
Accounting Standards between AIFRS and IFRS, to adopt the proportionate
Aiising from ED 151 other than those dealt with consolidation method for
and Other Amegndments in specific not-for-profit joint venture entities and
entity paragraphs and preparatian of cash flow
incorporates new accounting statements using the
pelicy options which includes “indirect method”, these
proportionate consolidation amendments are not
for jointly controtled entities expected to have any
and preparation of cash flow impact on the Graups
statements using the financial report.
“Indirect method”,
AASB AASB 119 The Limit on Provides clarification on 1 Jan 2008 No material impact on 1 Jan 2008
Interpretation 14 a Defined Benefit Asset, the limit of assets in an the Group as the Group's
Minimum Funding employer’s balance sheet defined benefit plans
Requirements and in respect of defined have immaterial pension
their Interaction benefit plans and how the assets and liabilities,
plan’s assets or liahilities including thase in
may be affected in fareign operations.
jurisdictions with minimum
funding requirements.
Refer to the following page for footnote details,
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For the financia! year ended 31 December 2007

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies continued
a) Statement of compliance continued

Application Impact on Group Application date
Reterence Title Summary date of standard® financial report for Group
AASE 8 (perating Segments New standard replacing 1 Jan 2009 AASE 8 is a disclosure 1 Jan 2009
AASB 114 "Segment standard so it will
Reporting”. have no direct material

impact on the amounts
included in the Group’s
financial report. However,
it will resuli in additional
disclosure included in the
Group’s financial report.

AASB 2007 -3 Amendments to Australian Amendments arise from 1 Jan 2009 As above, 1 Jdan 2009
Accounting Standards the release in Feb 2007
Arising from AASE 8 of AASB 8 “Operating
Segments”.
AASE 101 Presentation of Changes the references 1 Jan 2009 The amendments will 1 Jan 2009
Financial Statements used 1n Australian have no material impact
Accounting Standards on the amounts included
to better align with IFRS in the Group’s financial
terminclogy. report. It will only result

in changes in the references
used in the Group’s
financial repaort.

AASB 2007 - 8 Amendments to Australian  Amendments arise from 1 Jan 2009 As above. 1 Jan 2009
Accounting Standards the amendments to
arising from AASB 101 AASB 101 "Presentation
of Financial Statements”.

AASB 123 Borrowing Costs Eliminates from AASB 123 1 Jan 2009 No impact on the Group 1 Jan 2009
the option of recognising as the Group is currently
borrowing costs immediately adopting the practice
as an expense, to the extent of capitalising borrowing
that they are directly costs which are directly
attributable to the acquisition, attributable to the
construction or production of acquisition, construction
a qualifying asset. or production of qualifying
assets.
ASB 2007 -6 Amendments to Australian  Amendments arise from 1 Jan 2009 As above. 1 Jan 2009
Accounting Standards the amendments to
Avising from AASB 123 éASB 123 "Borrowing
osts”.

1 Application date for the annual reporting periods beginning on or after the date shawn in the above table.

b) Principles of consolidation

i) Subsidiaries

The cansolidated financial statements of the Group include the parent entity, Coca-Cola Amatil Limited and its subsidiaries. Subsidiaries include entities
over which the Group has the power to govem financial and operating policies.

The financial statements include the information and results of each subsidiary from the date on which the Company obtains contral and until such time as
the Company ceases to control the entity.

The purchase method of accounting is used to account for the acquisition of subsidiaries by the Group {refer to Note 1n)).
Investments in subsidiaries are measured initially at fair value and subsequently at cost less impairment.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the effects of all transactions, balances and unrealised gains and losses on transactions between
entigies in the Group have been eliminated.

The financial statements of subsidiaries have been prepared for the same reporting period as that of the parent entity, using consistent accounting policies.
Adjustments have been made to bring into ling any dissimilar accounting policies that may exist across the Group.
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1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
continued

b) Principles of consolidation continued

i} Joint venture entity

The investment in the joint venture entity is accounted for in the consolidated

financial statements using the equity method and is carried at cost by the

parent entity. Under the equity method, the share of the profits or losses of

the joint venture entity is recognised in the income statements, and the share

of movements in reserves is recagnised in reserves in the balance sheet,

Details relating to the joint venture entity are set out in Note 11.

Profits or losses on transactions establishing the joint venture entity and
transactions with the joint venture entity are eliminated to the extent of the
Group's ownership interest until such time as they are realised by the joint
venture entity on consumption or sale, unless they relate to an unrealised
loss that provides evidence of the impairment of an asset ransferred.

¢) Use of estimates

In conforming with AIFRS, the preparation of financial statements for the
Group requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect
the reported amaunts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, and the
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities in the financial statements and
accompanying nates. Although these estimates are based on management's
knowledge of current events and actions that may be undertaken in the
future, actual results may ultimately differ from estimates.

d) Segment reporting

A business segment is a group of assets and operations engaged in
providing products or services that are subject to risks and returns that are
different to those of other business segments. A geographica! segment is
engaged in providing products or services within a particular economic
environment and is subject to risks and returns that are different from
those of segments operating in other economic environments.

During the peried, CCA has changed the presentation and classification of
financial reporting by business and geographical segments. Refer to Note 2
for details.

e} Foreign currency translations

i} Functional and presentation currency

Bath the functional and presentational currency of Coca-Cola Amatil Limited
and its Australian subsidiaries is Australian Dollars. Each entity in the Group
determines its own functional currency and items included in the financial
statements of each entity are measured using that functional currency.

ii) Transactions and balances

Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded in the functional
currency by applying the exchange rates ruling at the date of the
transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rate of exchange ruling at the balance
sheet date. Exchange rate gains or losses are brought to account in
determining the net profit or loss in the period in which they arise, as are
exchange gains or losses relating to ¢ross currency swap transactions an
monetary items.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a
foreign currency are translated using the exchange rate as at the date of
the initial transaction. Non-monetary items measurad at fair value in a
foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when
the fair value was determined.

On consolidation, the assets and liabilities of foreign subsidiaries are
translated by applying the rate ruling at balance date and revenue and
expense items are translated at the average rate calculated for the period.
The exchange differences arising on the retranslation are taken directly to

equity within the foreign currency translation reserve. On disposal of a
foreign subsidiary, accumulated exchange differences are recognised in the
income statements as a component of the gain or loss on disposal.

f) Revenue

Revenue is recognised and measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable to tha extent that it is probable that economic
benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue can be reliably measured.
Revenue is recognised net of discounts, allowances and applicable
amaunts of value added taxes such as the Australian Goods and Services
Tax. The fellowing specific recognition criteria must also be met before
revenue is recognised —

i} Sale of gocds and materials

Revenue is recognised when the significant risks and rewards of ownership
of the goods have passed to the buyer and the amount of revenue can be
measured reliably. Risks and rewards of ownership are considered passed
to the buyer at the time of delivery of the goods to the customers;

ii} Rendering of services

Revenue from instaliation and maintenance of equipment is recognised
when the services have been performed and the amount can be measured
reliably;

iii}) Interest income
Interest income is recognised as the interest accrues using the effective
interest methad;

iv} Dividends
Dividends are recognised when the right to receive the payment is
established; and

v)] Rental income
Rental income arising from equipment hire is accounted for an a straight
line basis over the term of the rental contract.

Terms of trade in relation to credit sales are on a weighted average of 30
days from the date of invoice. The Group operates in a number of diverse
markets, and accordingly the terms of trade vary by country and business.

g} Finance costs
Finance costs are recognised as expenses in the periad in which they are
incurred, except where they are included in the costs of qualifying assets.

h) income tax

i} Current tax

Current tax liabifity or asset represents amounts payable or receivable in
relation to income taxes attributable to taxable profits of the current or
prior financial years, less instalments of income tax paid. The tax rates and
tax laws used to compute the amount are those that are enacied or
substantially enacted by the balance sheet date.

ii} Deferred tax

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised for temporary differences
at the tax rates expected o apply when the assets are recovered or
liabilities settled, based on those tax rates which are enacted or
substantially enacted for each jurisdiction.

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that management
considers it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against
which temporary differences can be utilised.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temperary differences,
except where the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction, other than a business combination,
and at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting profit nor
taxable profit or loss.
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For the financial year ended 31 December 2007

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
continued

h) Income tax continued

ii) Deferred tax continued

Deferred tax is provided on temporary differences arising on investments in

subsidiaries, except where the timing of the reversal of temporary

differences can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary

difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets and labilities are offset only when there is a legally
enforceable right to offset current tax assets and liabilities and when the
deferred tax balances relate to the same autharity. Current tax assets and
tax liabilities are offset where the entity has a legally enforceable right to
offset and intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset
and settle the liability simultaneously.

i} Cash and cash equivalents

Cash assets comprise cash on hand, deposits held at call with financial
institutions, other short term, and highly liquid investments with maturity of
three months or less that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash
and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. For the
purposes of the cash flow statements, cash and cash equivalents include
cash on hard and in banks and investments in money market instruments,
net of bank overdrafts.

ji Trade receivables

Trade receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest methad, less
allowance for doubtful receivables.

Coltectibility of trade receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis. The
carrying amount of the trade receivables is reduced through the use of an
allowance account and the amount of the loss is recognised in the income
statements. An allowance for doubtful receivables is established when
there is objective evidence that the Group will not be able to collect all
amounts due according to the original terms of receivables. The amount of
the allowance is the difference between the asset's carrying amount and
the present value of estimated future cash flows. When a trade receivable
is uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account for trade
receivables. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are
credited against other expenses in the income statements.

k) Inventories

Inventories including raw materials, work in progress and finished goods
are stated at the lower of cost {including fixed and variable factory
overheads where applicable} and net realisable value. Cost is determined
on the basis of first-in-first-out, average or standard, whichever is the most
appropriate in each case.

Net realisable valug is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of
business, less the cost of completion and selling expenses.

Costs of inventories include the transfer from equity of gains or losses on
qualifying cash flow hedges relating to inventory purchases.

1) Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operation
Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held for sale and
stated at the lower of their carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell
if their carrying amount wilk be recovered principally through a sale
transaction rather than through continuing use. An impairment loss is
recognised for any initial or subsequent write down of the assets and
disposal group to fair value less costs 1o sell.

Non-current assets are not depreciated or amortised while they are
classified as held for sale. Interest and other expenses attributable to the
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liabilities of a disposal group classified as held for sale continue to be
recognised.

A discontinued operation is a component of the entity that has been
disposed of or is classified as held for sale and that represents a separate
major line of business or geographical area of operations, is part of a
single coordinated plan to dispose of such a ling of business or area of
operations, or is a subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view to resale.
The results of the discontinued operation are presented separately on the
face of the income statements.

m} Financial assets

The Group classifies its financial assets as either “fair value through the
income statements™ or as “loans and receivables”. The classification
depends on the purpose for which the financial asset was acquired.

When financial assets are recognised initially, they are measured at fair
value, plus, in the case of assets not at fair value through the income
statements, directly attributable transaction costs. Investments in
subsidiaries, as recorded in the CCA Entity financial statements, are
accounted for at cost.

Recognition and derecognition

Ali regular purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the
trade date i.e. the date that the Group commits to purchase the asset.
Regular purchases and sales of financial assets under contracts that
require delivery of the assets within the period are established generally by
regulation or convention in the market place. Financial assets are
derecognised when the right to receive cash flows from the financial
assets has expired or been transferred.

i} Financial assets ai fair value through the income statemenis

Financial assets at fair value through the income statements are financial
assets held for trading. A financial asset is classified in this category if
acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the short term. Derivatives
are classified as held for trading unless they are designated as hedges.
Assets in this category are classified as current assets.

ii} loans and receivables

toans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or
determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market, Such
assets are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest rate
method. They are included in current assets, except for those with
maturities greater than iwelve months after the balance date which are
classified as non-current assets. Loans and receivables are included in
trade and other receivables in the balance sheet.

The fair value of all financial assets is based on an active market price. If
the market for a financial asset is not active, the Group establishes fair
value by using valuation techniques. These include reference to the fair
values of recent arms length transactions, involving the same instruments
or other instruments that are substantially the same, discounted cash flow
analyses, and aption pricing models refined to reflect the specific
circumstances.

n} Business combinations

The purchase method of accounting is used to account for all business
combinations regardless of whether equity instruments or other assets are
acquired. The cost of an acquisition is measured at fair value of the assets
given up, shares issued or liabilities undertaken at the date of acquisition
plus costs directly attributable to the acquisition. The excess of the cost of
acquisition over the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired
is recorded as goodwill. If the cost of acquisition is less than the fair value
of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired, the difference is recognised
directly in the income statements.




1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
continued

o) Investments in bottlers’ agreements

Investments in bottlers” agreements are catried at cost.

Investments in hottlers’ agreements are not amortised as they are
considered to have an indefinite life but are tested annually for any
impairment in the carrying amount. Refer to Note 16 for details of
impairment testing on investments in bottlers” agreements.

p) Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses. Subsequent
expenditure is added to the carrying value of the asset when it is probable
that future economic benefits, in excess of the original assessed standard
of performance of the existing asset, will flow to the operation. All other
subsequent expenditure is expensed in the period in which it is incurred.

Property, plant and equipment, other than freehold land, is depreciated or
amortised on a straight line basis at various rates dependent upon the
estimated average useful life for that asset to the Group. The estimated
useful lives of each class of asset are as follows —

Freehold and leasehold buildings
Plant and equipment

20 to 50 years
3 to 15 years

The estimation of the useful lives has been based on historical experience as
well as manufacturers’ warranties {for plant and equipment), lease terms {for
leased equipment) and turnover policies {for motor vehicles). In addition, the
condition of the assets is assessed every year and considered against the
remaining useful life. Depreciation charges are noted in Note 14.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or
when no future economic benefits are expected to arise from the continued
use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset
{calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the item) is included in the income statements in the
financial year the item is derecognised.

q) Leased assets

Leases are classified at their inception as either finance or operating
leases based on the economic substance of the arrangement so as to
reflect the risks and benefits incidental to ownership.

Finance leases are those which effectively transfer from the lessor to the
lessee substantially all the risks and benefits incidental to awnership of the
leased property. There are no material finance leases within the Group.

Operating leases are those where the lessor effectively retains
substantially all the risks and benefits incidental to ownership of the
leased property. Operating lease payments are charged to the income
statements on a straight line basis over the lease term. Refer to Note 4 for
details. Lease income from operating leases is recognised as income on a
straight line basis over the Iease term. Refer to Note 3 for details.

r) intangible assets

i} Identifiable intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately are capitalised at cost and from a
business combination are capitalised at fair value as at the date of
acquisition. Following initial recognition, the cost model is applied to each
class of intangible asset. The useful lives of these intangible assets are
assessed to be either finite or indefinite. Where amortisation is charged on
assets with finite lives, this expense is taken to the income statements and
charged on a straight line basis.

Intangible assets, excluding software development assets, created within
the business are not capitalised and costs are taken to the income
statements when incurred.

Intangible assets with indefinite lives are tested for impairment at least
annually at the cash generating unit level. Useful lives are also examined
on an annual basis and adjustments, where applicable, are made an a
prospective basis.

Software develapment costs incurred on an individual project are carried
forward when future recoverability can reasonably be assured. Following
the initial recognition of software development assets, the cost model is
applied requiring the asset to be carried at cost less any accumulated
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. Any costs carried
forward are amartised over the assets’ useful economic lives.

The carrying value of software development assets is reviewed for
impairment annually when an asset is not in use or more frequently when
an indicator of impairment arises during a reporting period indicating that
the carrying value may not be recoverable.

Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset are
measured as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset and are recognised in the income statements
when the asset is derecognised.

The estimated useful lives of existing finite intangible assets are as follows —

Customer lists 5to 10 years

Brand names 40 years
Intellectual property 5 years
Software development assets 1to 7 years

i} Goodwill

Goodwill is the excess of the cost of an acquisition over the fair value of
the net assets acquired. Goodwill is not amortised but will be tested
annually or more frequently if required, for any impairment in the carrying
amount. Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of
the cash generating unit to which the goodwill refates.

Goodwill arising on the acquisition of subsidiaries is treated as an asset of
the subsidiary. These balances are denominated in the currency of the
subsidiary and are translated to Austratian Dollars on a consistent basis
with the other assets and liabilities heid by the subsidiary.

s} Impairment of assets

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether there is an indication
that an asset may be impaired. Where an indicator of impairment exists or
where annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the Group makes
a formal estimate of the recoverable amount, An impairment loss is
recognised for the amount by which the carrying amount of an asset
exceeds recoverable amount, which is defined as the higher of an asset’s
fair value less costs to sell, or value in use. For the purpose of assessing
impairment, assets are grouped at the level for which there are separately
identifiable cash flows.

An impairment loss is recognised in the income statements. Non-financial
assets other than goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed for
possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting date.

1} Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are carried at amortised cost. Liabilities are
brought to account for amaunts payable in relation to goods received and
services rendered, whether or not billed to the Group at reporting date. The
Group operates in a number of diverse markets, and accordingly the terms
of trade vary by country and business.
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1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
continued
u} Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or
constructive obligation as a result of a past event, and it is probable that
an outflow of ecanomic benefits will be required to settle the obligation
and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.
Where the Group expects a provision to be reimbursad, the reimbursement
is recognised as a separate asset but only when the reimbursement is
virtually certain. Provisions are measured at the present value of
management’s best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the
present obligation at the balance sheet date. Where material, the effect of
the time value of maney is taken into account in measuring provisions by
discounting the expected future cash flows at a rate which reflects both
the risks specific to the fiability, and current market assessments of the
time value of money. Where discounting is applied, increases in the
balance of provisions attributable to the passage of time are recognised as
an interest cost.

v) Employee benefits

i} Wages and salaries, annual leave, sick leave and other benefits
Provision is made for employee benefits accumulated as a result of
employees rendering services up to balance date including related on-
costs. The benefits include wages and salaries, annual leave, sick leave,
incentives, compensated absences and other benefits, which are charged
against profits in their respective expense categories when services are
provided or benefits vest with the employee. The provision for employee
benefits is measured at the remuneration rates expected ta be paid when
the liahility is settled.

ii] Long service leave

The liability for long service leave is recognised in the provision for
employee benefits and measured as the present value of expected future
payments to be made in respect of services provided by employees up to
the reporting date using the projected unit credit method. Consideration is
given to expected future wage and salary levels, experience of employee
departures and pericds of service, Expectad future payments are
discounted using market yields at the reporting date on national
govermnment bonds with erms to maturity and currency that match, as
closely as possible, the estimated fuiure cash ouiflows.

iii) Pensions and post retirement benefits

The Group eperates a number of defined benefit and defined contribution
superannuation plans. The defined benefit plans are made up of both
funded and unfunded ptans. The assets of funded schemes are held in
separate trustee-administered funds and are financed by payments from
employees and/or the relevant Group companies, after taking into account
the recommendations of independent qualified actuaries.

For defined benefit plans, pension costs are assessed using the projected
unit credit method. Under the “corridar” approach, actuarial gains and
losses are recognised as income or expense, when the cumulative
unrecognised actuarial gains or losses for each individual plan exceed 10%
of the defined benefit obligation or the fair value of plan assets, in
accordance with the valuations made by qualified actuaries. The defined
benefit obligations are measured at the present value of the estimated
future cash flows using interest rates on government bonds, which have
terms to maturity approximating the terms of the related liability. Actuarial
gains and losses arising from expenience adjustments or changes in
assumgtions are recognised over the average remaining service lives of
employees. Past service cost is recognised immediately to the extent that
the benefits are already vested and otherwise amortised over the average
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remaining service lives of the employees. Refer to Note 21 for further
details on the Group’s defined benefit plans.

The Group’s contributions made te defined contribution superannuation
plans are recognised as an expense when they are due.

iv) Equity compensation plans

No expense is recognised in respect of share options granted before 7
November 2002 and/or vested before 1 January 2005. The shares are
recognised when the options are exercised and the proceeds received are
allocated to share capital.

Employer contributions to the Employees Share Plan are charged as an
employee benefits expense over the vesting period. Any amounts of
unvested shares held by the trust are controlled by the Group until they
vest and are recorded at cast in the balance sheets within equity as shares
held by equity compensation plans until they vest. The amounts relating to
the unvested obligation are recorded at balance date within equity as an
adjustment to the equity compensation reserve until they vest. No gain or
loss is recognised in the income statements on the purchase, sale, issue or
cancellation of CCA's own equity instruments.

Shares granted under the Long Term Incentive Share Plan are measured by
reference to the fair value of the shares at the date at which they are
granted. The fair value is determined by an external valuer using the Monte
Carlo simulation methodology. The cost of shares is charged as an
employee benefits expense over the vesting period together with a
corresponding increase in the equity compensation reserve, ending on the
date on which the relevant employees become entitled to the award. Refer
ta Note 25 for further details on Long Term Incentive Share Plan.

The cumulative expense recognised for equity settled transactions at each
reporting date until vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting
period has expired and CCA's best estimate of the number of equity
instruments that will ultimately vest. No adjustment is made for the
likelihood of market performance conditions being met as the effect of
these conditions is included in the determination of fair value at grant date.
The income statements charge or credit for a period represents the
movement in cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning and end
of that period.

No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately vest, except for
awards where vesting is enly conditional upon a market condition.

w) Share capital

Issued and paid up capitat is recognised at the fair value of the
cansideration received by the Company, less transaction costs, net of tax.

x) Derivative financial instruments

The Group holds a number of different financial instruments to hedge risks
relating to underlying transactions. The Group's major exposure to interest
rate risk and foreign currency risk arises from the Group's long term
borrowings and commaodity exposures in foreign currency. The Group is also
exposed to commodity price volatility in certain raw materials used in the
business. Details of the Group's hedging activities are provided below.

The Group designates certain derivatives as either —

* hedges of the fair value of recognised liabilities {fair value hedges}; or

* hedges of foreign currency risk associated with recognised liabilities or
highly probable forecast transactions {cash flow hedges).

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date derivative
contracts are entered into and are subsequently remeasured at fair value.

The terms and conditions in relation the Group's derivative instruments are
similar to the terms and conditions of the underlying hedged items. As at
3% December 2007, the Group’s hedge relationships were effective.




1. Summary of Significant Accounting Paolicies
continued
x} Derivative financial instruments continued

Hedge accounting

The Group designates certain derivative transactions as either fair value
hedges or cash flow hedges. Hedges of foreign exchange rate risk on firm
commitments are accounted for as cash flow hedges.

The Group documents at inception of the transaction the relationship
between hedging instruments and hedged items, as well as its risk
management objective and strategy for undertaking varicus hedge
transactions. The process includes finking all derivative financial
instruments designated to specific firm commitments or forecast
transactions. The Group also documents its assessment both at the hedge
inception and on an ongoing basis, of whether the derivative financial
instruments that are used in hedge accounting are highly effective in
offsetting changes in fair value or cash flows of hedged items.

Changes in the fair values of derivative financial instruments not qualifying
for hedge accounting, and for discontinued hedges are reported in the
income statements.

Fair value hedges

During the accounting period, the Group held cross currency and interest
rate swaps to mitigate exposures to changes in the fair value of foreign
currency denominated debt from fluctuations in foreign currency and
interest rates. The hedged items designated were a portion of the Group's
foreign currency denominated borrowings. The changes in fair values of the
hedged items resulting from movements in exchange rates and interest
rates are offset against the changes in the value of the cross currency and
interest rate swaps. The objective of this hedging is to convert foreign
currency borrowings to floating Australian Dollar barrowings. Accordingly,
at inception, no significant portion of the change in fair value of the cross
currency interest rate swap is expected to be ineffective.

Gains or losses from remeasuring the fair value of the hedge instruments
are recognised within “net finance costs” in the income statements,
together with gains and losses in relation to the hedged item where those
gains or losses relate 1o the hedged risks. The hedge refationship is
expected to be highly effective because the notional amount of the cross
currency interest rate swap coincides with that of the underlying debt, and
all cash flow and reset dates coincide between the borsowing and the
swaps.

The effectiveness of the hedging relationship is tested prospectively and
retrospectively by means of cumulative dollar offset effectiveness
calculations. The primary objective is to determine if changes to the
hedged item and the derivative are highly correlated and, thus supportive
of the assertion that there will be a high degree of offset in fair values
achieved by the hedge.

Cash flow hedges

Cash flow hedges are used to hedge exposures relating to the Group's
borrowings and ongoing business activities, where the Group has highly
probable purchase or settlement commitments in foreign currencies.

During the year, the Group entered into forward foreign currency contracis
and bought currency options contracts as cash flow hedges to hedge
forecast commodity transactions and capital expenditure requirements
denominated in foreign currency which hedge foreign currency risk arising
from spot rate changes. The hedged items comprised highty probable
forecast foreign currency commodity related payments for the Group's
operations and capital items,

The Group also entered into interest rate swap contracts and bought
interest rate options contracts as cash flow hedges of future payments
denominated in local currency resulting from the Group’s long term
overseas borrowings denominated in local currency. The hedged items
designated were a portion of the outflows associated with these overseas
borrowings denominated in local currency.

The Group enters into futures, swaps and option contracts as cash flow
hedges to hedge forecast commaodity exposures. The hedged items
designated are certain raw materials used to produce finished product. The
commodity hedges which are designated and documented in a hedge
relationship are brought to account in the income statements over the lives
of the hedge transaction depending on hedge effectiveness testing
outcomes and when the underlying exposure impacts eamnings. Any cost or
benefit resulting from the hedge forms part of the carrying value of
inventaries.

y) Interest hearing liabilities and other borrowings

All loans and borrowings are initially recognised at fair value of the
consideration received net of transaction costs associated with the
borrowing.

After initial recognition, interest bearing toans and borrowings are
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any issue
costs, and any discount or premium on sgttlement.

Fair vatue hedging is applied to certain interest bearing liabilities and other
borrowings {refer to Note 1x)). In such instances, the resulting fair value
adjustments mean that the carrying value differs from amortised cost.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an
unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least twelve
months after the balance sheet date.

2z} Dividends
Dividends are recognised when an obligation to pay a dividend arises,
following declaration of dividends by the Company’s Board of Directors.

aa) Earnings per share (EPS)

Basic EPS is calcufated as profit attributable to members of the Company
divided by the weighted average number of ordinary shares, adjusted for
any bonus element.

Diluted EPS is calculated as profit attributable to members of the Company
divided by the weighted average number of ordinary shares and dilutive
potential ordinary shares, adjusted for any bonus element.
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2. Financial Reporting by Business and Geographic Segments

The Group operates in two business segments, being the Beverage business and Food & Services business. The Beverage business is further divided into
non-alcoholic and alcoholic business. Within the non-alcoholic beverage business, the Group manufactures, distributes and markets carbonated soft drinks,
CCA'’s aleohalic business distributes premium beer brands for Pacific Beverages Pty Ltd, the joint venture entity CCA formed with SABMiller plc in August
2006. From April 2007, Pacific Beverages Pty Ltd began selling and distributing the premium spirit portfolio of global distributor Maxxium,

The Food & Services segment comprises the SPC Ardmona (SPCA), Neverfail, Quirks and Grinders businesses. Within the Food & Services segment, the
Group processes and markets fruit and other food products, provides cold drink equipment to the Australian Beverage business and third party cusiomers
and distributes bulk water and coffee products. The Feod & Services segment was established following the outcome of the strategic review announced in
Agpril 2007. This arrangement is intended to provide management with a greater focus on managing CCA's fower volume and non-trade operations while
maintaining the integration benefits made post acquisition.

The Neverfail, Quirks and Grinders businesses were previously included as part of the Australian Beverage segment. The Food & Services segment is now
reported as a new segment replacing the previous SPCA segment.

Accordingly, 2006 comparative segment information has been restated in accordance with the amended reporting basis for the new segments as outlined
abave. The restatement has resulted in no adjustment to CCA Group totals for the information reported in this note.

2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006
M M L1 M M M
Total revenues
Trading revenue Other revenue before finance income
Beverage business
Australia 23995 2,198.9 52.2 40.0 2451.7 2,2389
New Zealand & Fiji 454.3 416.3 26 058 456.9 4169
Indonesia & PNG 491.8 4708 74 4.1 499.2 4749
Total Beverage 3.345.6 3.086.0 62.2 447 34078 3,130.7
Food & Services business
Australia 586.2 555.6 232 18.3 609.4 573.9
Total Food & Services 586.2 8556 232 18.3 609.9 5739
Total continuing operations 39318 36416 85.4 63.0 40172 3,704.6
Discontinued operation’ 461.4 M5 206 45 482.0 716.0
Total CCA Group 4,393.2 43531 106.0 675 44992 4,420.6
Earnings before Segment result -
interest, tax and earnings before
significant items Significant items? interest and tax
Beverage business
Australia 446.0 3973 - - 446.0 397.3
New Zealand & Fiii 718 65.1 - - 718 65.1
Indonesia & PNG 368 176 - - 36.8 176
560.6 480.0 - - 560.6 480.0
Share of net profit{loss) of
joint venture entity 0.8 0.3) - - 08 {0.3}
Total Beverage 561.4 4787 - - 561.4 479.7
Food & Services business
Australia 81.0 Bz8 - - 810 828
Total Food & Services 82.0 828 - - 87.0 B2.8
Total continuing operations 648.4 562.5 - - 648.4 562.5
Discontinued operation’ 4.7 i8.0 {59.4) (41.} {54.7) {23.1)
Total CCA Group 653.1 5805 {59.4) {41.1} 593.7 5394

Aefer to the {ollowing page for footnote details.
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2. Financial Reporting by Business and Geographic Segments continued

Depreciation and

Other non-cash

2007 2008 2007 2006 2007 2006
M M M $M M ™
Assets Liahilities Net assets
Beverage business
~ Australia 1.765.3 15714 666.9 605.8 1.098.4 965.6
New Zealand & Fiji 532.1 478.4 93.0 79.8 439.1 3986
indonesia & PNG 3557 3917 1147 1139 2010 2778
26531 24415 8746 799.5 17785 1,642.0
Investment in joint venture entity 16.4 12 - - 164 1.2
2.669.5 24427 87456 7995 1,794.9 1.643.2
Food & Services husiness
Australia 1,580.0 1,518.0 1123 108.8 1,461.7 1.409.2
Total Food & Services 1.580.0 1.518.0 123 108.8 1,467.7 1,409.2
Total continuing operations 4,249.5 3,960.7 986.9 908.3 3,262.6 30524
Discontinued operation’ - 987.7 - 1317 - 856.0
Assets and liabilities excluded
from above® 388.6 448.6 2,2105 2.886.3 (1,821.9) (2.437.7)
Total CCA Group 4,638.1 5397.0 31974 3.926.3 1.440.7 1.470.7
Additions and

acquisitions of

amortisation expenses expenses non-current assets”
Beverage business
Australia 39.6 514 535 70.2* 1333 728
New Zealand & Fiji 16.7 17.4 104 6.8 69.7 58.5
Indonesia & PNG 326 385 14.4 105 348 389
Total Beverage 889 107.3 78.3 875 2318 170.2
Food & Services business
Australia 60.9 55.0 232 131 749 1247
Total Food & Services 60.9 55.0 232 131 749 1247
Total continuing operations 1498 162.3 1ms 100.6 n2g 79489
Discontinued aperation' 210 1849 17 217 154 198
Total CCA Group 176.8 2012 1132 122.3 J28.1 347

1

2

Discantinued operation refers to the South Korean business which was discontinued on 24 October 2007. This business was previously part of the Beverage segment within CCA Group. Refer to

Note 6 for further details.
Significant items include the following —

2007 2006

S M

Product rehabilitation costs relating to the 2005 extortion threat in South Korea 57 148

insurance claim proceeds refating to the 2008 extortion threat in South Korea 17.6) 1.0
{11.9) 133

Impairment of the investment in bottlers’ agreement in South Korea 5.0 -
Loss recognised on disposal of the South Korean business 46.3 -
Early retirement plan expenses in South Korea - 212
59.4 1.1

Assets and liabilities shown against each segment exclude current and deferred tax bafances and assets and liabilities which relate to the Group's financing activity.
This amount has been restated {increasedt by $7 6 million as certain labour refated expenses were reclassified into employee benefits expenses. This amount is now stated on a consistent basis

with the 2007 amount.

Non-current assets comprise investment in foint venture entity, investments in bottlers” agreements, property, plant and equipment and intangible assets for this disclosure.
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CCA Group CCA Entity
Refer 2007 2006 2007 2006
Note M ™ M ™M
3. Revenues
Trading revenue from continuing operations
Sales of -
beverage products 34311 3.161.3 - -
food products 445.2 4729.4 - -
equipment 215 201 - -
Total sates 3,898.8 36108 - -
Rental of equipment 330 308 - -
Total trading revenue 398 164186 - -
Other revenue from continuing operations
Sales of materials and consumables 1.0 331 - -
Rendering of services 538 6.4 - -
Miscellaneous rental and sundry income 295 221 - -
Management and guarantee fees from subsidiaries 35 - - 108.4 438.3
Dividend income from —
subsidiaries 36 - - 6Mn3 205
other corparations 1.1 14 - -
Total other revenue 85.4 63.0 9.2 4588
Total revenues, excluding finance income 4,017.2 3.704.6 7.7 458.8
Interest income from —
subsidiaries 36 - - 124.5 91.5
non-related parties 246 17.8 23.2 155
Total finance income 246 17.8 142.7 107.0
Total revenues 4,041.8 3724 921.4 565.8
4. Expenses
Prafit from continuing operations before income tax includes the following
specific expenses —
Cost of goods sold for -
beverages products 1,790.7 1,650.8' - -
food products 3529 314.0 - -
equipment 16.5 15.7 - -
rental of equipment — directly attributable expenses 11 58 - -
materials and consumables - 282 - -
Total cost of goods sold 2,151.2 20145 - -
Interest costs from —
subsidiaries 36 - - 293 314
non-related parties 162.9 158.81 150.6° 130.4°
Other finance costs/{gains) 0.7 {4.1) - -
Total finance costs 163.6 154.7 179.9 161.8
Amounts capitalised {6.6} 2.4} - -
Total finance costs expensed 1570 1523 179.9 161.8

1 Includes hedging gains of $1.3 million {2006: $31.0 million) transterred from the cash flow hedging reserve.
2 Includes hedging losses of $1.0 méllion (2006: gains of $1.9 million) on interest rate and cross curency swaps transferred from the cash flow hedging reserve.
3 Includes hedging losses of $1.1 million (2006: $0.5 million) on interest rate and cross currency swaps transferred from the cash flow hedging reserve.
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CCA Group CCA Entity

Refer 2007 2006 2007 2006
Note M $M M M
4. Expenses continued
Profit from continuing operations before income tax includes the
following specific expenses —
Depreciation expense 1432 157.4 - 25
Amortisation expense 6.6 49 - -
Bad and doubtful debts expense — trade receivables 31 8.7 - -
Renta!s — operating leases 173 63.9 1.6 17
Defined benefit superannuation plan expenses 211) 114 15.1 6.6 26
Defined contribution superannuation plan expenses 39.0 343 9.1 6.9
Employees Share Plan expenses 48 52 1.2 1.1
Equity compensation plan expenses 24b) 96 49 8.1 46
Employee benefits expense 123 61.6 21.2 15.0
Net foreign exchange gains 4.1y (12.3) (4.4F (13.1p
Write down of inventories to net realisable valug 6.3 1.1 - -
(Profit)/loss from disposal of
land in Eastern Creek, Australia - (13.4) - -
other property, plant and equipment 138 2.1 - -
software development assets 0.6 - - -
5 investments in securities - (0.7} - -
;' right to Maxxium incentive payments 18.8) - (18.8) -
| Impairment of intangible assets 15 128 59 - -
| Impairment cf property, plant and equipment 14 15 239 - -
Impairment of investment in subsidiary® - - ing -

! 4 Includes hedging losses of $0.3 million (2006: gains of $0.1 million} transferred from the cash flow hedging reserve, and gains on derivatives not qualifying as hedges of $5.2 million
[2006: $14.3 miltion).
5 Includes gains on derivatives not qualifying as hedges of $5.8 million {2006: $13.1 million).
6  Relates to impairment on CCKBC Holdings Ltd. Refer to Note 31 for details on investments in subsidiaries.
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CCA Group CCA Entity
Refer 2007 2006 2007 2006
Note ™ M M M
5. Income Tax Expense
a} Income tax expensef{benefit)
Current tax expense/ibenefit) 173.7 114.2 {10.9) B46
Deferred tax {benefit)/expense 20b) (29.3) 6.9 (0.6} (5.2)
Adjustments for current tax of prior periods 0.2 {7.5} 37 {4.0)
144.6 1136 (1.8) 754
Income tax expense/{banefit) is attributable 1o —
Continuing operations 148.4 14,4 (7.8) 75.4
Discantinued operation 6b) (33) (0.8) - -
144.6 1136 (7.8) 154
b) Reconciliation of income tax expense/f{benefit)
to prima facie tax payable
Prefit from continuing operations before income tax 516.0 428.0 2515 2949
Loss from discontinued operation before income tax 6b} (60.7) {32.0) - -
4553 396.0 2315 2949
Prima facie income tax expense on profit at the Australian rate of 30% 136.6 1188 75.5 885
Tax effect of permanent differences —
Non-allowable expenses 5 28 0.2 -
Non-assessable dividends - - (201.8) (B.1)
Tax offset for franked dividends {0.3) {0.4) - -
Other items 20 0.8 14 0.1
Impairments of —
investment in subsidiary - - 114 -
goodwill 19 - - -
Loss on disposa! of the South Korean business 11.0 - - -
(Overseas tax rates differential 23 7.8 - -
Overseas withholding tax (16.8) 9.1) - -
Share of ret (profit)/loss of joint venture entity 0.3 0.1 - -
Deductible temporary differences from —
maovement in derecognised amounts {a.n B3 - -
utilisation of previously unrecognised tax losses - (2.0} - (2.9
derecognition of deferred tax assets 30 - 14 -
Adjustments for current tax of prior periods 0.2 (7.5} 37 (4.0)
Change in averseas tax rate 0.2 - - -
Income tax expense/{benefit) 1446 1136 (7.8} 754

¢} Australian tax consolidation

CCA has formed a consolidated group for income tax purposes, effective on and from 1 January 2003, with each of its wholly owned Austratian

subsidiaries.

CCA, as the head entity, and the subsidiaries in the tax consofidated group continue o account for their own current and deferred tax amounts. The

amounts are measured as if each entity in the tax consolidated group continues to be a stand alone taxpayer in its own right. The current tax balances are

then transferred to CCA (being the head entity] via intercompany balances.

The method used to measure current and deferred tax amounts is summarised in Note 1h).

The entities within the Group have entered a tax funding arrangement whereby each subsidiary will compensate CCA for the amount of tax payable that

wauld be calculated as if the subsidiary was a tax paying entity.
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5. Income Tax Expense continued
¢} Australian tax consolidation continued
In preparing the financial statements for CCA, the {ollowing amounts have been recognised as tax consolidation compensation adjustments —

CCA Entity
2007 2005
M ™
Total increase/{decrease) in amounts receivable from subsidiaries 107.2 (41.6)
Total {decreasel/increase in amounts payable to subsidiaries {2.3) 16.7

6. Discontinued Operation
a) Details of the disposed business

On 20 August 2007, CCA announced that it had signed a formal sale and purchase agreement with LG Household & Health Care Ltd (LGH&H) for the sale of
CCA’s South Korean business. The disposal of the South Korean business was completed on 24 October 2007, on which date control of the business passed
to LGH&H.

The following subsidiaries were disposed of and are therefore included as part of the discontinued operation as reported in this financial report —

CCKBC {Netherlands) Holding | BV;
CCKBC {Netherlands) Hofding Il BV: and
Coca-Cola Korea Bottling Company, Ltd.

Refer to Note 31 for further details.

b} Financial performance of the disposed business
The results of the discontinued operation for the year until disposal (and full year comparatives) are presented as follows —

Refer 2007 2006
Note L4 ™
Revenues, excluding finance income 482.0 716.0
Expenses, excluding finance costs {536.7) {739.1)
Earnings before interest and tax
Before significant items 4.7 18.0
Significant items? {59.4) 41.1}
2 4.7 {23.1}
Net finance costs
Finance cost (6.5} {115}
Finance income 0.5 2.6
{6.0) {8.9}
Loss from discontinued operation before income tax 5h) (60.7} (32.0}
Income tax henefit -
Before significant items - 0.8
Significant items’ 38 -
5a) 38 08
{Loss)/profit from discontinued operation after income tax
Before significant items (1.3) 99
Significant jtems!' (55.6) {41.1}
{56.9} (31.2)

Refer to the following page for foctnote details.
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6. Discontinued Operation continued

b) Financial performance of the disposed business continued
1 2007 significant items include the following —

Income tax
{benefit}
Pre tax fexpense Net of tax
M M M
Product rehabilitation costs relating 1o the 2006 extorticn threat in South Korea 57 - 57
Insurance claim proceeds relating to the 2006 extertion threat in South Karea (17.6) - (17.6)
1119 - (i1.8)
Impairment of the investment in bottlers' agreement in South Korea 5.0 69} 18.1
Loss recognised on disposal of the South Korean business 46.3 31 49.4
53.4 (3.8} 55.6
2006 significant items include the following —
Product rehabilitation costs refating to the 2006 extortion threat in South Korea 149 - 149
Insturance claim proceeds relating to the 2006 extortion threat in South Korea 1.0} - 1.0)
139 - 139
Early retirament plan expenses in South Korea 272 - 72
41 - 413
Refer 2007 2006
Note M ™
¢) Cash flow information of the disposed business
Net cash flows from operating activities before significant items 288 12.3
Significant items 6h) 119 (41.1)
Net cash flows from/{used in) operating activities 40.7 {28.8)
Net cash flows {rom investing activities before significant item 6.8 9.2
Significant item Be} 3518 -
Net cash flows from investing activities 358.6 9.2
Net cash flows (used in)ffrom financing activities {56.3) 1.2
Net increase/{decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 343.0 (8.4}
Cash and cash equivalents held at the beginning of the financial year 255 336
Exchange rate adjustments to cash and cash equivalents hefd at the
beginning of the financial year 2.7 03
Total cash and cash eguivalents attributable to the discontinued operation 365.8 255
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Refer 2007
Note M
6. Discontinued Operation continued
d) Assets and liabilities of the disposed business
The carrying amounts of assets and liabilities disposed as at 24 October 2007 are —
Assets
Cash assets 1.0
Trade and other receivables 67.6
Inventaries s
Prepayments 59
Non-current assets held for sale 10 219
Investments in bottlers’ agreements 13 4828
Property, plant and equipment 14 2123
Intangible assets 15 0.4
Total assets 836.7
Liabilities
Trade and other payables 491
Interest bearing liabilities 104.0
Provisions 441
Accrued charges 17.2
Deferred tax hiabilities 20 132.8
Total liabilities 347.2
Net assets Be} 489.5
e} Details of the sale of the disposed business
Consideration received or receivable
Cash 3715.6
Deferred sale proceeds’ 8 386
Total disposal consideration 4142
Carrying amount of net assets sold ] (489 5)
Direct costs relating to the disposal (11.7}
Foreign currency translation reserve 24b) 46.7
Loss on disposal before income tax {46.3}
Income tax expense (3.1}
Loss on disposal after income tax {49.4)
2 Relates to the escrow amount over which LGH&H has until 24 October 2008 the right to claim and receive payment
on resotved claim issues. On 24 October 2008, the remaining escrow amount, less any amounts attributable to
unresolved claims, is to be raceived by CCA. By 24 April 2009, CCA will receive any remaining escrow amount.
The escrow amount is recorded as a "current receivable” in the balance sheet as at 31 December 2007,
In accordance with the sale and purchase agreement, any claims made by LGHEH are not limited 10 the balance
of the escrow amount.
Net cash inflow on disposal
Cash consideration 3756
Cash assets disposed of 6d) (14.0)
Direct costs relating to the disposal paid (9.8)
Refiected in the cash flow statement 351.8
2007 2006
5 ¢
f) Contribution to earnings per share (EPS) by the discontinued operation
Basic EPS (1.5) {4.2)
Diluted EPS (1.5 (4.2)
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CCA Group CCA Entity
Refer 2007 2006 2007 2006
Note M M M M
1. Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash on hand and in banks 353.2 2191 296.8 1205
Short term deposits 26.5 7.0 230 187.0
Total cash assets 3797 436.1 3198 3075
Cash on hand and in banks earns interest at floating rates based
on daily bank deposit rates. The carrying amounts of cash and
cash equivalents represents fair value.
Short term deposits are made for varying periods of between one day
and three months, depending on the immediate cash requirements of
the Group, and earn interest at the respective short term deposit rates,
a} Reconciliation to cash at the end of the financial year
The above figures are reconciled to cash at the end of the financial year
as shown on cash flow statements as follows —
Cash assets 3797 436.1 3198 3075
Bank overdrafts 18 (0.4) - - -
Cash and cash equivalents held at the end of the financial year 3193 4361 3198 3075
b} Non-cash investing and financing activities
Dividends satisfied by the issue of shares under the
Dividend Reinvestment Plan 26a} 143 14.4 143 14.4
QOther payables in relation to acquisitions
{amounts to be paid post balance date) - 0.1 - -
c) Reconciliation of profit after tax to net cash flows
from operating activities
Profit after tax 3107 2824 2593 2185
Significant items 67.5 - - -
Depreciation, amortisation, impairment and amounts set aside to
allowance and provisions .3 3159 3749 175
Share of net {profity/loss of joint venture entity (0.8) 0.3 - -
(Profit)/loss from disposal of —
surplus South Korean properties (4.8) {9.9) - -
fand in Eastern Creek, Austialia - (13.4) - -
other property, plant and equipment 143 20 - -
software development assets 06 - - -
right to Maxxiem incentive payments {18.8) - - -
investments in securities - {0.7) - -
{Increasel/decrease in —
interest receivable (0.9) {0.9) (0.6} (1.2}
other receivables (54.0) (38.2) 33 (2.4)
inventories {86.8) (21.9) - -
prepayments 15 15.2 {1.6) (1.9
amounts due from subsidiaries - - (669.4) (1.7)
{Decreasel/increase —
interest payable (5.4 {6.6) {4.6} (5.3)
tax payable 6.9 (15.8) (89.0) 46.6
other payables (2.3} (13.4) 1.5 03
employee henefits provisions 69.7} (73.3) (15.7) {10.5)
accrued charges 68.5 35.2 18 {2.6)
defined benefit superannuation plan liabilities {3.6} 1.4 48 0.6
derivatives 0.7} 01 {21 -
Net cash flows from/{used in) operating activities 523.9 458 4 {125.3) 2589
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CCA Group CCA Entity

Refer 2007 2006 2007 2006
Note M M M M
8. Trade and Other Receivables
Current
Trade receivables 555.0 599.7 - -
Allowance for doubtful receivables 8a) (6.8) (9.1} - -
548.2 h30.6 - -
Amount due from subsidiaries 36 - - 86.9 44
Amaunt due from related entities (trade) 36 116 i.0 - -
Amount due from related entities (non-trade) 36 1] 201 0.1 0.3
Other receivables 79.0 66.0 34 6.0
QOther receivables (escrow amount) 6e) 386 - - -
1378 87.1 %04 107
Total trade and other receivables {current) 686.0 677.7 90.4 10.7
Non-current
Amaunt due from subsidiaries 36 - - 2,098.2 20251
Amount due from related entities (non-trade) J6 21 1.5 - 1.5
Other receivables 14 16.4 - -
Total trade and other receivables (non-current} 35 179 2,098.2 2.026.6
Trade receivables are non-interest bearing. Terms of trade in relation to
credit sales are on a weighted average of 30 days from the date of invoice.
The Group operates in a number of diverse markets, and accordingly the
terms of trade vary by country and husiness.
a) Impaired trade receivables
As at 31 December 2007, trade receivables with a nominal value of
$6.8 million {2006: $9.1 miltion) were impaired and fully provided for.
Movements in the allowance for trade receivables are as follows —
At 1 January (9.1} (3.4) - -
Acquisition of entities and operations - (1.2} - -
[Disposal of operation 0.6 - - -
Charge for the year (3.2} {9.2) - -
Written off 4.1 46 - -
Net foreign currency movements 0.2 0.1 - -
{6.8) {9.1) - -

As at 31 December, the analysis of trade receivables for CCA Group that
were past due but not impaired is as follows —

Past due but not impaired

Neither past due Less than 30 days More than 30 but less More than 90 days Total

nor impaired overdue than 90 days overdue overdue M

2007 440.4 4.0 283 5.5 548.2
2006 465.8 917 254 17 590.6

Al other receivables {including amount due from subsidiaries for CCA Entity) do not contain imgaired assets and are not past due. Based on the credit
history of these other receivables, it is expected that these amounts will be received when due.

b} Related party receivables
For terms and conditions relating to related party receivables, refer to Note 36.
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8. Trade and Other Receivables continued
¢} Fair value
Details regarding the fair value of trade and other receivables are disclosed in Note 35.

d) Credit risk

For trade and other receivables (current), the maximum exposure to credit risk is the fair value of the receivables. Collateral is not held as security.

For trade and other receivables {non-current), the maximum exposure to credit risk is the higher of the carrying value and fair value of each class of

receivables. Collaterat is not held as security.

e} Foreign exchange and interest rate risk

Details regarding the foreign exchange and interest rate risk exposure are disclosed in Note 35.

CCA Group CCA Entity
Refer 2007 2006 2007 2006
Note M M $M M
9. Inventories
Raw materials at cost 2483 2558 - -
Raw materials at net realisable value 120 - - -
260.3 255.8 - -
Finished goods at cost 329 291.4 - -
Finished goods at net realisable value 5.7 10.7 - -
3348 302.1 - -
Other inventories at cost’ 35.7 83.7 - -
Other inventories at net realisable valug' 15.2 - - -
509 83.7 - -
Total inventories 646.0 611.6 - -
1 Other inventories includes work in progress, spare parts {manufacturing and cold drink eguipment).
10. Non-current Assets Held for Sale
Land
Balance at the beginning of the financial year 119 79 - -
Net transfer from property, plant and equipment 14 89 16.2 - -
Disposals 9.2} {6.4) - -
Disposal of operation Bd) {15.9} - - -
Net foreign currency movements (1.7} 0.2 - -
Total land held for sale - 178 - -
Buildings
Balance at the beginning of the financial year 49 19 - -
Net transfer from property, plant and equipment 14 17 38 - -
Disposals - (0.9) - -
Disposal of aperation 6d) (6.0} - - -
Net foreign currency movements (0.6) 0.1 - -
Total buildings held for sale - 49 - -
Total non-current assets held for sale - 228 - -

66 CCA Annual Report 2007 Notes to the Financial Siatements




CCA Group CCA Entity
2007 2006 2007 2006
M M M ™
11. Investment in Joint Venture Entity
Investment in joint venture entity 16.4 12 15.8 15
The Company has a 50% interest in Pacific Beverages Pty Ltd and its
subsidiaries {Pacific Beverages). The principal activity is the impartation
and distribution of alcoholic beverages.
During the year, Pacific Beverages acquired Bluetongue Brewery Pty Ltd,
which brews and distributes Australian premium beers.
The interest in Pacific Baverages is accounted for in the consolidated
financial statements using the equity method of accounting and is
carried at cost by the parent entity. Information relating to the jaint
venture entity is set out below.
Carrying amount of investment in Pacific Beverages Pty Ltd 164 12 15.8 15
Share of Pacific Beverages Pty Ltd's assets and liabilities
Current assets 184 42 - -
Non-current assets 118 - - -
Total assets 302 42 - -
Current liabilities 129 30 - -
Non-current habilities 09 - - _
Total fiabilities 138 30 - -
Net assets 16.4 1.2 - -
Share of Pacific Beverages Pty Ltd's revenue, expenses and results
Revenues 19.7 1.0 - -
Expenses {18.5) (1.4) - -
Profit/{iess) before income tax 1.2 (0.4) - -
Income tax {expense)/benefit {0.4) 0.1 - -
Profit/{loss) after income tax 08 (0.3} - -
12. Investments in Securities
Shares in subsidiaries at cost’ - - 2.348.0 28246
Impairment - - {433.6) {79.9)
Total investments in securities - - 24144 21447
1 Refer to Note 31 for details of subsidiaries.
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Refer  GGA Group CCA Entity

Note M M
13. Investments in Bottlers’ Agreements
Year ended 31 December 2007 .
At 1 January 2007 1505.6 -
Impairment charge (25.0) -
Disposaf of operation 6} (482.8) -
Net foreign currency movements (69.0) -
At 31 December 2007 9288 -
Year ended 31 December 2006
At 1 January 2006 1.506.4 -
Acquisitions of entities and aperations 32 -
Net foreign currency movements {4.0) -
At 31 December 2006 1.505.6 -
At 31 December 2006
Cost [gross carrying amount) 17573 -
Prior impairment brought forward {251.7} -
Net carrying amount 1,505.6 -

The bostlers’ agreements reflect a long and ongoing relationship between the Group and The Coca-Cola Company (TCCC). At 31 December 2007, there were
five agreements throughout the Group at varying stages of their, mainly, ten year terms. These agreements are all on substantially the same terms and
conditions, with performance obligations as to production, diswibution and marketing and include provisions for renewal. All of the Group’s present
hottlers” agreements, the first of which was issued in 1938, that have expired have been renewed at expiry of their legal terms. No consideraticn is
payahle upon renewal.

In assessing the useful life of bottlers' agreements, due consideration is given to the Group's history of dealing with TCCC, established international
practice of that company, TCCC's equity in the Graup, the participation of nominees of TCCC on the Company's Board of Directors and the ongoing strength
of TCCC brands. In light of these considerations, no factor can be identified that would result in the agreements not being renewed at the end of their legal
terms, and accordingly bottlers' agreements have been assessed as having an indefinite useful life.

Bottlers’ agreements acquired from a business combinatian are capitalised at fair value as at the date of acquisition. Following initial recognition, the cost
less impairment model is utilised for measurement.

immediately before the classification of the South Korean busingss as a discontinued operation in 2007, the recoverable amount was estimated for the
business. An impairment loss of $25.0 miilion was recognised in the income statements in the line item discontinued operation. No major review of
business assumptions was carried out far the South Korean business. Senior management undertock a review of its vatue in use and determined that an
impairment of $25.0 million was required.

The South Korean business was discontinued on 24 October 2007, Refer to Note 6 for further details.

All the other bottlers’ agreements were tested for impairment and no other impairment loss was expensed for the financial year (except for the
$25.0 million impairment loss against the South Kerean business described abovel. A description of management’s approach to ensuring each investment
in bottlers’ agreement is recognised at its recoverable amount is disclosed in Note 16.
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Buildings,

Freehold Freehold plant and Total
and and equipment property,
leasehold leasehold Plant and under plant and

Refer land buildings'  equipment construction equipment

Note M M ™
14. Property, Plant and Equipment
CCA Group
At 1 January 2007
Cost {gross carrying amount} 2554 2845 23126 1209 29334
Accumulated depreciation and impaisment - (27.8) (1,405.7) - {1,433.5}
Net carrying amount 255.4 216.7 906.9 1209 1,499.9
Year ended 31 December 2007
At 1 January 2007, net of accumufated depreciation
and impairment 2554 216.7 906.9 1209 1,493.9
Additions 16 10.7 62.2 2161 290.6
Disposals - (0.9) (18.0} - (18.9}
Acquisitions of entities and operations 3Za) - - 18 - 18
Disposal of operation 6d) {63.0} {50.4) {98.0) (0.9) (212.3)
Depreciation expense - 9.9 {160.1) - (170.0
Impaisment charges® 4 - - (7.5) - (2.5)
Net foreign currency movements (121} {9.6) {29.5) {0.9) {52.1)
Transfers out of buildings, plant and equipment
under construction - 241 126.2 {150.3} -
Net transfers to non-current assets held for sale 10 {8.9} 1.7} - - {10.6)
Transfer to software development assets 15 - - - (12.9) (17.1)
Transfer from/{to} other non-current assets 0.1 {0.3) {0.5) {0.5) (1.2)
At 31 December 2007, net of accumulated
depreciation and impairment 173.1 178.7 7835 1613 1,302.6
At 31 December 2007
Cost {gross carrying amount) 1731 208.6 19146 162.3 24636
Accumulated depreciation and impairment - {29.9) 11,1311} - {1.161.0)
Net carrying amount 1731 178.7 7835 161.3 1,302.6
CCA Entity
At 31 December 2007
Cost {gross carrying amount) - - 55 - 5.5
Accumulated depreciation - - (5.5} - {5.5)

Net carrying amount

1
2

Freehold and leasehold buildings include improvements made to buildings.
Inpairmenz of plant and equipment mainly retates to cold drink eguipment. Through management’s ongoing assessment of the recoverable amount of cold drink equipment, the above impairment

charges have been identified.
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Buildings,
Freehold Freehold plant and Total
and and equipment property,
leasehold leasehold Plant and under plant and
Refer land buildings'  equipment construction equipment
Note M M M M
14. Property, Plant and Equipment continued
CCA Group
At 1 January 2006
Cost {gross carrying amount) 2793 2262 2,213 134.0 28508
Accumulated depreciation and impairment - {18.1) (1.320.2) - (1,338.3}
Net carrying amount 2793 208.1 8911 134.0 15125
Year ended 31 December 2006
At 1 January 2008, net of accumulated depreciation
and impairment 279.3 2081 8913 134.0 15125
Additions 5.8 22 77 2105 290.2
Disposals {55.7) (0.3} {9.8) - {65.8}
Acquisitions of entities and operations 24 - 23 - 47
Depreciation expense - (10.2} (185.5) - {195.7)
Impairment charges? 4 - - (23.9) - {23.9}
Net foreign currency movements 10 1.1 (0.9) (0.6 0.6
Transfers out of buildings, plant and equipment
under construction 385 202 164.3 (223.0) -
Net transfers to non-current assets held for sale 10 (16.2) (3.8} - - {20.0}
Transfers from/[to} ather non-current assets 03 (0.6} (2.4) - (2.7}
At 31 December 2006, net of accumulated
depreciation and impairment 2554 216.7 906.9 1209 1,499.9
At 31 December 2006
Cost {gross carrying amount} 255.4 2445 2.312.6 1208 29334
Accumulated depreciation and impairment - (27 .8} {1,405.7) - (14335
Net carrying amount 2554 2167 906.9 1209 1,499.9
CCA Entity
At 1 January 2006
Cost {gross carrying amount} - - 37 1.4 53
Accumulated depreciation - - {3.0) - (3.0}
Net carrying amount - - 07 14 2.1
Year ended 31 December 2006
At 1 January 2006, net of accumulated depreciation - - 0.7 14 21
Additions - - - 04 0.4
Depreciation expense - - (2.5) - (2.5}
Transfers out of buildings, plant and equipment
under construction - - 1.8 (1.8) -
At 31 December 2006, net of accumulated depreciation - - - - -
At 31 December 2006
Cost {gross carrying amount} - - 55 - 55
Accumulated depreciation - - {5.5) - (5.5}
Net carrying amount - - - - -
1 Freehold and leasehold buildings include improvements made to buildings.
2 Impairment of plant and equipment mainly relates te cold drink equipment. Through management’s ongoing assessment of the recoverable amount of cold drink equipment, the above impainmens
charges have been identified.
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Software Total
Customer Brand Intellectual development intangible

Refer lists'** names' property'*’ assets Goodwill' assets

Note M M M ™ M M
15. Intangible Assets
CCA Group
At 1 January 2007
Cost (gross carrying amount) 1.6 11.0 24 389 3o 536.9
Accumulated amortisation and
impairment {0.9) 6.7 1.2) {29.9) {2.5) {491.2)
Net carrying amount 6.7 1043 1.2 9.0 3145 495.7
Year ended 31 December 2007
At 1 January 2007, net of accumulated
amortisation and impairment 6.7 1043 1.2 9.0 37135 495.7
Additions - - 0.2 85 - 8.7
Disposals - - - {0.6} - (0.6)
Acquisitions of entities and operations 3Za) 0.9 - - - 1.7 126
Disposal of operation 6d) - - - {0.9} - (0.9)
Transfer from property, plant and equipment 14 - - - 171 - 171
Amortisation expense {1.9) {0.2) (0.5} {an - (6.8)
Impairment charges 4 {1.1} - {0.9} (4.3} (6.5) (12.8)
Net foreign currency movements - - - - {3.0) (3.0)
Other - - - 23 - 23
At 31 December 2007, net of
accumulated amortisation
and impairment 5.1 1041 - 26.9 376.7 5128
At 31 December 2007
Cost (gross carrying amount} 85 1110 25 845 3858 5523
Accumulated amortisation and impairment (3.4 (6.9) (2.5) (17.6) 9.1} {39.5}
Net carrying amount 5.1 1041 - 26.9 376.7 512.8
At 1 January 2006
Cost (gross carrying amount} 27 mae 2.2 344 3726 5231
Accumulated amortisation and impairment {0.1) {6.9) (0.8) {20.4) 2.1 {30.3}
Net carrying amount 26 1043 14 140 3705 492.8
Year ended 31 December 2006
At 1 January 2006, net of accumulated
amortisation and impairment 26 104.3 14 140 3705 4928
Additions 01 - 0.2 5.8 0.8 6.7
Acquisitions of entities and operations 49 - - - 37 86
Amortisation expense (0.5) {0.2) (0.4} 4.4} - {5.5)
Impairment charges 4 - - - {5.4} (0.5) (5.9
Net foreign currency movements (0.4) 02 - {1.0} 0.2 (1.0)
At 31 December 2008, net of
accumulated amortisation
and impairment 6.7 104.3 1.2 9.0 3745 4957
At 31 December 2006
Cost {gross carrying amount} 18 1110 24 389 3770 536.9
Accumulated amortisation and impairment (0.9 (6.7} {1.2) {29.9) (2.5) (41.2)
Net carrying amount 6.7 104.3 1.2 9.0 3745 4957

1 Purchased as part of a business combination.
2 Asset purchase.
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15. Intangible Assets continued
The useful life of customer fists is finite and amortisation is on a straight line basis over five to ten years.

In assessing the useful life of SPCA brand names, due consideration is given to the existing fangevity of SPCA brands, the indefinite life eycle of the
inctustry in which SPCA operates and the expected usage of the brand names in the future. In light of these considerations, no factor could be identified
that would resut in the brand names having a finite useful life and accordingly SPCA brand names have been assessed as having an indefinite useful life.

Other brand names have been assessed as having finite useful fives and are amortised on a straight line basis over ten years.
intellectual property has a finite useful life and amartisation is on a straight line basis over five years.

Software development assets represent internally generated intangible assets with finite useful lives and are amortised on a straight line basis from one to
seven years depending on the specific intangible asset.

All intangible assets with finite useful lives were assessed for imgairment and all iMangible assets with indefinite usefu! lives were tested for impairment
at 31 December 2007. Refer to Note 16 for further details on impairment testing of intangible assets with indefinite lives.

16. Impairment Testing of Intangible Assets with Indefinite Lives
Intangible assets deemed to have indefinite lives are allocated to the Group's cash generating units {CGUs).

A business CGU-level summary of the intangible assets deemed to have indefinite lives is presented below —

CCA Group
Total
intangible
Investments assets with
in bottlers’ Brand indefinite
agreements names Goodwill lives
M M M M
Year ended 31 December 2007
Beverage business 9288 - 36.2 965.0
Food & Services business - 98.3 3405 438.8
Total 928.8 98.3 376.7 1,403.8
Year ended 31 December 2006
Beverage business' 1,505.6 - 217 1,533.3
Food & Services busingss' - 98.3 346.8 4451
Total 1,505.6 98.3 3745 19784

1 2006 comparative information has been restated in accordance with the amended segment reporting in 2007. Refer to Note 2 for further details.

a) Impainment tests for investments in bottlers’ agreements and goodwill

Impairment testing is carried out by CCA by determining an asset’s recoverable amount as compared to its carrying amount, The recoverable amount is
determined, for the continuing operations, as the maximum of fair value less cost to sell and value in use. Value in use is calculated using a discounted
cash flow methodology covering a fifteen year period with an appropriate residual value at the end of that periad, for each segment and country in which
the Group operates. The methodology utilises cash flow forecasts that are tiased primarily on business plans presented to and approved by the Board.

The following describes each key assumption on which management has based its cash flow projections to undertake impairment testing of investments in
botilers’ agreements and goodwill —

i) Cash flow forecasts
Cash flow forecasts are based primarily on three year business plans presented to and reviewed by the Board, extrapolated out to fifteen years using
forecast growth rates,

i) Residual value

Residual value is calculated using a perpetuity growth formula based on the forecast for year fifteen, weighted average cost of capital (after tax) and
forecast growth rate;

iii) Forecast growth rates

Forecast growth rates are based on past performance and management's expectations for future performance in each segment and country: and
) Discouni rates

Discount rates used are the weighted average cost of capital {after tax} for the Group in each country, risk adjusted where applicable.
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16. Impairment Testing of Intangible Assets with Indefinite Lives continued

b} Impairment tests for brand names with indefinite lives

Impairment testing is carried out by CCA by determining an asset's recoverable amount as compared to its carrying amount. The recoverable amount is
determined, for the continuing operations, as the maximum of fair value less cost to self and value in use. Value in use for brand names is calculated using
a "relief fram royalty” discounted cash flow methodology covering a ten year period with an appropriate residual value at the end of that period, The
methodology utilises notional after tax royalty cash flows, which are based primarily on three year business plans prepared by management.

The following describes each key assumption on which management has based its cash flow projections to undertake impairment testing of brand names
with indefinite lives —
i) Cash flow forecasts

Brand related cash flow forecasts are based on three year business plans prepared by management, exirapelated out to ten years using forecast growth rates;
ii} Royalty rates

Royalty rates are based on market rates for comparable brands adjusted for costs associated with maintaining the brand;
iii) Residual value

Residual value is calculated using a perpetuity growth formula based on the natienal after tax royalty cash flow forecast for year ten, weighted average
cost of capital {after tax) and forecast growth rate;

iv} Forecast growth rates
Forecast growth rates are based on past performance and management's expectations for future performance; and
v} Discount rates
Discount rates used are the weighted average cost of capital (after tax) for the Group in each country, risk adjusted where applicable.

CCA Group CCA Entity
Refer 2007 2006 2007 2006
Note ™ M M M
17. Trade and Other Payables
Current
Trade payables 255.0 295.3 0.2 02
Amaunts due to subsidiaries 36 - - 5121 26
Amounts due to related entities {trade) 36 152.0 1711 - -
Other payables 29.2 25.1 8.1 06
Total trade and other payables {current) 436.2 4915 5204 34
Non-current
Amounts due to subsidiaries 36 - - - 4787
Other payables - 29 - -
Total trade and other payahles {non-current) - 29 - 478.7

Terms of trade in refation to trade payables are on a weighted average of 45 days from the date of invoice. The Group operates in a number of diverse
markets, and accordingly the term of trade vary by country and business.

a) Related party payables
Far terms and conditions relating to related party payables, refer to Note 36.

b) Interest rate, foreign exchange and liguidity risk
Details regarding interest rate, foreign exchange and liquidity risk exposure are disclosed in Note 35.
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CCA Group CCA Entity
Refer 2007 2006 2007 2006
Note M M M M
18. Interest Bearing Liabilities
Current
Unsecured
Bonds 170.3 165.7 1703 165.7
Loans 0.4 04 - -
Bank loans 03 112.3 - -
Bank overdrafts 0.4 - - -
Total interest bearing liabilities (current} 18a) 1714 2784 170.3 165.7
Non-current
Unsecured
Bonds 1,681.4 1,887.3 1,631.4 1,837.3
Loans 59 6.2 - -
Bank loans 719 184.0 - -
Total interest bearing liabilities (non-current) 18a} 1,695.2 20775 16314 18373
a} Interest rate risk, foreign exchange and liquidity risk
The following table set out the significant terms of the major components of the interest bearing abilities —
Interest rate p.a.
CCA Group 2007 2006 2007 2006 Maturity
Type of interest bearing liability/country M ™ % % Denomination date
Current
Bonds
Australia — CCA Entity 150.0 - 14 - Australian Dollar Mov 08
Australia — CCA Entity - 133.0 - 58 United States Dollar Feb to Nov 07
Australia — CCA Entity 203 - 12 - Japanese Yen Aug 08
Australia — CCA Entity - 327 - 47 Hong Keng Dollar Mar 07
170.3 165.7
Loans
Australia 04 04 70 70 Australian Dollar Oct 08
Bank loans
Indonesia 03 - 75 United States Dollar Jan (8
South Korea - 1123 - 5.4 United States Dollar Dec 07
0.3 1123
Bank overdrafts 04 -
Total interest bearing liabilities {current) 1mM4 2784
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18. Interest Bearing Liabilities continued

a) Interest rate risk, foreign exchange and liquidity risk continued

Interest rate p.a.

CCA Group 2007 2006 2007 2005 Maturity
Type of interest bearing liability/country M M % % Dencmination date
Non-current
Bonds
Australia 50.0 50.0 13 73 Austratian Doltar Apr 09
Australia = CCA Entity 336.0 3622 5.2 56 United States Dollar ~ Jun 10 to Apr 16
Australia — CCA Entity 220.2 2447 a8 1.1 Japanese Yen  Jun 10 to Jun 36
Australia = CCA Entity 1,075.2 1,230.4 16 6.8 Australian Dollar Jul 10 to Jan 19
1.681.4 1.887.3
Loans
Australia 5.9 6.2 1.0 7.0 Australian Dollar ~ Jun 17 to Apr 18
Bank loans
South Korea - 63.4 - 5.6 United States Dotlar Aug 09
New Zealard 1% 120.6 86 8.0 New Zeatand Dallar Jun 10
73 184.0
Total interest bearing liahilities (non-current) 1,695.2 20715
Interest rate p.a.
CCA Entity 2007 2006 2007 2006 Maturity
Type of interest bearing liability/country M M % % Denomination date
Current
Bonds
Australia — CCA Entity 150.0 - 14 - Australian Dollar Nov 08
Australia = CCA Entity - 1330 - 58 United States Dollar Feb to Nov 07
Australia — CCA Entity 203 - 1.2 - Japanese Yen Aug 08
Australia — CCA Entity - 327 - 47 Hong Kong Dollar Mar 07
1703 165.7
Total interest bearing liabilities (current) 1703 165.7
Non-current
Bonds
Australia — CCA Entity 336.0 362.2 52 5.6 United States Dollar ~ Jun 10 to Apr 16
Australia — CCA Entity 220.2 2447 38 1.1 Japanese Yen  Jun 10 te Jun 36
Australia — CCA Entity 1,075.2 1,230.4 76 6.8 Australian Dollar Jul 10 to Jan 19
16314 1.837.3
Total interest bearing liabilities (non-current) 1,631.4 1,837.3

Further details regarding interest rate, foreign exchange and liquidity risk are disclosed in Note 35.
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18. Interest Bearing Liabilities continued
b} Fair value
Details regarding the fair value of the interest bearing liabilities are disclosed in Note 35.

CCA Group CCA Entity
Refer 2007 2006 2007 2006
Note M M M ™M
¢) Financing facilities
The following financing facilities are available as at batance date —
i) Overdraft facilities
Total arrangements 5.0 5.0 50 50
Used as at balance date 10.4) - - -
Unused as at the end of the financial year 4.6 50 50 50
ii) Bank loan facilities
Total arrangements 176.4 428.2 - -
Used as at balance date (8.2) {296.3) - -
Unused as at the end of the financial year 168.2 1319 - -
d) Defaults or breaches
During the curent and prior years, there were no defaults or breaches on any
of the borrowings.
19. Provisions
Current
Employee benefits 85.9 137 238 205
Total provisions {current) 85.9 737 Yok 205
Non-current
Employee benefits 127 615 1.0 10.8
Total provisions {(non-current} 12.7 61.5 10 108
20. Deferred Tax Assets and Liabilities
a} Deferred taxes
Defesred tax assets 1.8 22 49 129
Deferred tax liabilities {153.3) {327.9) - -
Net deferred tax (liabilities)/assets (151.5) {325.7) 49 12.9
b} Movement in net deferred tax assets/{liabilities)
for the financial year -
Balance at the beginning of the financial year (325.7} (339.7} 129 18.0
Charged to the incame statements as deferred tax benefit/(expense) 5a) 293 (6.9) 0.6 52
Charged to equity 24¢) (6.9) 20 {10.2) (7.9
Acquisitions of entities and operations KVE)] (0.2) (1.00 - -
Disposal of operation 6d} 1328 - - -
Net foreign currency movements 200 (1.3) - -
Other (0.8) 212 1.6 (2.4)
Balance at the end of the financial year (151.5) (325.7) 49 12.9
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CCA Group CCA Entity

2007 2006 2007 2006
M ™ M M
20. Deferred Tax Assets and Liabilities continued
¢) Deferred tax assets and liabilities at the end of the financial year
{prior to offsetting balances within the same tax jurisdiction)
are attributable to -
Deferred tax assets (gross}
Trade receivables 20 25 - -
Inventories 5.4 22 - -
Property, plant and equipment 19 1.3 16 21
Intangibles assets 09 2.5 - -
Accrued charges 95 11.0 22 2.1
Emptoyee benefits provisions 296 258 1.4 94
Defined benefit superannuation plan liabilities 1.0 97 45 1.1
Income tax losses 11 0.8 - -
Derivatives - 05 - -
Other 89 6.4 34 5.1
Total deferred tax assets {gross} 703 62.5 2.7 198
Deferred 1ax liabilities (gross)
tnventories (1.2 6.4 - -
Investments in bottlers” agreements (133.0) (290.9) - -
Property, plant and equipment {971} (50.4) - -
Retained earnings balances of overseas subsidiaries® (16.1) [32.9) - -
Derivatives (13.2) {6.3) {12.5) {6.8)
Other i5.2) 1.3} (0.3) {0.1)
Total deferred tax liabilities {gross) 221.8) (388.2) (12.8) {6.9)
Net deferred tax {liabilities)/assets (151.5) (325.7) 49 129
1 Represents a!l withholding taxes payable on unremiited retained eamings of overseas subsidiaries.
d) Movements in deferred tax assets and lizhilities during the
financial year, reflected in deferred tax expense/{benefit) —
Deferred tax assets
Trade receivables 0.6 (1.4} - -
Inventories (3.5) 79 - -
Property, plant and equipment - (0.4} 04 {0.2)
Intangibles 16 (1.7 - -
Accrued charges (0.3} 20 - 10
Employee henefits provisions (2.1) (0.6} {1.6) 1.4
Defined benefit superannuation plan liabilities (2.2) (3.5) (14) 0.2}
Income tax losses {0.5) 228 - (2.9}
Other 0.7 0.2 20 {1.5)
Total deferred tax assets 5.7 253 (0.6} {5.2)
Deferred tax liabilities
Inventories 09 0.2 - -
Prepayments 0.2 0.2 - -
Investments in hottlers” agreements (6.9} - - -
Property, plant and equipment (2.9} (8.7 - -
Defined benefit superannuation plan asset - (0.3 - -
Retained earnings balances of overseas subsidiaries (16.8) {9.2) - -
Derivatives (1.7} - - -
Other 36 (0.2) - -
Tota! deferred tax liabilities (23.6) (18.4) - -
Net deferred tax (benefit)/expense (29.3) 69 {0.6) (5.2}
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CCA Group CCA Entity
2007 2006 2007 20086
M M M M
20. Deferred Tax Assets and Liabilities continued
e) Tax losses not brought to account, as the realisation of the benefits
represented by these balances is not considered to be probable -
Income tax' - 1722 - -
Capital gains tax? 978.3 9777 978.3 977.7
Total tax losses not brought to account 978.3 1,149 978.3 977.7
Potential tax benefit at respective tax rates 2935 34086 2935 2933
Total tax losses not brought te account, are available for carry forward into the following financtal years —
! Income tax —
Expiry date 31 December 2008 - 5B - -
Expiry date 31 December 2009 - 458 - -
Expiry date 31 December 2010 - 212 - -
Expiry date 31 December 2011 - 93.6 - -
- 1722 - -
*  Capital gains tax — no expiry date 978.3 9777 978.3 9717
i Other deductible temporary differences not brought to account,
as the realisation of the benefits represented by these halances
is not considered to be probable 384 376.5 - -
Potentizal tax benefit at respective tax rates 115 1045 - -
Other deductible temporary differences not brought to account, are available for
carry forward inta the following future periods as indicated by the details below —
Expiry date 31 December 2016 - 1549 - -
No expiry date 384 2216 - -
384 376.5 - -

21. Defined Benefit Superannuation Plan Liabilities

The Group sponsors a number of superannuation plans which provide benefits for employees or their dependants on retirement, resignation or death. The
plans provide, in the majority of cases, benefits in the form of lump sum payments.

Contributions to the Plans are based on & percentage of employaes’ salaries and wages.

The major plans in Australia are the CCA Group Superannuation Plan (CCAGSP) and the CCA Superannuation Plan {CCASP). The CCA Beverages
Superannuation Plan {CCABSP} was transferred to the CCA Superannuation Plan (CCASP) within AMP SignatureSugper Master Trust on 1 February 2007.
These Plans also have defined contribution compenents ta them. The major plan in Indonesia is the CCBI Superanruation Plar (CCBISP). The following sets
out details in respect of the defined benefit superannuation plans enly.

a) Accounting policies

The Group has adopted the “corridar” approach to the recognition of actuarial gains and losses. The amount of actuarial gains and fosses recognised as
income or expense in a particular year equals the excess of the unrecognised gain/loss at the start of the year over the greater of 10% of the value of
assets and the value of the defined benefit obligation at the start of the year, divided by the expected average remaining working life of the membership.

b} Plan information

Australia

The Company sponsors the CCAGSP and the CCASP Priar to the transfer of CCABSP to CCASP on 1 February 2007, the Company sponsored the CCAGSP
and Coca-Cola Amatil (Aust} Pty Ltd sponsored the CCASP. These Plans are both defined benefit plans, which consist of a defined contribution section of
membership as well as a defined benefit section. The CCAGSP also pays pensions to a number of pensioners.

Indonesia

PT Coca-Cola Bottling Indonesta sponsors the CCBISP, which includes a funded accumulation benefit scheme in addition to the defined benefit element,
based upon government regulations.
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21. Defined Benefit Superannuation Plan Liabilities continued
c) Reconciliation of the present value of the defined benefit abligations

CCAGSP CCASP CCBisP'
2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006
M ™ M $M M M
Present value of defined benefit obligations at
the beginning of the financial year 331 344 701 123 248 231
Current service cost 29 3.0 14 86 21 23
Interest cost 1.6 16 15 31 25 29
Actuarial gains (3.1} (2.2} (8.9 77 - (0.1}
Benefits paid {4.6} (3.7 {106) {6.2) (1.9} (0.8}
Curtailments and settlements - - - - - -
Net foreign currency movements - - - - (3.8} (2.6}
Present value of defined benefit obligations
at the end of the financial year 299 33 62.0 701 23.7 24.8
d) Reconciliation of the fair value
of plan assets

Fair value of plan assets at the beginning of
the financial year 365 334 85.1 83.3 - -
Expected return on plan assets 20 20 55 5.0 - -
Actuarial {losses)/gains 0.9 29 0.1 43 - -
Employer contributions - 19 17 {1.3) - -
Benefits paid {4.6) (3.7 {10.6) {6.2) - -

Fair value of plan assets at the end of
the financial year 33.0 365 81.8 85.1 n/a nfa

1 The CCBISP has no plan assets. PT Coca-Cola Bottling Indonesia accrues the plan’s fiabilities as per the actuarial assessment applying the "corridor” approach as outfined above.

&) Reconciliation of the assets and liabilities recognised in the balance sheets

CCAGSP CCASP CCBISP CCA Group
2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006
M ™M M M b4} M M ™M
Present value of funded defined benefit
obligations at the end of the financial year 299 33.1 62.0 70.1 237 248 115.6 128.0
Fair value of plan assets at the end of
the financial year (33.0) (36.5) {81.8) (85.1) - - 114.8) {121.6}
{3.1) {3.4) {19.8) (15.0) 237 248 0.8 6.4
Unrecognised past service cost - - - - {2.6) (3.3} {2.6) 3.3
Unrecognised gains 8.7 69 293 219 0.4 0.4 384 292
56 35 9.5 6.9 215 219 366 323
These amounts are disclosed as —
Net liahbility recognised in the balance
sheets at the end of the financial year 56 35 95 69 25 219 36.6 323
f) Expense recognised in the
income statements
Current service cost 29 3.0 14 8.6 21 23 124 139
Interest cost 16 i.6 35 31 2.5 29 16 16
Expected return on plan assets (2.0 {2.0) (5.5 {5.0) - - {7.5) (7.0}
Actuarial {losses)/gains (0.3) - (1.0) {0.2) - 0.1 1.3) (0.1}
Past service cost - - - - 07 0.1 0.2 0.7
Fareign exchange (losses)/gains - - - - {0.5) 0.6 - -
Expense recognised in the income statements 22 28 44 6.5 48 6.0 114 15.1
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21. Defined Benefit Superannuation Plan Liabilities continued
g} Plan assets

CCAGSP CCASP CCBISP
2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006
% % % % % %
The percentage invested in each asset class ai the
balance sheet date {including pension assets} —
Australian equities 17.0 15.0 200 230 nfa n/a
Overseas equities 13.0 14.0 26.0 210 nfa nfa
Fixed interest securities 55.0 56.0 350 340 nfa n/a
Praperty 8.0 8.0 1.0 120 n/a E]
Other 70 7.0 50 49 nfa nfa
h) Principal actuarial assumptions at the
reporting date (p.a.)

Discount rate 6.3 5.0 6.3 5.0 10.0 10.5
Expected return on plan assets 6.1 B6.0? 6.6 B.5 n/a n/a
Fulure salary increases 437 47 45 45 10 8D
Future inflation 28 28 28 28 6.0 70
Future pension increases 28 28 nfa n/a - -

1 Comprising 84% active member and 16% pensioner assats,
2 Comprising B0% active member and 20% pensioner assets.

i} Fair value of plan assets

The fair value of plan assets includes no amounts relating to -

« any of the Company's own financial instruments; and

* any property occupied by, or other assets used by, the Company.

j} Expected rate of return on plan assets

The expected return on plan assets assumption is determined by weighting the expected long term retun for each asset class by the target allocation of
assets 1o each class. The returns used for each class are net of investment tax and investment fees.

k) Historical information

CCAGSP CCASP CCBISP
2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2008
M $M M $M M ™M
Present value of defined henefit obligations 299 334 62.0 70.1 237 248
Fair value of plan assets {33.0) (36.5) {81.8) {85.1) - -
(Surplusj/deficit in plan {3.1) (3.4} (19.8) (15.0) - -
Experience adjustments — plan fiabilities {0.9} 0.7 (1.9) 22 - -
Experience adjustments — plan assets 0.9} 30 0.1 43 - -
I} Actual return on plan assets
Actual return on plan assets 1.1 418 55 94 n/a n/a
m) Expected contributions
Expected employer contributions 19 16 5.6 6.7 nfa nfa

n} CCA Group Superannuation Plan

Surplus

The table below shows the surplus of the CCAGSP measured as the difference between the net market value of the Plan assets and accrued benefits, as
determined in accardance with AAS 25 “Financial Reporting by Superannuation Plans”. These figures {rather than those disclosed above) are calculated for
funding purposes and are used to determing the required level of Company contributions.

The effective amounts shown are as follows -

30 June 2006

™

Net market value of assets 376
Accrued benefits {33.7}
Surplus 39
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21. Defined Benefit Superannuation Plan Liabilities continued

n) CCA Group Superannuation Plan continued

Contribution recemmendations

The rates below were recoramended in the report of the most recent actuarial valuation of the Plan as at 30 June 2006 —

» the employer is currently contributing at the rate of 20.8% of base salary plus on-target bonus in respect of defined benefit members;
* in respect of the defined contribution members {if any), the employer is currently contributing at the contribution rates set for their category; and
« special contributions to fund augmentations in benefit payments and increased benefits resulting from category changes {if any).

Funding method
The cantribution rate recommendattons described above were determined using the aggregate funding method, adjusted to reflect the target coverage of
vested benefits,

Under the aggregate funding method, the Company contribution rate is determined as the rate required to fund the benefits of current members over their
expected membership.

This method determines the required cantribution rate by equating the present value of assets plus future contributions in respect of existing members to
the present value of all future benefits payable to existing members. Under this methad, the contribution rate is a long term rate which is intended to be
relatively stable aver time.

Economic assumptions
The economic assumptions used to make the contribution recommendations at the last actuarial valuation of the Plan are as follows —

30 June 2006

% p.a.

Expected return on assets backing active members 6.0
Expected return on assets backing pensioners 59
Salary increase rate 50

Nature of asset/liability

The Plan rules of the CCAGSP requires the Company ta contribute to the Plan at the rate determined from time to time by the trustee of the Pian with the
approval of the Plan’s actuary. Any deficit that exists in the Plan is therefore addressed as part of these contributions payable in the future by the Company.

The Plan may only be terminated by the Plan trustee whereupon the Company is required to pay any arrears of contributions due up to the termination date.
If the Plan is wound up, the assets are distributed by the trustee of the Plan in a prescribed manner set out in the Plan rules to members and pensioners,
with any excess assets, above the level required to pravide benefits reflecting accrued service, being transferred to another Company superannuation fund,
subject to superannuation law.

The Company may benefit from any surplus in the Plan in the farm of a contribution reduction cr contribution holiday or, in certain circumstances and
subject to superannuation law, through the transfer of surplus 1o another Company superannuation fund. The Plan rules also provide that, subject to
legislation, any surplus may be paid to the Company. Any of these measures requires the agreement of the Plan trustee and the Plan’s actuary.

o) CCA Superannuation Plan
Surplus

The table below shows the surplus of the CCABSP {which transferred to the CCASP on 1 February 2007) measured as the difference between the net
market value of plan assets and accrued benefits, as determined in accordance with AAS 25 "Financial Reporting by Superannuation Plans”. These figures
{rather than those disclosed above) are calculated for funding purposes and are used to determine the required level of Company contributions.

The effective amounts shown are as follows —

1 July 2006

™

Net market value of assets 07
Accrued benefits (281.2)
Surplus 205

Contributian recommendations
The rates below were recommended in the report of the most recent actuarial valuation of the Plan as at 1 July 2006 -

*» the employer is currently contributing at the rate of 8.5% of wages in respect of defined benefit members;

* g further 3% of wages in respect of the non-managerial defired benefit members who do not have these award contributions paid to another
superannuation plan;

» a further 4% of wages in respect of the managerial defined benefit members; and

s in respect of the defined contribution members, the employer is currently contributing at the contribution rates set for each category, together with
contributions to cover administration and insurance costs borne by the Company.
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21. Defined Benefit Superannuation Plan Liabilities continued

o) CCA Superannuation Plan continued

Funding method

The cantribution rate recommendations described above were determined using the aggregate funding method,

Under the aggregate funding method, the company contribution rate is determined as the rate required to fund the benefits of current members over their
expecied membership.

This method determines the required contribution rate by equating the present value of assets plus future contributions in respect of existing members to
the present value of all future benefits payable to existing members. Under this method, the contribution rate is a tong term rate which is intended to be
relatively stable over time.

Economic assumptions
The econamic assumptions used to make the contribution recommendations at the last actuarial valuation of the plan are as follows —

1 July 2006

% p.a.

Expected return on assets 6.5
Salary increase rate 45

Nature of assei/liability

The CCASP does not impose a legal liability on the Company to cover any deficit that exists in the Plan. if the Plan was wound up, there would be no legal
obligation on the Company to make good any shartfall. The Plan rules state that if the Plan winds up, the assets are to be distributed in a prescribed
manner set out in the Plan rules to members. Any excess assets, above the level required to provide accrued benefits, are available for transfer to the
Company, another Company superannuation fund or, where applicable, to members as the trustee decides subject to superannuation law. The Company
has, however, determined that a constructive obligation does exist in relation to this Plan, and therefore the relevant batances of the Plan are recorded in
accordance with AASB 119 "Employee Benefits”, in the financial statements of the Company.

The Company may at any time by notice to the trustee terminate its contributions. The employer has a liability to pay the monthly centributions due prior to the
effective date of the notice, but there is no requirement for an employer to pay any further contributions, irrespective of the financial condition of the Plan.

The Company may benefit {rom any surplus in the Plan in the farm of a contribution reduction or contribution holiday or, in certain circumstances, and
subject to superannuation law, through the transfer of surplus to another Company superannuation fund. The Plan rules also provide that, subject to
legislation, surplus in excess of 120% of actuarial reserves may be paid to the Company. Any of these measures reguires the agreement of the Plan trustee
and the Plan’s actuary.

CCA Group and CCA Entity

Refer 2007 2006 2007 2006
Note No. No. M ™
22. Share Capital
a) Issued capita!
Fully paid shares -
Ordinary shares 22h) 754,962,468 750,887 525 2,021.8 2001
Total share capital 154,962,468 750887525 20218 2.001.1
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CCA Group and CCA Entity

Refer 2007 2006 2007 2006
Note No. No. M $M
22. Share Capital continued
b} Movements
Ordinary shares
Balance at the beginning of the financial year 750,887,525 747,704,699 20011 1,982.1
Shares issued in respect of -
Dividend Reinvestment Plan 22c} 1,676,418 2,217,976 14.3 14.4
Executive Option Plan 75 2,398,525 964,850 12.4 4B
Total movement 4,074,943 3,182,826 26.7 19.0
Balance at the end of the financial year 754,962,468 750,887,525 20218 20011

Grdinary shares entitle the holder to participate in dividends and the proceeds on winding-up of the Company in propostion to the number of shares held.
Every ordinary shareholder present at a meeting of the Company in person or by proxy, is entitled 10 ong vote, and upon a poll each ordinary share is
entitled to one vote.

Ordinary shares have no par value.

¢} Dividend Reinvestment Plan

The Dividend Reinvestment Plan provides shareholders with the opportunity to receive fully paid ordinary shares, in lieu of cash dividends, at a discount of
3% from market price at the time of issue. Market price is the weighted average price of a specified ten day period prior to issue. Participation in the Plan
is capped to 100,000 shares per sharaholder,

Deiails of shares issued under the Plan during the financial year are as follows -

CCA Group and CCA Entity
2007 2006
Shares issued  Issue price Proceeds Shares issued Issue price Proceeds
No. H M Na. $ M
Current year interim 735219 92.01 6.6 1,067 613 6.18 6.6
Prior year final 941,199 817 1.7 1,150,363 B.75 78
Total 1,676,418 143 2,217,976 14.4

d} Earnings per share {(EPS)
Details of the Company’s consolidated EPS, including details of the weighted average number of shares used to calculate EPS, can be found in Note 27,

CCA Group CCA Entity
Refer 2007 2006 2007 2006
Note M M M $M
23. Shares Held by Equity Compensation Plans
Balance at the beginning of the financial year {15.2) (11.9) - -
Movements in unvested CCA ordinary shares held by -
Employees Share Plan 24b} 24 {(1.5) - -
Executive Retention Share Plan (3.5} - - -
Executive Salary Sacrifice Share Plan - {0.8) - -
Non-Executive Directors” Retirement Share Trust 24b} - (1.0} - -
Balance at the end of the financial year {16.3} {15.2) - -

The shares held by equity compensation plans account is used to record the balance of CCA ordinary shares which as at the end of the financial year have
not vested to Group employees, and therefore are controlled by the Group. The majority of these shares are held by the Employees Share Plan, with the
remainder held by the other share plans.

Refer to Note 25 for further information on CCA share plans.
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CCA Group CCA Entity
Refer 2007 2006 2007 2006
Note M M M $M

24. Reserves
a) Reserves at the end of the financial year
Foreign currency translation reserve {32.0) 992 - -
Equity compensation reserve 328 325 195 18.3
Cash flow hedging reserve 25.0 75 11 158
General reserve 42 - 4.2 -
Total reserves 250 139.2 64.8 341
b) Movements
Foreign currency translation reserve
Balance at the beginning of the financial year 9.2 105.7 - -
Transfer to income statements on disposal of operation Ee) (46.7) - - -
Translation of financial statements of foreign subsidiaries (89.5} (6.5} - -
Balance at the end of the financial year {37.0} 99.2 - -
The foreign currency translation reserve is used to record foreign
exchange differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements of foreign subsidiaries.
Equity compensation reserve
Balance at the beginning of the financial year 32s 257 18.3 14.3
Expense recognised during the financial year 4 9.6 49 8.1 456
Deferred tax adjustment 24c} 0.6 (0.2) 0.6 (0.2)
Movements in unvested CCA ordinary shares held by —

Employees Share Plan 23 (2.4) 15 - -

Non-Executive Directors’ Retirement Share Trust 23 - 10 - -
Transfer to general reserve (4.2) - 4.2) -
Share based payment (3.3) {0.4} (3.3) {0.4)
Balance at the end of the financial year 328 325 19.5 18.3

The equity compensation reserve is used to record the following share based remuneration obligations to employees in selation to CCA ordinary shares =

* 35 held by the Employees Share Plan, which have not vested to employees as at the end of the financial year;
» to be purchased by the Long Term Incentive Share Plan with respect to incentives for senior executives;
¢ as held by the Executive Retention Share Plan with respect to incentives for senior executives;

* as held by the Non-Executive Directors’ Retirernent Share Trust, which have not vested to the participating Directars as at the end of the financial year;
and
 3as held by the Executive Salary Sacrifice Share Plan where applicable to the service agreements of key management personnel.

Refer to Note 25 for further information on CCA share plans.
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CCA Group CCA Entity

Refer 2007 2006 2007 2006
Note M ™ M M
24. Reserves continued
b) Movements continued
Cash flow hedging reserve
Balance at the beginning of the year 15 204 158 (2.2}
fevaluation of cash flow hedges to fair value 26.1 16.0 35.0 25.2
Transfer to income statements {0.6) (33.0) 11 05
Transfer to initial carrying amount of hedged items {0.5) 19 - -
Deferred tax adjustment 24c) {2.5) 22 {108 {7.7)
Balance at the end of the financial year 250 15 a1 15.8
The cash flow hedging reserve is used to record adjustments to revalue
cash flow hedges to fair or market value, where the derivative financial
instruments qualify for hedge accounting. Upon realisation of the
underlying hedged transactions in future financial years, these revaluation
adjustments are reversed from the cash flow hedging reserve and taken to
the income statements.
General reserve
Balance at the beginning of the year - - - -
Transfer from equity compensation reserve 4.2 - 4.2 -
Balance at the end of the financial year 42 - 4.2 -
The general reserve is used to record share based remuneration amounts
with respect to the Long Term Incentive Share Plan where the vesting
requirements for completed plans for awards conditional upon a market
condition have not been met.
¢} Reserve movements attributable to deferred taxes
Equity compensation reserve 24b} 06 (0.2) 06 0.2)
Cash flow hedging reserve 24b) (7.5) 2.2 {10.8} (7.7
Total 20b} (6.9) 20 (10.2} {7.9)

25. Employee Ownership Plans

The Company has seven share and option plans available for employees and Directors of the Group: the Employees Share Plan; the Executive Option Plan;

the Long Term Incentive Share Plan; the Executive Retention Share Plan; the Non-Executive Directars’ Share Plan; the Non-Executive Directors” Retirement
Share Trust and the Executive Salary Sacrifice Share Plan, Fully paid ordinary shares issued under these plans rank equally with all other existing fully paid
ordinary shares, in respect of voting and dividends rights and fuiure bonus and rights issues.

Employees Share Plan

The Employees Share Plan provides employees with an opportunity to contribute up to 3% of their salary to acquire shares in the Company. The Plan is
administered by a trustee which acquires (and holds in trust) shares for the benefit of participants. These shares are acquired through issues of shares to
the trustes (the issue price is the weighted average price of a specified five day period prior to issue) or are purchased on market at the prevailing market
price; shares that have been forfeited under the terms of the Plan are also utilised. For every share acquired with amounts contributed by each participant,
a matching share is acquired by the trustee. These matching shares, which under normal circumstances vest with the employee after a period of two years
from their date of issue (acquisition or utilisation), are acquired with contributions made by the emptoying entities. Vesting of matching shares with
employees does not involve any performance hurdles.

Members of the Plan receive dividends for all shares held on their behalf by the trustee.
As at the end of the financial year, the total number of employees eligible to participate in the Plan was 15,666 (2006: 18.060).

Ali shares were purchased on market during the financial year. No shares werg issued under the Plan during the financial year.
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25. Employee Ownership Plans continued

Employees Share Plan continued

Details of the movements in share balances under the Plan during the 2007 financial year are as follows —

Employee Matching Reserve Total

shares shares shares shares

No. No. No. Na.

Shares at the beginning of the financial year 4,350,486 4,350,486 8,587 8,709,559
Purchased 845,998 696,072 - 1,542,070
Utilised from reserves - 149,926 (149,926} -
Distributed to employees’ (1,816,229} (1.657,234) - (3,473.463)
Forfeited - {158,995) 158,995 -
Shares at the end of the financial year 3,380,255 3,380,255 17,656 6,778,166
Number of shares vested to employees 3,380,255 2,093,807 - 5.474,062

i Includes shares distributed to employees of the South Karean business which was discontinued on 24 October 2007.

Executive Dption Plan

The Executive Option Plan provides executives, as approved by the Company’s Compensation Committee, with options to acquire ordinary shares in the

Company. The options’ exercise price is the market price at the time of issue. Market price is the weighted average price of a specified five day period prior
to issue. Each aptien is granted over one unissued ordinary share in the Company. Options issued prior to 24 April 2002 are exercisable between three and
ten years after issue. Gptions may also be exercised earlier if employment terminates for reasons of retirement or redundancy. Payment in full is due at the
time options are exercised. Options carry na voting rights and do not have any performance hurdles. Once the exercise period has been reached, the
aptions may be exercised at the discretion of the executive.

No options have been issued since 1 January 2003. From the beginning of the 2003 financial year, options were removed from the remuneration package of
Group executives. Accordingly. during the 2007 financial year, the Company did not issue options to any executives.

Details of the movements in option balances under the Plan during the financial year are as follows —

2007 2006
No. No.
Options at the beginning of the financiat year 7,242,180 9,537,880
Reinstated 23,150 59,250
Exercised {2,398,525) {964,850
Expired {1,388,950) {1.389,500)
Options at the end of the financial year 3,478,455 7,242,780
Details of options on issue at the end of the 2007 financial year are as {ollows —
Options Options

Holders Options Exercise price Grant exercisable expiry
No. No.' $ date from date’ date
105 431,600 4.53 17 August 1998 Current 17 August 2008
283 952,755 6.49 12 July 1999 Current 12 July 2009
1 135,000 4.3 8 November 1999 Current 8 November 2009
153 751,650 297 10 July 2000 Current 10 July 2010
267 1,207,450 5.44 17 August 2001 Cuorrent 17 August 2011
Total 3,478,455

1 Each option reprasents an option to acquire one ordinary share.

2 All options designated current have vested with the respective executives.
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25. Employee Ownership Plans continued

Executive Option Plan continued

Detaits of options exercised during the financial year are as follows —

2007 2006

Weighted Weighted

average average
market Market market Market
Exercise Options value at value at (Options value at value at
price exercised exercise date Proceeds exercise date exercised  exercise date Proceeds  exercise date
$ No. $ M M No, $ M M
297 511,700 an 15 47 197,200 743 06 15
453 320,800 9.22 15 3.0 269,700 137 1.2 20
518 80,000 a8.713 0.4 0.7 - - - -
5.44 545,850 8.92 30 49 306,250 749 16 23
6.33 530,700 8.67 a3 46 90,800 751 0.6 0.7
6.49 409,475 9.06 217 a7 100,300 753 06 08
Total 2,398,525 124 216 964,850 46 73

Long Term Incentive Share Plan

The Long Term Incentive Share Plan (LTISP} provides executives with the opportunity to be rewarded with fully paid ordinary shares as an incentive to

cieate long term growth in value for CCA shareholders. The Plan is administered by a trustee who acquires {and holds in trust} shares for the benefit of
participants. These shares are acquired either through an issue of shares to the trustee {the issue price is the weighted average price of a specified five
day pertod prior to issue) or are purchased on market at the prevailing market price.

Senior executives are invited to participate in the Plan at the invitation of the Compensation Commitiee. The Committee specifies the performance criteria,
covering a three year period, for each annual plan. Refer to the remuneration report found in the Directors’ Report for further details on the Plan.

The estimated fair value of shares offered in the Plan is calculated by multiplying the threshold number of shares by the fair value of the shares at grant
date and amortised over the performance period. The individual plans have been valued using the Monte Carlo simulation methodology. This methodology
calculates the fair value of perfarmance rights based on the share price at grant date and assumptions for the expected risk free rate of interest for the
performance period, the volatility of the share price returns, the dividend entitlements and performance conditions of the plans. The risk free rate used in
the methadology is the yield on an Ausiralian bond at the grant date matching the remaining life of the Plan. The volatility is based on the historical CCA
share price volatility of CCA traded options.

During the financial year, the number of shares offered to executives under the Plan, and which are subject to performance hurdles, was 811,990
(2006; 1,703.796}, with a weighted average fair value of $7.70 (2006: $5.14).

Details of the movements in the share balances under the Plan during the financial year for each annual plan are as follows —

2000-2002 2001-2003 2002-2004 2003-2005 2004-2006 2005-2007 2006-2008
plan plan plan plan plan™ plan’ plan®™  Total

Share movements No. No. No No. No. No. No. No.
Shares at the beginning
of the financial year 38,900 46,375 193,160 59,919 50,000 74,500 - 452,854
Purchased - - - - 514,690 - 25000 539,690
Distributed to executives ~ {17,837) {13,600) (84,215} - (142.261) - - (252.913)
Shares at the end of
the financial year 21,063 32,775 108,845 59,919 422429 74,500 25000 744,631
Number of shares
vested 21,063 32,7175 108,945 59,919 422,429 74,500 25000 744631
Number of participants 3 3 ra| 1 10 1 1

1 Details of the terms of each annual plan are contained in the semuneration report found in the Directors’ Report,

2 These shares were purchased on market in February 2007 at $8.167 per share,
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25. Employee Ownership Plans continued
Executive Retention Share Plan

In garly 2007, the Board established a new Exacutive Retention Share Plan {ERSP), and invitad key senior executives to participate. The Group Managing
Director is not eligible to participate without shareholder approval and was not invited to participate in the 2007-2009 ERSP. The ERSP complements the
LTISP and offers an award of shares at the end of a three year period with no performance hurdles attached, providing the executive is still employed by
the Company. Refer to the remuneration report found in the Directors’ Repart for further details of the Plan.

The shares were purchased on market in February 2007 and the costs are amortised over the three years vesting period. The shares forfeited are utilised by
the Employees Share Plan.

Details of movements in the share balances under the Plan during the financial year are -

2007 2006
Share movements No. No.
Shares at the beginning of the financial year - -
Purchased 437,587 -
Forfeited (5,100) -
Shares at the end of the financial year 432,487 -

Nan-Executive Directors’ Share Plan

Under the terms of the Non-Executive Directors” Share Plan, a minimum of 25% {and up to 100%) of Directors’ base fees is 1o be sacrificed by each
Director. An amount equivalent to the fees sacrificed is contributed to the Plan for the benefit of that Director.

The Plan is administered by a trustee which acquires {and holds in trust) shares for the benefit of participants, until the participant ceases to be a Director
of CCA.

As at the end of the financial year, there were seven Non-Executive Directors participating in the Plan,
Shares under the Plan are purchased on market on the first business day of each month.

Details of movements in the share balances under the Plan during the financial year are —

2007 2006
Share movements No. No.
Shares at the beginning of the financial year 223814 144,874
Purchased 54,993 79,000
Shares at the end of the financial year 278,867 223874

Non-Executive Directors’ Retirement Share Trust

The Non-Executive Directors” Retirement Share Trust holds shares in the Company purchased pursuant to applicable Non-Executive Directors’ Retirement
Atlowance Agreements. These shares are held in lieu of retirement benefits under the Company's Non-Executive Directors’ Retirement Scheme which was
terminated on 31 December 2002. Pursuant to the resolution passed at the Annuat General Meeting held 3 May 2008, the accrued benefits under the prior
scheme were indexed against the movement in Average Weekly Ordinary Time Earnings from 1 January 2003 to 3 May 2006 and 152,236 shares in the
Company were purchased at $6.8495 per share on 6 May 2006. The Directors are entitled to receive dividends or ather distributions relating to the shares,
however, each applicable Non-Executive Oirector has agreed to reinvest all dividends receivable on the relevant shares under the Company's Dividend
Reinvestment Plan, All consequent shares will be held by the Trustee of the Non-Executive Directors’ Retirement Share Trust and the Directors have agreed
that they wil! not require the Trustee to transfer those shares to them until the time of his or her retirement.

The Trust is administered by a trustee which acquired {and holds in trust) shares for the benefit of participants until the participant ceases &0 be a Director
of CCA.

There are four applicable Non-Executive Directors participating in the Trust.

Details of movements in the share balances under the Trust during the financial year are —

2007 2006
Share movements No. No.
Shares at the beginning of the financial year 155,806 -
Purchased - 152,236
Issue of shares under the Dividend Reinvestment Plan 611N 3,570
Shares at the end of the financial year 161,977 155,806
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25. Employee Ownership Plans continued
Executive Salary Sacrifice Share Plan

The Executive Salary Sacrifice Share Plan commenced operating in September 2004. The Plan allows Australian executives to voluntarily sacrifice a
nominated propartion of their remuneration. The trustee of the Plan acquires shares to the value of the sacrificed amount and holds those shares for the

benefit of the participant until the shares are withdrawn.

In addition, Australian executives participating in the Company’s annual cash incentive plans are reguired 1o sacrifice a proportion of any awards made
under these plans, with an equivalent amount being contributed towards the Executive Salary Sacrifice Share Plan for the acquisition of shares by the
trustee. The trustee holds these shares for the benefit of participants in proportion to their benefits sacrificed.

Details of movements in the share balances under the Plan during the financial year are —

2007 2006
Share movements No. No.
Shares at the beginning of the financial year 452,518 247,200
Purchased 313,258 223,551
Distributed to executives (95,645) {18,233)
Shares at the end of the financial year 620,131 452518
CCA Group CCA Entity
Refer 2007 2006 2007 2006
Note M M M M
26. Dividends
a) Summary of dividends appropriated during the financial year -
Prior year final dividend' 135.2 1309 135.2 1309
Current year interim dividend? 116.9 108.7 116.9 108.7
Total dividends appropriated 252.1 2396 2521 2396
Dividends satisfied by issue of shares under the Dividend Reinvestment Plan 7h) {14.3) (14.4) (14.3) (14.4)
Dividends paid as per the cash flow statements 2318 2252 2378 225.2
b} Dividends declared and not recognised as a liahility
Current year final dividend on ordinary shares? 146.8 135.2 146.8 1352
¢) Franking credits’
Balance of the franking account at the end of the financial year 150.7 150.0 150.7 150.0
Franking credits which will arise from payment of income tax
provided for in the financial statements 478 271 418 271
Total franking credits 198.5 1771 1985 1771

Paid at 18.0¢ (2006: 17.5¢} per share and fully franked at the Australian tax rate of 30%.
Paid at 15.5¢ (2006: 14.5¢} per share and fully franked at the Australian Lax rate of 30%.
Declared at 20.0¢ (2006: 8.0¢) per share and fully franked at the Australian tax rate of 30%.

A L RN -

The franking credits are expressed on a tax paid basis. Accordingly, the total éranking credits balance would allow fully franked dividends to be paid equal to $463.2 million {2006: $413.2 million).

The franking credit balance wili be reduced by $124.1 million resulting from the final dividend declared for 2007, payable 7 April 2008, and the effect of the

share buy-back {refer Note 38).
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CCA Group
2007 2005
No. No.
M M
21. Earnings Per Share (EPS)
The following reflects the share and earnings data used in the calculation of basic
and difuted EPS —
Weighted average number of ordinary shares on issue used to calculate basic EPS 7531 749.2
Effect of ditutive securities — share options 21 18
Adjusted weighted average number of ordinary shares on issue used to calculate
diluted EPS 795.2 751.0
M M
Eamings used to calculate basic and diluted EPS -
Profit from continuing operations attribuiable to members
of Coca-Cola Amatil Limited 3676 3136
Loss from discontinued operation after income tax (56.9) {31.2)
Earnings used to calculate basic and diluted EPS 307 2824
CCA Group CCA Entity
2007 2006 2007 2006
M M M ™
28. Commitments
a) Capital expenditure commitments
Estimated aggregate amount of contracts for purchase of property,
plant and equipment not provided for, payable -
Within one year 68.4 98.2 -
Later than one year but not later than five years - 439 - -
68.4 1421 - -
At 31 December 2007, the Group has capital expenditure commitments principally
rekating to construction of an automated warehouse in Northmead, Sydney, Australia.
b) Operating lease commitments
Lease commitments for non-cancellable operating leases with
terms of more than one year, payable —
Within one year 56.2 59.2 14 15
Later than ane year but not later than five years 1321 1147 53 5.4
Later than five years 86.2 na 17.6 189
2745 2453 23 258
The Group has entered into commercial non-canceflable operating leases on certain
properties, motor vehictes and other items of plant and equipment. Leases vary in
coniract period depending on the asset involved. Renewal terms are included in
certain contracts, whereby renewal is at the option of the specific entity that holds
the lease. On renewal, the terms of the leases are usually renegotiated. There are
na restrictions placed upon the lessee by entering into these leases.
c) Other commitments
Promotional commitments, payable —
Within one year 213 182 - -
Later than one year but not later than five years 351 442 - -
Later than five years 35 13.0 - -
59.9 75.4 -

The Group has promotional commitments principally relating to sponsorship of
sports clubs, charities and various other arganisations and events.
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CCA Group CCA Entity

2007 2006 2007 20086
M M M $M
29. Contingencies
Contingent liabilities
Contingent liabilities existed at the end of the financial year in respect of -
Guarantees of borrowings of subsidiaries’ - - 8.2 296.3
Termination payments under service agreements’ 6.6 96 6.6 956
Other guarantees 16 3.0 - -
8.2 12.6 148 305.9

The Campany has entered into a Deed of Cross Guarantee with certain of its whotly owned subsidiaries {designated 1 in Note 31}, whereby the liabilities of
those entities are guaranieed.

No material losses are anticipated in respect of the above contingent liabilities.

1 CCA provides certain financial guarantees &g its subsidiaries. Mo liability has been recognised in refation to these guarantees as the fair value of the guarantees is immaterial.
2 Refer to the remuneration report found in the Directors’ Report for further details,

CCA Group CCA Entity
2007 2006 2007 2006
M M M b
30. Auditors’ Remuneration
Amounts received, or due and receivable, by —
CCA auditor, Ernst & Young {Australia) for —
Audit ar hal year review of the financial reports 1.781 181 0.789 0.800
Other services —
assurance related 0.060 0.092 0.060 0.092
tax campliance ' 0.036 0.010 0.035 0.010
0.036 0.102 0.095 0.102
1.877 1913 0.884 0.902
Member firms of Ernst & Young in relation to subsidiaries of CCA for -
Audit or half year review of the financial reports 0.719 0.664 - -
Other services —
assurance refated 0.355' 0018 - -
1.074 (.682 - -
Other firms in relation to subsidiaries of CCA far —
Audit or half year review of the financial reports n.os 0.045 - -
(ther services —
* tax compliance 0.016 0.014 - -
0.057 0.059 - -
Total auditors’ remuneration 3.008 2.654 0.884 0.902-

1 Relates 1o assurance services in relation 1o the discontinuation of the South Kerean business.
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Equity holding'

Country of 2007 2006
Footnote  incorporation Y% %
31. Investments in Subsidiaries
Coca-Cola Amatil Limited 1 Australia
Subsidiaries -
AIST Pty Lid 1 Australia 100 100
Amatil Investments {Singapore) Pte Ltd Singapore 100 100
Caca-Cota Amatil {Fiji} Ltd Fiji 100 100
PT Coca-Cola Battling Indanesia 2 Indonesia 100 100
PT Coca-Cola Distribution Indonesia Indonesia 100 100
Associated Products & Distribution Pty 1 Australia 100 100
Coca-Cola Amatil {PNG} Ltd Papua New Guinea 100 100
Associated Nominees Pty Ltd 3 Australia 100 50
Beverage Distributars Pty Ltd {liquidated) Australia - 100
CCA PST Pty Lid 3 Australia 100 333
CCA Superannuation Pty Lid 3 Awustralia 100 50
C-C Bottlers Ltd 1 Australia 100 100
Beverage Bottlers (Sales) Ltd 1 Australia 100 100
CCKBC Holdings Ltd 4 Cyprus 100 100
CCKBC {Netherlands) Holding | BY Netherlands - 100
CCKBC {Netherlands) Holding Il BV Netherlands - 100
Coca-Cola Karea Bottling Company, Ltd Repubtic of Korea - 100
Coca-Cola Amatil {Aust) Pty Ltd 1 Australia 100 100
Apand Pty Ltd Australia 100 100
Baymar Pty Ltd Australia 100 100
Beverage Bottters {NQ) Pty Ltd Australia 100 100
Beverage Bottlers (NSW) Pty Ltd {in liquidation} Australia 100 100
Beverage Bottlers (Qid) Ltd 1 Australia 100 100
Beverage Bottlers (SA} Ltd {liquidated) Australia - 100
Coca-Cola Amatil (Holdings) Pty Lid Australia 100 100
Crusta Fruit Juices Pry Ltd 1 Australia 100 100
Quenchy Crusta Sales Pty Ltd Australia 100 100
Quirks Australia Pty Ltd 1 Australia 100 100
Coca-Cola Holdings NZ Ltd New Zealand 100 100
Coca-Cola Amatil {NZ} Ltd New Zealand 100 100
Amatil Beverages {New Zealand) Ltd New Zealand 100 -
Johns River Pty Ltd Australia 100 100
Matila Norminees Pty Ltd 5  Australia . 100 100
Neverfail Springwater Ltd 1&6  Australia 100 100
Neverfail Cooler Company Pty Ltd Australia 100 100
Purna Pty Ltd Australia 100 100
Neverfail Bottled Water Co Pty Ltd 1&7  Australia 100 100
Neverfail SA Pty Ltd Austratia 100 100
Piccadilly Distribution Services Pty Ltd Australia 100 100
N Neverfail Springwater Co Pty Ltd 1 Auvstralia 100 100
Neverfail Springwater (Vic] Pty Ltd 1 Austalia 100 100
Neverfail WA Pty Ltd 1 Australia 100 100
Piccadilly Natural Springs Pty Ltd Australia 100 100
Real 0z Water Supply Co {Qld) Pty Ltd Australia 100 100
Neverfail Springwater Co {Qld) Pty Ltd 1 Australia 100 100
Pacbev Pty Ltd 1 Australia 100 100
CCA Bayswater Pty Ltd 1 Australia 100 100
SPC Ardmona Ltd 1&8  Australia 100 100
Ardmona Foods Ltd 1 Australia 100 100
Australian Canned Fruit {1.M.0.) Pty Lid Australia 100 100

Refer to following page for footnote details
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Equity holding’

Country of 2007 2006
Footnote  incorporation % %

31. Investments in Subsidiaries continued
Digital Signal Processing Systems Pty Ltd Australia 100 100
Goulburn Valley Canners Pty Ltd Australia 100 100
Goulburn Valley Feod Canneries Pty Ltd Australia 100 100
Henry Jones Foods Pty Ltd Australia 100 100
Halico No. 39 Py Ltd Australia 100 100
SPC Ardmona (Netherlands) BY Netherlands 100 -
SPC Ardmona (Germany) GmbH Germany 100 -
SPC Ardmona Qperations Limited 1 Australia 100 100
Austral International Trading Company Pty Ltd Australia 100 100
Cherry Berry Fine Foods Pty Ltd Australia 100 100
Vending Management Services Ltd New Zealand 100 100

Names inset indicate that shares are held by the company immediately above the inset.
The above companies carry on business in their respective countries of incorporation.
t  The preportion of ownership interest is equal to the preportion of voting power held,

Footnates

1 These companies are parties to a Deed of Cress Guaraniee as detailed in Note 37 and are eligible for the benafit of ASIC Class Order 98/1418.

2 Coca-Cola Amatil Limited holds 4.84% of the shares in this company.

3 Associated Nominees Pty Ltd, CCA PST Pty L1d and CCA Superannuation Pty Ltd were trustees of in-house CCA superannuation funds. These superannuation funds have since been wansferred to
the AMP SignatureSuper Master Trust in 2007.

4 CCKBC Holdings Ltd held 100% of 1he shareholding in CCKBC {Netherfands} Holding | BV and CCKBC {Netherlands) Holding Il BY. CCKBC (Netherlands) Holding | BY and CCKBC [Netherlands}
Holding Il BV he'd 49.8% and 50.2% respectively of the shareholding in Coca-Cola Korea Bottling Company, Ltd. On 24 Octeber 2007, CCKBC Holdings Ltd disposed of its shares it held in CCKBC
(Netherlands) Holding | BY and CCKBC (Netherlands) Holding Il BY which together held all the shares of Coca-Cala Korea Bottling Company, Ltd, Refer t¢ Note B for details.

5 Matila Nominees Pty Ltd is the trustee company for the Employees Share Plan [ESP), the Long Term Incentive Share Plan (LTISP), the Executive Retention Share Plan (ERSP}, the Non-Executive
Directors” Share Plan, the Non-Executive Directors’ Retirement Share Trust and the Executive Salary Sacrifice Share Plan. As at 31 December 2007, the trustas held 6,778,166 (2006: 8,709,559)
ordinary shares on behalf of the members of the ESP. 744,631 (2006: 462,854) ordinary shares on behalf of the members of the LTISP, 432 487 (2006: nil) ordinary shares on behalf of the members
of the ERSF, 278,867 (2006: 223,874) ordinary shares on behalf of the members of the Non-Executive Directors’ Share Plan, 161,977 [2006: 155,806) ordinary shares on behalf of the members of
the Non-Executive Directors” Retirement Share Frust and 670,131 (2006: 452,518} ordinary shares on behalf of the members of the Executive Salary Sacrifice Share Plan.

B Neverfail Springwater Ltd holds 40.7% of the shareholding in Neverfail Bottlad Water Co Pty Ld.
7 Neverfail Bottled Water Co Py Ltd halds 1.5% of the sharebolding in Neverfai! Springwater (Vic) Pty Lid,
B SPC Ardmona Ltd holds 50% of the shares in Australian Canned Fruit {LM.Q.} Pty Ltd.

32. Business Combinations

a} Summary of acquisitions

Acquisition of a coffee business and related assets

CCA acquired a coffee business and its related assets on 30 March 2007, for a purchase consideration of $10.7 million.

Details of the fair value of the assets acquired and goodwill are as follows —

M
Purchase consideration —
Cash paid 10.7
Fair value of net identifiable assets acquired —
Inventories (0.8)
Property, plant and equipment (1.6}
Goodwill 83
Other acquisitions
Qther acquisitions include various individually immaterial acquisitions within the bulk water
industry. Oetails of the fair value of the assets and liabilities acquired and goodwill are as follows -
Purchase consideration —~
Cash paid 42
Fair value of net identifiable assets and liabilities acquired —
Property, plant and equipment {0.2)
Intangible assets {0.9)
Trade and other payables 01
Deferred tax liabilities 0.2
Goodwill 34
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32. Business Combinations continued

al Summary of acquisitions continued

The goodwill recognised for the period is $11.7 million (2006: $3.7 mitlion). Refer to Note 15 for details. The goodwill is attributable to the high profitability
of the acquired businesses and synergies expected to arise after acquisition.

The amounts recognised gn acquisition above represent provisional assessments of the fair values of assets and liabilities acquired. These amounts will be
finalised within twelve months from the date of acquisition. The fair value of the above assets acquired approximates the carrying value.

The revenue and net profit contributions to the Group have not been disclosed as the business structures of the acquired businesses have changed
since acquisition.

2007 2006
Recognised on  Recognised on
acquisition acquisition
M M
b) Purchase consideration
Cash paid 149 15.1
Deferred cash settlement - 01
Costs associated with the acquisition - 0.4
Total consideration 149 15.6
The net cash outflow an acquisition is as follaws —
Cash paid, including costs {14.9) (15.5)
Net cash outflow {14.9} (15.5)

1 Comprises acguisition of a coffee business and its related assets and other acguisitions which are individually immaterial.
2 Comprises acquisition of the water business and related assets of Palm Springs Ltd and other acquisitions which are individually imematerial.

33. Key Management Personnel and Directors Disclosures

CCA has applied the relief available under Corporations Amendment Regulations 2006 {No. 4), which exempts listed companies from providing
remuneration disclosures in their annual financial report as required by paragraphs Aus 25.4 to Aus 25.7.2 of AASB 124 "Related Party Disclosures”, These
remuneration disclosures have been transferred to the remuneration report in pages 18 to 41 of the Directors’ Report and have been audited.

The following persons were key management personnel of Coca-Cola Amatil Limited during the financial year —

Key management personnel Position Date of change in position
Directors in office at the end of the financial year

D.M. Gonski, AC Chairman {Non-Executive}

J.R. Broadbent, AD Director {Non-Executive)

T.J. Davis Director and Group Managing Director

. Finan Director (Non-Executive)

G.J. Kelly Director (Non-Executive)

W.M. King, AD Director (Non-Executive}

D.E. Meiklejohn Director (Non-Executive)

M.K. Ward, AO Director {(Non-Executive}

Executives at the end of the financial year

J.M. Wartig Chief Financial Officer

W.G. White Managing Director, Australasia

G. Adams Managing Director, New Zealand & Fiji

P Kelly Managing Directar, Asta

J. Seward Managing Director, Indonesia & PNG

N. Garrard Managing Director, Food & Services

Former key management personnel

A. Randall Managing Director, South Korea Resigned 31 October 2007.
M. Clark General Manager, Grinders Coffee Business, Australia  Ceased to be designated as key

management personnel on 18 April 07.
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33. Key Management Personnel and Directors Disclosures continued

Total remuneration for key management personne! and Directors for the CCA Group and CCA Entity during the financia) year is set out below —

2007 2006
Remuneration by category S $
Short term 13,011,196 11,606,203
Past employment 1,519,431 1,461,347
QOther long term 395,589 425,302
Termination 388,161 404,762
Share based payments 4,900,473 3156167

20,214,850 17,053,781

Further details are contained in the remuneration report, found in the Directors’ Report.

Options held by key management personnel
The Company has issued no aptions since 1 January 2003. No remuneration in future periods is affected by options previously granted. All options are now
fully vested with the employees.

No performance conditions were attached to the grant of optians.

2007

Number of options held

over unissued ordinary Opening Closing

shares in CCA balance Exercised Expired balance

Executives

W.G. White 80,000 {80,000) - -

P. Kelly 4,000 - (4,000} -

Former key management personnel

R. Randall 6,000 {6,000} - -

M. Clark 132,500 (87,500} {45,000} -

2008

Number of aptions held Vested and Vested and
over unigsued ordinary Opening Closing  exercisable at not exercisable
shares in CCA balance Exercised Expired balance  end of period at end of period
Executives’

W.G. White 80,000 - - £0,000 80,000 -
P Kelly 9,000 - (5,000} 4,000 4,000 -
R. Randalt 6,000 - - 6,000 6,000 -
M. Clark 192,500 - {60,000} 132,500 132,500 -

1 Since 1 January 2003, share options are no longer awarded. Accordingly, Maessrs Wartig, Adams, Seward and Garrard do not hold any options

There are no options on issue to key management personnel or to the executive Director at the end of the financial year.

The exercise price of options on issue to key management personnel for the prior year is as follows —

Exercise

Options price

2006 No. 3
Executives

W.G. White 80,000 5.18

P Kelly 4,000 10.08

R. Randall 6,000 633

M. Clark 45,000 10.08

M. Clark 87,500 6.33
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33. Key Management Personnel and Directors Disclosures continued
Shareholdings of key management personnel and Directors

Non- Issued/

Non- Executive awarded
2007 Executive Directors’ during
Number of Opening Directors’  Retirement  the yearas  Withdrawn/ Closing
ordinary shares held balance Additions'  Share Plan®*  Share Trust’ remuneration’ sold balance
Directors in office at the
end of the financial year
D.M. Gonski, AC 219,993 1,345 28,298 - - - 315,636
J.R. Broadbent, AQ 47,486 3,788 3.992 - - - 55,266
T.J. Davis®®® 630,298 68,990 - - 83,833 {50,000) 733121
|. Finan 5,597 - 3N - - - 9,468
G.J. Kelly 11,364 54 3570 - - - 14,988
WM. King. AQ 32213 260 1.0 - - - 39,634
0.E. Meiklejohn 12,892 - 4,083 - - - 16,975
MK Ward, AD 48,084 1,969 4,078 - - - 54,131
Executives
J.M. Wartig® 28,030 15,438 - - 35,350 - 78,818
W.G. White® 67,781 31,303 - - 38,809 - 137,893
G. Adams® 2,079 628 - - 10,605 - 13,312
P Kelly® 33,500 12,050 - - 11,615 - 57,165
J. Seward® 3047 2,585 - - 12120 - 17,752
N. Garrard® 40,145 8,036 - - - - 48,181
Former key management personnel
R. Randall 46,042 10,495 - - 5,050 (61,587} -
M. Clark 64,887 88,541 - - 22,725 (169,387} 6,766

1 Includes the purchase of ordinary shares and shares issued under the Employees Share Plan, Dividend Reinvestmeni Plan and Executive Salary Sacrifice Share Plan. The additions to the

shareholdings were at arms length.

Shares purchased during the pericd. Beneficial interest held subject to the conditions of the Plan.

Shares purchased during the pericd. Beneficial interest hetd subject to the conditions of the Plan,

Shares awarded under the 2004-2006 LTISP and 25,000 shares awarded under the Z006-2008 LTISP ta Mr Davis.
Includes beneficial interest in 298,255 shares held by the LTISP. which are subject to the conditions of the Plan.
Subsequent 1o 31 December 2007, the following awards under the 2005-2007 LTISF were made =

=TT, I S R K]

Mr Davis 193,429 shares; Mr Woartig 82,425 shares; Mr White 90,491 shares; Mr Adams 24,728 shares; Mr Kelly 27,671 shares; Mr Seward 28,260 shares; and Mr Garrard 32,970 shares.
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33. Key Management Personnel and Directors Disclosures continued
Shareholdings of key management personnel and Directors continued

Non- Issued/

Executive awarded
2006 Non-Executive Directors’ during
Number of Opening Directors’ Retirement the year as Closing
ordinary shares held halance Additions’ Share Plan®  Share Trust?  remuneration® Withdrawn balance
Directors in office at the end
of the financial year
D.M. Gonski, AC 140,317 7.074 48,196 84,406 - - 279,993
JR. Broadbent, AD 10,980 725 4,860 30921 - . - 47 486
T.J. Davig® 506,614 179,184 - - 74,500 (130,000) 630,298
|. Finan 1,180 - 4417 - - - 59,597
Gl Kelly 7.04 65 4,258 - - - 11,364
WM. King, AD 17,677 150 8,032 6414 - ~ 32,2713
D.E. Meiklgjohn 8474 - 4,418 - - - 12,892
M.K. Ward, AD 11,393 1,377 4819 30,495 - - 48,084
Executives
J.M. Wartig 13,223 14,807 - - - - 28,030
W.G. White 59,367 8414 - - - - 67.781
G. Adams 1,378 0 - - - - 2079
P. Kelly 27,108 6,392 - - - - 33,500
R. Randall 12,824 33.218 - - - - 46,042
J. Seward 1,374 1,673 - - - - 3,047
N. Garrard 33.893 6,252 - - - - 40,145
M. Clark 56,654 8,233 - - - - 64,887

I Includes the purchase of ordinary shares and shares issued under the Emplovees Share Plan, Dividend Reinvestment Plan and Executive Salary Sacrifice Share Plan, The additions to the
shareheldings were at arms length.

Shares purchased during the period, Beneficial interest held subjact ta the conditions of the Plan.

Shares purchased during the period. Beneficial interest held subject to the conditions of the Plan,

Shares awarded to Mr Davis under the 2005-2007 LTISP

Inctudes beneficial interest in 214,392 shares hald by the LTISP. which are subject to the conditions of the Plan,

[ R K}

Loans to key management personnel and Directors
There are no loans between key management personnel (including Directors) and CCA or any other Group company.

Other transactions of key management personnel {(including Directors) and their personally related entities
There are no other transactions between key management personnel {including Directors) and CCA or any other Group comparty.
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CCA Group CCA Entity
Refer 2007 2006 2007 2006
Note sM ™ ™M ™
34. Derivatives and Net External Debt Reconciliation
a) Derivatives as per the balance sheets
Derivative assets — cusrent
Debt related - {1.0} - -
Non-debt related {13.7) {50.0} (5.9) (41.6}
35¢) (13.7 {51.0} {5.9) (41.6)
Derivative assets — non-current
Non-debt related (83.9) - {80.7) -
35¢) (83.9) - (80.7} -
Derivative liabilities — current
Deht related 11 88.7 11 88.7
Non-debt related 30.9 811 39 60.4
35¢) 42.0 1698 150 1491
Derivative liahilities — non-current
Debt relaied 109.3 70.0 109.3 0.0
Non-debt related 51 - 432 -
35¢) 160.4 70.0 1525 700
Total net derivative liabilities 104.8 188.8 80.9 17715
Net derivative liabilities{assets} comprises —
Debt related 120.4 157.7 1204 158.7
Non-debt related {15.6) 31 {39.5) 18.8
Total net derivative liabilities 104.8 188.8 80.9 1775
b) Net external debt reconciliation
Cash assets 7 (379.7) (436.1) {319.8) (307.5)
Trade and other receivables — non-current - (2.9 - {1.5}
et derivative liabilities — debt related 120.4 157.7 120.4 158.7
Interest bearing liabilities — current 18 171.4 2784 1703 165.7
Interest bearing liabilities — non-current 18 1,695.2 20775 1,631.4 1,837.3
Total net external debt 1,607.3 2,074.6 1.602.3 1.852.7
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35. Financial and Capital Risk Management
Financial risk management

The Group’s principal financial instruments, other than derivatives, comprise cash, short term deposits, bills of exchange, bank lozns and capital markets
issues.

The main purpose of these financial instruments is to manage liquidity and to raise finance for the Group's operations.
The Group has various other financial instruments such as trade and other receivables and trade and other payables, which arise directly from its operations,

The Group uses derivatives in accardance with Board approved policies to reduce the Group's exposure to adverse fluctuations in interest rates, foreign
exchanga rates and certain raw material commodity prices. These derivatives ereate an obligation or right that effectively transfers one or more of the risks
associated with an underlying financial instrument, asset or obligation. Derivative instruments that the Group uses ta hedge risks such as interest rate,
fareign currency and commodity price movements include —

® (0SS CYTENCY SWaps,
* inierest rate swaps;

e commodity swaps;

» forward foreign currency contracts;

e futures contracts; and

¢ option contracts {currency, interest rate, commodity and futures).

The Group's risk management activities are carried out centrally by CCA's Group Treasury department for interest rate and foreign exchange exposures. Risk
management activities in respect to commodity exposures are undertaken centrally by CCA's Strategic Procurement department. Both the Group Treasury
and Strategic Procurement depariments operate under their respective policies as approved by the Board. The Group Treasury and Strategic Procurement
departments operate in co-operation with the Group’s operating units so as to maximise the benefits associated with centralised management of Group risk
factors.

Capital risk management
The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue as going congerns while maximising the return to shareholders
through the optimisation of net debt and total equity balances.

The capital structure of Group entities is monitored using the gearing ratio. The ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total equity, Net debt is calculated
as total interest bearing liabilities (including debt related derivatives) less cash and cash equivalents. Total capital employed is calculated as net debt plus |
total equity. |

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return equity to shareholders, issue
new shares ar sell assets to reduce debt. The Group continuously reviews the capital structure to ensure —

» sufficient finance for the business is maintained at a reasonable cost

« sufficient funds are available for the business to implement its capital expenditure and business acquisition strategies;

» distributions to shareholders are maintained within stated dividend policy requirements; and

* whers excess funds asise with respect to the funds required to enact the Group's business strategies, consideration is given to possible returns of
equity to shareholders.

CCA has a dividand payout policy of 70% 4o 80% of net profit, subject to the ongoing cash needs of the business.

The table below details the calculation of the Group’s and tha CCA Entity's gearing ratios —

CCA Group CCA Entity
Refer 2007 2006 2007 2006
Note M ™M M M
Net debt 3 1,607.3 2.074.6 1,602.3 1.852.7
Total equity 1,440.7 1,470.7 24215 2,3629
Total capital employed 30480 35453 4,029.8 42156
Gearing ratio % 111.6 1411 66.0 78.4
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35. Financial and Capital Risk Management continued

Capital risk management continued

Section a) of this Note provides a summary of the Group's underlying economic positions as represented by the carrying values and fair values of the
Group's financial assets and financial liabilities.

Section b) addresses in more detail the key financial risk factors that arise from the Group's activities, including the Group's policies for managing these
risks.

Section ¢) pravides details of the Group's derivative financial instruments and hedges that are used for financial risk management.

a} Categories of financial assets and financial liabilities
The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities are shown as follows —

CCA Group CCA Entity
2007 2006 2007 2006
Carrying Fair  Carrying Fair Carrying Fair  Canying Fair
amount value  amount value  amount value  amount value
M M ™ M M M M M
Financial assets - current
Cash assets 3197 3197 4361 436.1 3198 3198 3075 3075
Trade and other receivables 686.0 686.0 6777 677.7 90.4 90.4 107 10.7
Derivatives — fair value through the income statements 58 5.8 197 15.7 4.3 43 13.0 13.0
Derivatives — hedge accounted through equity 19 19 353 353 16 16 286 28.6
Total financial assets — current 10794 10794 11648 11648 416.1 416.1 3598 3598
Financial assets — non-current
Trade and other receivables 35 35 179 178 20882 20982 20266 20266
Derivatives — fair value through the income statements 249 249 - - 249 249 - -
Derivatives — hedge accounted through equity 59.0 59.0 - - 55.8 55.8 - -
Total financial assets - non-current 8.4 814 179 179 21789 21789 20266 207266
Total financial assets 11668 1,1668 11827 11827 24950 25950 23864 23864
Financial liabilities — current
Trade and other payables 436.2 436.2 4915 4915 520.4 520.4 34 34
Interest bearing liabilities —
Bonds — at amortised cost' 1703 1614 165.7 2943 170.3 1814 165.7 79543
Loans — at amortised cost 04 04 04 0.4 - - - -
Bank ioans — at amortised cost 03 03 1123 1123 - - - -
Bank overdrafts 0.4 0.4 - - - - - -
Derivatives — fair value through the income statements 15.5 15.5 18.5 185 149 149 18.2 18.2
Derivatives — hedge accounted through equity 265 265 1513 151.3 0.1 01 130.9 130.9
Total financial liabilities — current 649.6 660.7 939.7 1,028.3 705.7 1168 318.2 406.8
Financial liabilities — non-current
Trade and other payables - - 29 29 - - 478.7 4787
Interest bearing Labilities —
Bonds — fair value through the income
statements? 390.4 390.4 4293 429.3 390.4 3904 4293 4293
Bonds - at amortised cost' 12910 13507 14580 15615 12410 13007 14080 15115
Loans — at amortised cost 59 59 6.2 6.2 - - - -
Bank loans — at amortised cost 19 79 1840 184.0 - - - -
Derivatives — fair value through the income statements 1518 151.8 70.0 70.0 151.8 151.8 70.0 700
Derivatives — hedge accounted thraugh equity 86 86 - - 0.7 0.7 - -
Total financial liahilities — non-current 18556 19153 21504 22539 1,7839 1.843.6 2.386.0 24895
Total financial liabilities 25052 25760 30901 328227 24896 25604 27042  2,896.3

1 Includes bonds carried at historic cost, and bends within effective cash ftow hedge relationships.
2 Includes bends within effective fair value hedge relationships.
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35. Financial and Capital Risk Management continued
b} Risk factors
The key financial risk factors that arise from the Group’s activities, including the Group’s policies for managing these risks are outlined below.

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of the Group’s financial instruments will fiuctuate because of changas in market prices. The
market risk factars to which the Group is exposed to are discussed in further detail below.

i} Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk refers ta the risks that the value of a financial instrument or cash flows associated with the instrument will fluctuate due to changes in
market interest rates.

Interest rate risk arises from interest bearing financial assets and liabilities that the Group utilises. Non-derivative interest bearing assets are
predominantly short term liquid assets. Long term debt issued at fixed rates exposes the Group to fair value interest rate risk. The Group's borrowings
which have a vaniable interest rate attached give rise to cash flow interest rate risk.

The Group’s risk management policy for interest rate risk seeks to minimise the effects of interest rate movements on its asset and liability portfolio
through active management of the exposures. The policy prescribes minimum and maximum average fixed rate maturity profifes for bath asset and liability
partfolios.

The Group maintains a mix of offshore and local currency fixed rate and variable rate debt, as well as a mix of term debt versus short term debt. The Group
primarily enters into interest rate swap, interest rate aption and cross currency agreements to manage these risks, The Group designates which of its
financial assets and financial liabilities are exposed to a fair value or cash flow interest rate risk, such as financial assets and liabilities with a fixed
interest rate or financial assets and financial liabilities with a floating interest rate that is reset as market rates change.

The Group hedges the interest rate and currency risk on all foreign curreney harrowings by entering into crass currancy swaps, which have the economic
effect of converting foreign currency borrowings to local currency borrowings. The derivative contracts are carried at fair value, being the market value as
quoted in an active market.

The derivative financial instruments and details of hedging activities contained in section ¢) of this Note provide further information in this area.

At batance date, the Group had the following mix of financial assets and financial liabilities exposed to Australian floating interest rate risk that are not
designaied in cash flow hedges:

CCA Group As at 31 December 2007 As at 31 December 2006
Average Non- Average Non-
interest Floating  interest interest  Floating Fixed interest
rate p.a. rate  bearing Total rate pa. rate Rate bearing Total
% M M M % M ™M M b
Financial assets
Cash assets 6.0 3797 - 378.7 5.7 4361 - - 436.1
Trade and other receivables - - 689.5 689.5 8.0 - 29 692.7 695.6
97 6895 1,069.2 436.1 29 692.7 1.1317
Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables - - 436.2 436.2 - - - 4944 4844
Bonds 7.7 640.4 - 640.4 6.9 645.7 - - 645.7
Loans, bank loans and bank overdrafts 15 149 - 149 6.9 3029 - - 302.9
655.3 436.2 1,091.5 9486 - 4844 1,443.0
CCA Entity As at 31 December 2007 As at 31 December 2006
Average Non- Average Non-
interest  Floating  interest interest  Floating Fixed interest
rate p.a. rate  bearing Total  rate p.a. rate Rate bearing Total
% M M M % M M M M
Financial assets
Cash assets 6.5 319.8 - 393 6.2 3075 - - 3075
Trade and other receivables 8.6 2,098.2 90.4 21886 8.0 1,502.1 15 5337 20373
2,418.0 90.4 2.508.4 1,809.6 15 533.7 23448
Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables 16 485.7 a7 5204 8.0 4504 - N7 4821
Bonds 1.7 640.4 - 640.4 6.9 645.7 - - 645.7
1,126.1 342 1,160.8 1,096.1 - N7 1,127.8
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35. Financial and Capital Risk Management continued

b) Risk factors continued
i} Interest rate risk continued
Sensitivity analysis

The table below shows the effect on net profit and equity after income tax if interest rates at balance date had been 10% higher or lower with all other
variables held constant, taking into account all underlying exposures and related hedges. Concurrent movements in interest rates and parallel shifis in the

yield curves are assumed.

A sensitivity of 10% has been selected as this is considered reasenable given the current level of both short term and long term Australian interest rates. A
10% sensitivity would move short term interest rates at 31 December 2007 from around 6.75% to 7.4B% representing a 68 basis point shift. This would
represent two to three rate increases in the official cash rate.

In 2007, 90% {2006: 90%) of the Group’s debt was denominated in Australian Dollars; therefore, only the movement in Australian interest rates is used in

this sensitivity analysis.

Based on the sensitivity analysis, if interest rates were 10% higher, net profit would be impacted by the interest expense being higher on the Group’s net

floating rate Australian Dollars positions during the year.

CCA Group

CCA Entity

Equity
{cash flow
hedging reserve)

Equity
{cash flow
hedging reserve)

Net profit As at 31 December Net profit As at 31 December
2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006
M ™ M A M ™ M M
If interest rates were 10% higher with all other
variables held constant —
increase/{decrease) (3.7} (3.1} 15.3 16.5 (3.7} (3.1 15.3 16.3
If interest rates were 10% lower with all other
variables held constant —
increase/f{decrease} 3.6 33 {15.6) {17.1} 36 32 {(15.6} {16.9}

il) Foreign currency risk

Foreign cusrency risk refers to the risk that the value or the cash flows arising from a financial commitment, or recognised asset o liability will fluctuate

due to changes in foreign currency rates. The Group’s foreign currency exchange risk arises primarily from —

+ borrowings denominated in foreign currency;

¢ firm commitments and/or highly probable forecast transactions for receipts and payments settled in foreign currencies and prices dependent on foreign

currencies respectively; and

e translation of the financial statements of CCA's foreign subsidiaries.

The Group is exposed to foreign exchange risk from varicus currency exposures, primarily with respect to —

e United States Dollars;

» New Zealand Dollars;

» British Pounds Sterling;

» Japanese Yen;

» Indonesian Rupiah;

» Papua New Guinean Kina;

¢ Korean Won {until the disposal date of CCA's South Korean aperation, being 24 October 2007);

 Fijian Dollars;
¢ FEuro and
* Canadian Dollars.

Forward foreign exchange and options contracts are used to hedge a portion of the Group's anticipated foreign currency risks. These contracts have
maturities of less than three years after the balance sheet date and consequently the net fair value of the gains and losses on these contracts will be
transferred from the cash flow hedging reserve 1o the income statements at various dates during this period when the underlying exposure tmpacts
eamings. The derivative contracts are carried at fair value, being the market value as quoted in an active market.

The Group's risk management policy for foreign exchange is to hedge forecast transactions for up to three years into the future. The policy only permits
hedging of the Group’s underlying foreign exchange exposures. The policy prescribes minimum and maximum hedging parameters linked to actual and

forecast transactions involving foreign currencies.
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35. Financial and Capital Risk Management continued

b) Risk factors continued

ii] Foreign currency risk continued

Benefits or costs arising from currency hedges for revenus and expense transactions that are designated and documented in a hedge relationship are
brought to account in the income statements over the lives of the hedge wansactions depending on the effectiveness testing ouicomes and when the
underlying exposure impacts earnings. For transactions entered into that hedge specific capital or borrowing commitments, any cost or benefit resulting
fram the hedge forms part of the initial asset or liability carrying value.

When entered into, the Group formally designates and documents the financial instrument as a hedge of the underlying exposure, as well as the risk
management objectives and strategies for undertaking the hedge transactions. The Group formally assesses both at the inception and at least monthly
thereafter, whether the financial instruments that are used in hedging transactions are effective at offsetting changes in either the fair value or cash flows
of the related underlying exposure. Because of the high degree of effectiveness between the hedging instrument and the underlying exposure being
hedged, fluctuations in the value of the derivative instruments are generally offset by changes in the fair values or cash flows of the underlying exposures
being hedged. Any ineffective portion of a financial instrument’s change in fair value is immediately recognised in the income statements and this is mainly
attributable to financial instruments in a fair value hedge relationship. Derivatives entered into and not decumented in a hedge relationship are revalued
with the changes in fair value recognised in the income statements. Virtually all of the Group’s derivatives are straightforward over-the-counter instruments
in liquid markets.

Also refer to section c) "Derivative financial instruments and hedging activities” contained in this Note for further details.

Translation risk

The financial statements for each of CCA's foreign operations are prepared in local currency. For the purposes of preparing the Group's consolidated
financial information, each foreign operation’s financial statements are translated into Australian Dolfars using the applicable foreign exchange rates as at
and for the period ended on the balance sheet date. A translation risk therefore exists en translating the financial statements of CCA's foreign operations
inta Australian Dollars for the purposes of reporting consolidated Group financial information. As a result, volatility in foreign exchange rates can impact
the Group's net assets, net profit and the foreign currency translation reserve.

Sensitivity analysis
The first table below shows the effect on net profit and equity after income tax as at balance date from a 10% adverse/favourable movement in exchange
rates at that date on a total derivative portfolio basis with all other variables held constant.

A sensitivity of 10% has been selected as this is considered reasonable given the current level of exchange rates and the volatility cbserved both on a
historical basis and market expectations for potential future movement. Comparing the Australian Dollar exchange rate against the United States Dollar,
the year end rate of 0.8765 would generate a 10% adverse position of 0.7889 and a favourable position of 0.9642. This range is considered reasonable
given aver the last five years, the Australian Dollar exchange rate against the United States Dollar has traded in the range of 0.5611 tg 0.9400.

The Group's foreign currency risk from the Group’s long term borrowings denominated in foreign currency has no significant impact on profit from foreign
currency movements as they are effectively hedged.

CCA Group CCA Entity
Equity Equity
{cash flow (cash flow
hedging reserve) hedging reserve}
Net profit As at 31 December Net profit As at 31 December
2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006
M M M M M $M M M

If foreign currency rates were 10% higher with all
other variables held constant —
increase/i{decrease) 120 37 {18.6) (18.7) (1.0} 37 - -

If foreign currency rates were 10% lower with all
other variables held constant ~
increase/{decrease) {14.1} 0.1 221 183 18 0.1 - -
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35. Financial and Capital Risk Management continued

b} Risk factors continued

ii} Foreign currency risk continued

Sensitivity analysis continued

In regards to translation risk, the following table presents the impact on profit and equity after income tax from a 10% adverse/favourable movement in
exchange rates for the financial year, and as at balance date on the net assets of CCA’s foreign operations with all other variables held constant —

CCA Group

Equity
{toreign currency
translation reserve)
Net profit As at 31 December

2007 2006 2007 2006

M ™ M ™M
If foreign currency rates were 10% higher with all
other variables held constant —
decrease {6.8) {2.3) (36.5) (95.9)
If foreign currency rates were 10% lower with all
other variables held constant —
increase 82 28 44.7 17.2

i) Commodity price risk

Commodity price risk is the risk arising from volatility in commodity prices in relation to certain raw materials (being mainly sugar and aluminium} used in
the business. The Group enters into futures, swaps and option contracts to hedge commodity price risk with the objective of obtaining lower raw material
prices and a more stable and predictable commodity price outcome.

The derivative contracts are carried at fair value, being the market value as quoted in an active market or derived using valuation techniques where no
active market exists. These models take into consideration assumptions based on market data as at balance date.

Benefits or costs arising from commodity hedges that are designated and documented in a hedge relationship are brought to account in the income
statements over the lives of the hedge transaction depending on hedge effectiveness testing outcomes and when the underlying exposure impacts
earnings. Any cost or henefit resulting from the hedge forms parts of the carrying value of inventaries.

The Group's risk management policy for commodity price risk is to hedge forecast transactions for up to three years into the future. CCA's Strategic
Procurement department has a risk management policy framework that manages the risks arising from its commadity based activities. The policy permits
hedging of price and volume exposure arising from the raw materials used in its manufacturing of finished goods. The policy prescribes minimum and
maximum hedging parameters linked to the forecast purchase transactions.

Sensitivity analysis
The following table shows the effect on equity after income tax as at balance date from a 10% adverse/favourable movement in commodity prices at that
date on a total derivative portfolio basis with all other variables held constant.

A sensitivity of 10% has been selected as this is considered reasonable given the current level of commedity prices and the volatility observed both on a
historical basis and market expectations for future movement.

CCA Group CCA Entity
Equity Equity
(cash flow {cash flow
hedging reserve) hedging reserve)

As at 31 December As at 31 December

2007 2006 2007 2006

™ ™ ™M ™M
If there was a 10% increase in commodity prices with
all other variables held constant —
increase 6.7 31 - -
If there was & 10% decrease in commadity prices with
all other variables held constant -
decrease {6.7) 13.1) - -
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35. Financial and Capital Risk Management continued

b) Risk factors continued

iv) Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that a cantracting entity will not complete its ohligations under a financial instrument and cause the Group te make a firancial loss.
The Group has exposure to credit risk on all financial assets inchided in the Group's balante sheet. To help manage this risk, the Group -

* has a policy for establishing credit limits for the entities it deals with;
¢ may require collateral where appropriate; and
* manages exposures to individual entities it either transacts with or enters into derivative contracts with {through a system of credit limits).

The CCA Group and the CCA Entity are exposed to credit risk on financial instruments and derivatives. For credit purposes, there is only a credit risk where
the contracting entity is liable to pay the Group in the event of a closeout. The Group has policies that limit the ameunt of credit exposure to any financial
institution. Derivative counterparties and cash transactions are limited to financial institutions that meet minimum credit rating ¢riteria in accordance with
the Group’s policy requirements.

The Group's credit risk is mainly concentrated across a number of customers and financfal institutions. The Group does not have any significant credit risk
exposure to a single or group of customers or individual institutions, Approximatety 58.4% (2006: 49.0%) cf the trade receivahles balance as at balance
date is reflected by the total of each operation’s tap five customers.

The financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired are detailed in the tables below —

Food &
Services
Beverage business business
New Zealand Indonesia Total
For the year ended Australia & Fiji & PNG Australia CCA Group
31 December 2007 M M M M M
Cash assets 329.3 18.4 K1 0.9 3797
Trade and other receivables! 450.3 781 45.1 1160 6895
Derivatives 96.9 0.2 0s - 97.6
Total CCA Group 876.5 96.7 16.7 1169 1,166.8
Food &
Services
Beverage business business
Discontinued
South
Total Korean
New Zealand Indonesia continuing beverage Total
For the year ended Austratia & Fiji & PNG Australia operations business CCA Group
31 December 2006 M M ™ M M M 3T
Cash assets 361.5 178 178 13.7 4106 755 436.1
Trade and other receivables’ 3670 706 465 113.6 597.7 979 6956
Derivatives 499 0.1 - - 50.0 10 51.0
Total CCA Group 7784 88.3 64.3 127.3 1,058.3 124.4 11827

1 Excluding amounts due from subsidiaries

v} Liguidity risk
Liquidity risk includes the risk that the Group cannot meet its financial commitments as and when they fall due.

To help reduce this risk the Group —

= has a liquidity policy which targets a minimum level of committed facilities relative to net debt;
¢ has readily accessible funding arrangements in place;

¢ generally use instruments that are tradeable in highly liguid markets; and

= staggers maturities of financial instruments.

The contractual maturity of the Group’s fixed and floating rate derivatives, other financial assets and other financial liabilities are shown in the tables
below. The amounts presented represent the future undiscounted principal and interest cash flows and therefore do not equate to the vatues shown in the
table found in section a) of this Note.
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For the financia! year ended 31 December 2007

35. Financial and Capital Risk Management continued

b} Risk facters continued
v) Liquidity risk continued

CCA Group
As at 31 December 2007 As at 31 December 2006
Contractual maturity Contractual maturity
{nominal cash flows) (nominal cash flows)
Less than 1t02 2105 Over Lessthan 1to?2 2t05 Over
1 year year(s) years  5years 1 year year(s) years 5 years
M M M M M M M M
Derivatives — inflows'
Interest rate swaps — pay fixed/receive variable? 225 23 364 10.6 11.8 10.0 187 76
Cross currency swaps — foreign leg (fixed)® 430 25 162.3 609.0 25.1 46.4 154.0 7191
Cross currency swaps — foreign leg {variablef 13 09 317 - 17.2 14 3856 -
Forward foreign currency contracts® 630.9 1237 338 - 592.4 1254 - -
Commodities future contracts 39 18 - - 6.2 - - -
Derivatives — outflows'
Interest rate swaps — pay variable/receive fixed® {6.6) {6.8) (12.6) 2.7 (3.7 (3.4) 6.7) (2.8)
Cross currency swaps — AUD leg {variablef! (a7.8} {56.0} {304.7) {841.9) (312.4) (82.0) {269.3) {860.0}
Forward foreign currency contracts® {656.2} (131.7} {41.6} - (601.7) {131.9) - -
Commaodities future contracts (4.5} {0.4} - - {7.6) - - -
Other financial assets'
Cash assets 3197 - - - 436.1 - - -
Trade and other receivables 686.0 16 13 06 6777 09 17.0 -
Other financial liabilities'
Trade and other payables {436.2) - - - {491.5) {2.9) - -
Bonds, domestic loans and bank overdrafts (298.2) {166.7) {800.0) (1,493.6) {(116.8) {265.9} {(972.3} {859.2)
Offshare loans (1.2) 0.7) {8.3) - (112.3} - (184.0} -

1 For floating rate instruments, the amount disclosed is determined by reference to the interest rate at the last repricing date.

2 Net amount for interest rate swaps for which net cash flows are exchanged. Categorisation of inflows and outflows is based on current variable rates at the balance sheet date.

3 Contractual amounts to be exchanged representing gross cash flows 1o be exchanged.

CCA Entity
As at 31 December 2007 As at 31 December 2006
Contractual maturity Contractual maturity
(nominal cash flows) {nominal cash flows)
Less than 1to2 2105 QOver Lessthan 1102 2t05 Over
1 year yearis) years  Syears 1 year yearts) years 5 years
™M 3] M M ™ EHY $M L
Derivatives — inflows'
Interest raie swaps—pay fixed/receive variable? 4 17 36.4 10.6 1A 92 183 16
Cross currency swaps — foreign leg (fixed)? 43.0 225 162.3 609.0 25.1 46.4 154.0 7191
Cross currency swaps — foreign leg (variable)® 1.3 09 337 - 7.2 14 38.6 -
Forward foreign currency contracts’ 134.4 - - - 2526 - - -
Derivatives — outflows'
Interest rate swaps — pay variable/receive fixed? {6.1) (6.1} {12.6) (2.n (3.7} (3.4} (6.7} (2.8}
Cross currency swaps — AUD leg {variablef (87.8) {56.0) {(304.7) (841.4) (312.4) (82.0 (269.3) (880.8)
Forward foreign currency contracts® {134.7) - - - {252.9) - -
Other financial assets'
Cash assets 3198 - - - 3075 - - -
(Other receivables’ 35 - - - 6.3 - 1.5 -
Other financial liabilities'
Trade and other payables* (8.3} - - - {0.8) - - -
Bonds, domestic loans and bank overdrafts (294.3) {114.5) (798.7)  {1,485.5) (89.9) {240.4) {564.0) (859.2)

Refer to the following page for footnote details.
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35. Financial and Capital Risk Management continued
b) Risk factors cantinued
v) Liquidity risk continued

For floating rate instruments, the amount disclosed is determined by reference to the interest rate a1 the last repricing date.
Net amaunt for interest rate swaps for which net cash flows are exchanged. Categorisation of inflows and outflows is based on current variab's rates at the balance sheet date.

1
2
3 Contractual amounts to be exchanged representing gross cash flows to be exchanged.
4 Exchding amounts due from/to subsidiaries.

c¢) Derivative financial instruments

CCA Group CCA Entity
Fair value Fair value
Refer 2007 2006 2007 2006
Note M ™ M ™
Derivative assets — current
Contracts with positive fair values
The fair values of derivative financial instruments (debt related) at the
end of the financial year designated as fair value hedges are —

Forgign currency contracts - 1.0 - -
Tota! derivative assets — current {debt related) - 10 - -
The fair values of derivative financial instruments {non-debt related] at the
end of the financial year designated as cash flow hedges are -

Commodities future contracts 39 6.2 - -

Forward currency contracts 21 05 - 04

Cross currency swaps - 0.1 - 0.1

Interest rate swaps 16 25.2 16 248

Interest rate options 03 19 - 19
The fair values of derivative financial instruments {non-debt related) at the
end of the financial year designated as fair value hedges are —

Cross currency swaps - 0.4 - 04
The fair values of derivative financial instruments {non-debt related) at the
end of the financial vear for which hedge accounting has not been applied are —

Foreign exchange contracts - 10 - -

Foreign currency options 30 02 3.0 0.2

Interest rate swaps 15 145 - 138

Interest rate options 13 - 1.3 -
Total derivative assets — current {non-debt related) 13.7 50.0 59 418
Total derivative assets — current 34a) 137 510 59 1.6
Derivative assets — non-current
Contracts with positive fair values
The fair values of derivative financial instruments (non-debt related) at the
end of the financial year designated as cash flow hedges are -

Commaodities future contracts 18 - - -

Forward currency contracts 14 - - -

Foreign currency options 25 - 25 -

Interest rate swaps 50.2 - 50.2 -

Interest rate options 3.1 - 31 -
The fair values of derivative financial instruments (non-debt related) at the
end of the financial year designated as fair vatue hedges are -

Cross currency swaps 28 - 28 -
The fair vatues of derivative financial instruments {non-debt retated) at the
end of the financial year for which hedge accounting has not been applied are —

Interest rate swaps 218 - 218 -

Interest rate options 03 - 0.3 -
Total derivative assets - non-current (non-debt related) J4a) 8349 - B0.7 -
Total derivative assets 916 51.0 86.6 416
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For the financial year ended 31 December 2007

35. Financial and Capital Risk Management continued
¢} Derivative financial instruments continued

CCA Group CCA Entity
Fair value Fair value
Refer 2007 2006 2007 2006
Note M M M M
Derivative liabilities — current
Contracts with negative fair values
The fair vatues of derivative financial instruments {debt related) at the
end of the financia! year designated as fair value hedges are —

Cross currency swaps 11 887 111 88.7
Total derivative liabilities — current (debt related) 111 88.7 1.1 88.7
The fair values of derivative financial instruments (non-debt related) at the
end of the financial year designated as cash flow hedges are -

Commedities future contracts 45 76 - -

Forward currency contracts 28 13.0 - 127

Cross currency swaps 0.1 420 0.1 29.5
The fair values of derivative financial instruments {non-debt related) at the
end of the financial year designated as fair value hedges are —

Cross currency swaps - 48 - 48
The fair values of derivative financial instruments {non-debt related) at the
end of the financial year for which hedge accounting has not been applied are —

Interest rate swaps 0.7 137 - 13.4

Forward currency contracts 29 - 29 -

Yoreign currency options 09 - 0.9 -
Total derivative liabilities — current {non-debt related} 309 B1.1 39 60.4
Total derivative liabilities — current 34a} 420 169.8 15.0 149.1
Derivative liabilities - non-current
Contracts with negative fair values
The fair values of derivative financial instruments {debt related} at the
end of the financial year designated as fair value hedges are —

Cross currency swaps 1093 700 109.3 70.0
Total derivative liabilities — non-current (debt related) 108.3 700 109.3 700
The fair values of derivative financial instruments (non-debt related) at the
end of the financial year designated as cash flow hedges are —

Commaodities future contracts 04 - - -

Farward currency contracts 15 - - -

Cross currency swaps 0.7 - 0.7 -
The fair values of derivative financial instruments (non-debt related) at the
end of the financial year designated as fair value hedges are —

Cross currency swaps 19.9 - 199 -
The fair values of derivative financial instruments (non-debt related) at the
end of the financial year for which hedge accounting has not been applied are —

Interest rate swaps 226 - 226 -
Total derivative liabilities — non-current (non-debt related) 34 - 43.2 -
Total derivative liabilities — non-current 34a} 160.4 700 152.5 70.0
Total derivative liabilities 2024 2398 1675 2191

As noted within the summary of significant accounting policies, derivative financial instruments are initially recognised in the batance sheet at cost and

subsequently remeasured to their fair value. Accordingly, there is no difference between the carrying value and fair value of derivative financial

instruments at balance sheet date.
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36. Related Parties
Parent entity
Coca-Cota Amatil Limited is the parent entity of the Group.

Subsidiaries
Interests in subsidiaries are set out in Note 31.

Key management personnel

Disclosures relating to key management personnel are set out in Note 33, and in the Directors’ Report.

Related entities

The Coca-Cola Company {TCCC} directly and threugh its subsidiary, Coca-Cola Holdings {Overseas) Limited, holds 29.6% (2006: 32.1%) of the Company’s

fully paid ordinary shares.
Pacific Beverages Pty Ltd, a joint venture entity with SABMiller plc, is held 50% by CCA.

Transactions with related parties

CCA Group

CCA Entity

2007
m

2006
M

2007
$M

2006
M

Reimbursements and other revenue from -
Entities with significant influence over the Group
TCCC and its subsidiaries’
Associates of TCCC
Joint venture entity’
Service fee
Subsidiarias
Management and guarantee fees
Dividend income
Finance income

Purchases and other expense from —
Entities with significant influence over the Group
TCCC and its subsidiaries®
Other related parties
Subsidiaries
Interest expense

Amounts owed by -

Entities with significant influence over the Group
TCCC and its subsidiaries
Associates of TCCC

Joint venture entity

Subsidiaries

Amounts owed to —

Entities with significant influence over the Group
TCCC and its subsidiaries

Other related parties

Subsidiaries

355
05

0.9

136.7
89

20.6

1.7

1512
08

36.2
2.2

0.1

1352
12.6

18.3
07
36

169.9
12

108.4
6Nn.3
124.5

29.3

0.1

438.3
205
915

34

03

1.5

2,185.1 2,029.5

5121

433

1 Under a series of arrangements, the Group participates with eertain subsidiaries of TCCC under which they jointly contribute to the development of the market in the territories in which the
Group operates. These arrangements include a regular shared marketing expenses program, under which the Group contributes to certain TCCC incurred marketing expenditure and TCCC
contributes to centain marketing expenditure incurred by the Group. Centain subsidiaries of TCCC provide marketing support to the Group, which is in addition to the usua! contribution 1o
shared marketing initiatives. This is designed to assist the Group with the necessary development of certain teritories. Amounts received are either accounted for as a credit to revenue or

as a reduction 10 expense, as aporopriate.

2 Represents the services provided to Pacific Baverages Pty Ltd and its subsidiaries under certain agreements and arrangements agreed between CCA and Pacific Beverages Pty Ltd

and its subsidiaries.
3 Represents purchases of concentrates and beverage hase for Coca-Cola trademarked products, and finished goods,

Terms and conditions of transactions with related parties
All of the above transactions were conducted under normal commercial terms and conditions.

Outstanding balances at year end are unsecured and settlement occurs in cash.

There have been no guarantees provided or received for any related party receivables. For the financial year ended 31 December 2007, the Group has not
raised any allowance for doubiful receivables relating to amounts owed by related parties {2006: nil).
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For the financial year ended 31 December 2007

37. Deed of Cross Guarantee

Coca-Cota Amatil Limited and certain subsidiaries as indicated in Note 31 have entered into a Deed of Cross Guarantee with Matila Nominees Pty Lid
which provides that all parties to the Deed will guarantee to each creditor, payment in full of any debt of each company participating in the Deed on
winding-up of that company. In addition, as a result of ASIC Class Order No. 98/1418, subsidiaries {other than Coca-Cola Amatil Limited) are relieved from

the requirement to prepare financial statements.

2007 2006
Consolidated balance sheets for the closed group M M
Current assets
Cash assets 3294 N4
Trade and other receivables 5213 563.7
Inventaries 5383 4761
Prepayments 213 205
Derivatives 13.0 498
Total current assets 1.4243 14815
Non-current assets
Other receivables 223.3 441
Investment in joint venture entity 15.8 15
Investments in securities 9999 1,268.3
Investments in bottlers” agreements 691.7 691.7
Property, plant and equipment 945.7 894.7
Intangible assets 4922 478.2
Prepayments 85 159
Derivatives 839 -
Total non-current assets 3,461.0 3,394.4
Total assets 4.885.3 48759
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 740.8 3409
Interast bearing liabilities na 166.1
Current tax liabilities 478 271
Provisions .6 495
Accrued charges 2138 220.7
Derivatives 1.8 169.5
Total current liabilities 1,346.9 9738
Non-current liabilities
Other payables - n2a7
Interest bearing liabilities 1,687.2 18835
Provisions 121 212
Deferred tax liabilities 1183 1128
Defined benefit superannuation glan liabilities 15.1 10.2
Derivatives 160.4 70.0
Total non-current liabilities 1,993.1 22264
Total liabilities 3,340.0 3,200.2
Net assets 1,545.3 1,675.7
Equity
Share capital 20278 2,0011
Shares held by equity compensation plans {16.3} {15.2)
Reserves 61.9 40.3
Accumulated losses {528.1} (350.5)
Total equity 1.545.3 1.675.7
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37. Deed of Cross Guarantee continued

2007 2006
Consolidated income statements for the closed group M M
Profit before income tax expense 1999 3586
Income tax expense (125.4) {95.9)
Profit after income tax expense 145 263.7
Accurmulated losses at the beginning of the financial year (350.5) (374.6)
Dividends appropriated (252.1) {239.6)
Accumulated losses at the end of the financial year (628.1) (350.5)

38. Events after the Balance Date

a) Off-market share huy-hack

On 29 January 2008, CCA announced the successful completion of its $170.0 million off-market share buy-back. A total of 21.7 million shares were bought
back at a price of $7.84, which represents a 14% discount to the market price {being the volume weighted average price of CCA' ordinary shares on the
ASX over the five trading days up to and including 25 January 2008).

The off-rmarket share buy-back has no impact on the Group’s financial resutts for the year ended 31 December 2007, and is not expected to impact on CCAs
ability to fully frank its dividends in the future.

b) Pacific Beverages' brewery development

On 8 February 2008, CCA made 2 media announcement that Pacific Beverages Pty Ltd, the joint venture entity CCA formed with SABMiller ple, will build a
boutique premium brewery at Warnervale in the Central Coast region of New South Wales. The brewery, with a capacity of 500,000 hectolitres, is
expected to be completed in 2010 and will be jointly funded by CCA and SABMiller ple.

¢) Dividend

Since the end of the financial year, the Directors have declared the following dividend —

Rate per Fully franked

share per share Amount Date
Class of share ¢ € M payable
Ordinary 200 200 146.8 7 April 2008

The dividend has not been recognised as a liability in the 31 December 2007 financial statements.
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Coca-Cola Amatil Limited and its subsidiaries

In accordance with a resolution of the Directors of Coca-Cola Amatil Limited dated 13 February 2008, we state that —
In the opinion of the Directors —

a) the financial statements, notes and the additional disclosures included in the Directors’ Report designated as audited, of the Company and of the
consolidated entity, are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including —

i) giving & true and fair view of the Company's and the consclidated entity’s financial position as at 31 December 2007, and of their performance
for the year ended on that date; and

ii) complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulaticns 2001; and
b) at the date of this declaration, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able 1o pay its debts as and when they become due
and payable; and
¢} there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company and the wholly owned subsidiaries identified in Note 31 to the financial statements as being
parties to a Deed of Cross Guarantee with Matita Nominees Pty Ltd as trustee, will be able to meet any obligations or liabilities to which they are, or
may become, subject to by virtue of the Deed.

This decaration has been made after receiving the declarations required to be made to Directors by the Group Managing Director and Chief Financial
Officer, in accordance with section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001 for the financial year ended 31 December 2007.

On behalf of the Directors

F 4

™ A // ’

—

D.M. Gonski, AC T.J. Davis

Chairman Group Managing Director
Sydney Sydney

13 February 2008 13 February 2008
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aydaey wNovy JUUL LA oydney Stock
Australia Exchange 10172

GPO Box 2646
Sydney NSW 2001

Independent auditor’s report to the members of Coca-Cola Amatil Limited

We have audited the accompanying financial report of Coca-Cola Amatil Limited, which comprises the balance sheet as at 31 December 2007, and the
income statement, statement of changes in equity and cash flow statement for the year ended on that date, a summary of significant accounting policies,
other explanatosy notes and the directors’ declaration of the consulidated entity comprising the company and the entities it controlted at the year's end or
from time to time during the financia! year.

The company has disclosed informatian as required by paragraphs Aus 25.4 to Aus 25.7.2 of Accounting Standard 124 Related Party Disclosures
{“remuneratian disciosures”), under the heading “Remuneration report™ on pages 18 to 41 of the directors report, as permitted by Corporations Regulation
2M.6.04.

Directors” Responsibility for the Financial Report

The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial report in accordance with the Australian Accounting
Standards {including the Australian Accounting Interpretations} and the Corporations Act 2001. This responsibility includes establishing and maintaining
internal controls relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of the financial report that is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circurastances. The directors are
also responsible for the remuneration disclosures contained in the directors’ report.

Auditor’s Responsibility

QOur responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based an our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing
Standards. These Auditing Standards require that we comply with relevant ethical requirements relating to audit engagements and plan and perform the
audit to ohtain reasonable assurance whether the financial report is free from material misstatement and that the remuneration disclosures comply with
Accounting Standard AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures.

An audit invglves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial repart. The procedures selected
depend on our judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial ceport, whether due to fraud or ercar, In making
thase risk assessments, we consider internal controls relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial report in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an apinion cn the effectiveness of the entity's intemal
controls. An audit also inctudes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the
directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis far our audit opinion.

Independence

In conducting our audit we have met the independence requirements of the Corporatiens Act 2001. We have given to the directors of the company a
written Auditor’s Independence Declaration, & copy of which is included in the directors’ report. In addition to our audit of the financial report and the
remuneration disclosures, we were engaged to undertake the services disclosed in the notes to the financial statements. The provision of these services
has not impaired our independence.

Auditor's Opinion
In our apinion:

1. the financial report of Coca-Cofa Amatil Limited is in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including:
fil giving a true and fair view of the financial position of Coca-Cola Amatil Limited and the consolidated entity at 31 December 2007 and of their
performance for the year ended on that date; and
{ii} complying with Australian Accounting Standards {including the Australian Accounting Interpretatians) and the Corporations Regulations 2001.
2. the remuneration disclosures under the heading "Remuneration report” that are contained on pages 18 to 41 of the directors’ report comply with
Accounting Standard AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures.

Ernst & Young Trent van Veen
Partner
Sydney
13 February 2008

Liability limited by a scheme approved under
Professional Standards Legislation
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Coca-Cola Amatil Limited

Additional information required by Australian Securities Exchange Listing Rules is as follows. This information is current as at 4 March 2008,

Distribution Schedule of Shareholders

Ordinary
Holders shares
No. No.
1-1,000 20,765 8.136.817
1,001 - 5,000 13,877 31,781,047
5,001 - 10,000 2,116 14,898,242
10,001 — 100,000 1,286 29,957,476
100,001 and over 136 648,641,689
Total 38180  733,4152M1
There were 3,151 holders of less than a marketable parcel of 53 erdinary shares.
Substantial Shareholders ¢
The names of substantial shareholders of the Company’s ordinary shares {holding not less than 5%)
who have notified the Company in accordance with section 6718 of the Corporations Act 2001 are —
The Caca-Cola Company and its subsidiaries 223,049,276
Barclays Group 53,256,354 -
Top Twenty Registered Shareholders
Ordinary
shares
No. %
Coca-Cola Holdings (Overseas} Limited 149,392,972 2037
National Nominees Limited 100,321,856 13.68
HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Limited 97,760,256 13.33
J P Morgan Nominees Australia Limited 76,470,898 10.43
The Coca-Cola Company' 73,656,304 10.04
ANZ Nominees Limited 34,165,183 4 66
Citicorp Nominees Pty Limited 33,113,074 451
Cogent Nominees Pty Limited 16,731,210 228
Matila Nominges Pty Limited 10,486,834 1.43
UBS Nominees Pty Ltd 8.710,000 1.19
AMP Life Limited 7,736,069 1.05
RBC Dexia Investor Services Australia Nominees Pty Limited 4,267 512 0.58
Australian Foundation Investment Company Limited 4,123,386 056
Queensland Investment Corporation 2,347,091 0.32
Merrill Lynch (Australia) Nominees Pty Limited 2,277,461 0.30
PSS Board 2177185 0.30
|AG Nominees Pty Limited 1,978,744 027
Invia Custedian Pty Limited 1,686,641 023
Jikinta [nvestments Pty Limited 1,381,331 019
Djerriwarrh Investments Ltd 1,139,300 0.16
Total 629,873,307 85.88

1 Major holdings of The Coca-Cola Company.
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Business activities

CCA is the |argest non-alcoholic beverage company in the Asia-Pacific
region and one of the wortd’s top five Caca-Cola bottlers. CCA operates
acrass 5 countries — Australia, New Zealand, Indonesia, Fiji and Papua
New Guinea. CCA's diversified portfolio of products includes carbonated
drinks, water, sports drinks, fruit juices, coffee, iced teas and packaged
ready-to-eat fruit and vegetable products.

CCA praduces the Australian market’s number one cola brand — Coca-Cola;
the number one non-sugar colas, diet Coke and Coca-Cola Zero; the number
one bottled water brand, Mount franklin and the number one sparts
beverage, Powerade Isotonic.

Pacific Beverages, CCA's 50:50 joint venture with one of the world's leading
brewers, SABMiller, markets and distributes imported premium beers,
Peroni Nastro Azzurra, Miller Genuine Draft, Miller Chill and Pilsner
Urquell, in Australia and New Zealand.

CCA also sefls and distributes the brands of premium spirits distributor
Maxxium, which include Remy Martin Cognac, Jim Beam, ABSOLUT
VODKA and Cointreau.

Annual General Meeting

CCA's Annual General Meeting will be held on Thursday, 15 May 2008 at
the City Recital Hall, Angel Place {Fitt Street entrance), Sydney at 10am.

Voting rights

Shareholders are encovraged to attend the Annual General Megting,
however, when this is not possible, they are encouraged to use the form of
proxy to register their vote or vote online at www.linkmarketservices.com.au.
Every member present personally or by proxy, attorngy or representative
shall on a show of hands have one vote and on a poll have one vote for
every share held.

Listings

CCA shares are listed under the symbol CCL on Australian Securities
Exchange (ASX). The securities of the Company are traded on ASX on the
issuer sponsored sub-register or under CHESS (Clearing House Electronic
Sub-register System).

CCA ordinary shares are traded in the United States in the form of
American Depositary Receipts {ADRs) issued by The Bank of New York, as
Depositary. Each ADR represents two ordinary shares. The ADRs trade
over-the-counter under the symbot CCLAY.

Annual Reports

The CCA Arnual Report is available at CCAs website www.ccamatil com.
Printed copies of Arnual Reports are anly mailed to those shareholders
who elect to receive a printed copy. CCA encourages shareholders to
receive notification of all shareholder communication by email and have
internet access to documents including Company announcements,
dividend statements and notices of shareholder meetings. In this way,
shareholders receive prompt information and have the convenience and
security of electronic delivery, which is not only cost effective but
environmentally friendly.

Company publications

Other than the Annual Report, CCA publishes a Sharehotder Review, sent
10 Shareholders with the Annual Report, the Factbook and CCA Shareholder
News, a newsletter sent to shargholders with the interim dividend advice.

Share buy-back

The Company is not curiently undertaking an on-market share buy-back.
During the reporting year, CCA undertook an off-market share buy-back
which closed on 25 January 2008 and resulted in 21.7 million shares being
bought back and cancelled.

Website

All material contained in this report is also available on the Company's
waebsite, In addition, earnings announcements to ASX, media releases.
presentations by senior management and dividend history are also
published on the website. The address is www.ccamatil.com.

Dividends

In 2007, CCA paid fully franked dividends and has a payout palicy of 70%
1o 80% of net profit, subject to the ongoing cash needs of the business. It
ts expected that dividends paid in the future will be fully franked for at
least the next two years.

Dividend Reinvestment Plan

Participation in the Dividend Reinvestment Plan {DRP} is optional and
available to all shareholders {except those with a registered address in the
United States or in any place in which, in the opinion of the Directors,
participation in the Plan is or would be illegal or impracticable).
Shareholders may elect to participate for all er only some of their shares.
Shares are currently issued under the DRP at a discount of 3% from the
market price of CCA ordinary shares. The market price is cafculated at each
dividend payment, being the weighted average price of all ordinary CCA
shares sold on ASX on the first day on which those shares are quoted ex
dividend and the following nine business days. There are no brokerage,
stamp duty or other transaction costs payable by participants.

Participation in the DRP is currently capped at 00,000 shares
per shareholder.

Note; the DRP rules may be modified, suspended or terminated by the
Directors at any time after giving one month's notice to DRP pasticipants.
For additignal information and an application form, please contact our
share registry, Link Market Services on 61 2 8280 7121.

Tax File Numbers

Australian taxpayers who do not provide details of their tax file number
will have dividends subjected to the top marginal personal tax rate plus
Medicare levy. It may be in the interests of shareholders to ensure that tax
file numbers have been supplied to the share registry. Forms are available
from the share registry should you wish 1o notify the registry of your tax
file number or tax exemption details.

Change of address

Itis important for shareholders 1o notify the share regisiry in writing
promptly of any change of address. As a security measure, the old address
should also be quatad as well as your shareholder reference number (SRN).
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Chairman
David Gonski, AC

Corporate Office
Terry Davis
Group Managing Director

George Forster
General Counsel and Company Secretary

Senior Management
Warwick White
Managing Director, Australasia

Nessa 0’Sullivan

Chief Financial Officer, Operations

Ken McKenzie

Chief Financial Officer, Statutory & Compliance
George Adams

Managing Director, New Zealand & Fiji
Craig Richardson

Chief Financial Officer, New Zealand & Fiji
Peter Kelly

Managing Director, Asia

Bapak Mugijanto

President Commissioner, Indonesia

John Seward
Managing Director, Indonesia & PNG

Craig Green
Chief Financial Officer, indonesia

Colin McVea
General Manager, PNG

lan Furlong

General Manager, Fiji

Nigel Garrard

Managing Director, Food & Services

Steve Perkins
Chief Financial Officer, Food & Services

Registered Office

Coca-Cola Amatil Limited
71 Macquarie Street
Sydney NSW 2000

Ph: 61 132 653
Fx: 61 2 9259 6623

New Zealand

The Oasis, Mt Wellington
Auckland

Ph: 64 9 970 8OOD

indonesia

Wisma Pondoek Indah 2 — 14th & 75th Floor
JI. Sultan Iskander Muda Kav. V-Ta

Pondok Indah Jakarta 12310

Ph: 62 21 8832 2222

Papua New Guinea

Erica Street
Lae, Morobe Province

Ph; 675 472 1033

Fiji

Ratu Dovi Road
Laucala Beach Estate

Ph: 679 394 333

SPC Ardmona

50 Camberwell Road
Hawthorn East Vic 3123

Ph: 61 3 9861 8900

Auditor
Ernst & Young
Chartered Accountants

Share Registry and Other Enquiries

For enquiries about CCA shares:

Link Market Services Limited

Locked Bag A14
Sydney South NSW 1235

Ph: 61 2 8280 7121

Fx: 61 2 9287 0303

Email: registrars@linkmarketservices.com.au
Website: www linkmarketservices.com.au

For enquiries about American Depositary
Receipts (ADR):

BNY - Mellon Shareowner Services
Investar Services

P0. Box 11258

Church Street Station

New York, NY 10286-1258

Toll Free {domestic): 1-888-BNY-ADRS
International: 1 212-815-3700

Email: shareowners@bankofny.com
Website: www.adrbny.com
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For enquiries about the operations of the
Company;

Investor Relations

71 Macquarie Street
Sydney NSW 2000

Ph: 61 2 9259 6159

Fx: 61 29259 6614

Email: aus_investor_relations@anz.ccamatil.com
Website: www.ccamatil.com

|
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Wednesday, 13 February 2008
Monday, 18 February 2008
Friday, 22 February 2008
Monday, 7 April 2008
Thursday, 15 May 2008
Wednesday, 20 August 2008
Monday, 25 August 2008
Friday, 29 August 2008
Tuesday, 7 October 2008

2007 full year results announcement
Ex-dividend date {final dividend}
Record date for dividend entitiements
2007 final ordinary dividend paid
2008 Annual General Meeting

2008 half year results announcement
Ex-dividend date (interim dividend)
Record date for dividend entitlements

2008 interim ordinary dividend paid

For more information on Coca-Cola Amatil please visit our website at

www.ccamatil.com
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Notice of Meeting

Coca-Cola Amatil Limited asn 25 004 139 397

Notice is hereby given that the Annual General Meeting of
Coca-Cola Amatil Limited will be held in the City Recital Hall,
Angel Place, Sydney NSW on Thursday, 15 May 2008 at 10.00 am
for the purpose of transacting the business set out in this notice.

Meeting of Shareholders

ORDINARY BUSINESS

1.

Accounts
Discussion of the accounts for the year ended 31 December 2007 and the reports of the Directors
and Auditor.

There is no vote on this item.

Remuneration Report
To adopt the Remuneration Report contained within the accounts for the year ended
31 December 2007.

The Remuneration Report is set out on pages 18 to 41 of the 2007 Annual Report. Please note that the vote
on this resolution is advisory only, and does not bind the Directors or the Comparty.

Election of Directors

Mr W M King, AO and Mr D E Meiklejohn will retire in accordance with Article 6.3(b) of the
Constitution and offer themselves for re-election.

Ms C M Brenner will retire in accordance with Article 6.3(i) of the Constitution and offers herself
for re-election.

An explanatory note to this item appears on page 3.

SPECIAL BUSINESS

4.

Increase in Directors’ Fees
To consider and, if thought fit, to pass the following resolution as an ordinary resolution:

“That, pursuant to Article 6.5(a) of the Constitution, the maximum amount of Directors’fees for their
services as Directors be increased from the present limit of $1,500,000 per annum in aggregate to
a limit of $2,000,000 per annum in aggregate.”

An explanatory note to the above resolution appears on page 4.
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Participation by Executive Director in the 2008-2010 Long Term Incentive Share Plan

To consider and, if thought fit, to pass the following resolution as an ordinary resolution:
"That the Directors be permitted to invite Mr T J Davis to participate in the Coca-Cola Amatil
Limited 2008-2010 Long Term Incentive Share Plan by offering him rights to acquire up to

247,844 fully paid ordinary shares in the Company in the manner set out in the Explanatory
Notes to this Notice of Meeting.”

An explanatory note to the above resolution appears on page 4.

Dated 15 April 2008.

By order of the Board

George Forster

General Counsel and Company Secretary
71 Macquarie Street

Sydney

Notes:

a) Pursuant to Regulation 7.11.37 of the Corporations Regulations 2001, the Directors have
determined that for the purpose of the meeting all shares in the Company shall be taken
to be held by the persons who were registered as shareholders at 10.00 am on 13 May 2008;

b) amember entitled to attend and vote is entitled to appoint a proxy;

¢) aproxy need not be a member;

d) amember entitled to cast 2 or more votes may appoint 2 proxies;

e) where more than one proxy is appointed, each proxy may be appointed to represent a specified
proportion of the member’s voting rights. If a member appoints 2 proxies and the appointment
does not specify the proportion or number of the member’s votes each proxy may exercise,
each proxy may exercise half the votes;

fy appointments of proxies must be received by the Company by 10.00am on 13 May 2008.
Appointments may be returned in the enclosed reply-paid envelope to the Company’s Share
Registrar, Link Market Services Limited, Locked Bag Al14, Sydney South NSW 1235 or by
fax on (02} 9287 0309 or lodged online at www.linkmarketservices.com.au.

g} The CCL 2007 Annual Report, which includes the Accounts for the year ended

31 December 2007, the Reports of the Directors and Auditor and the Remuneration Report,
is available at CCLs website www.ccamatil.com.au. Printed copies of the 2007 Annual Report
have been mailed only to those shareholders who have elected to receive a printed copy.
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Explanatory Notes

ORDINARY BUSINESS

Resolution 3 — Election of Directors

The Board is comprised of 8 Non-Executive Directors and 1 Executive Director. The Board regularly
reviews its composition to ensure there is an appropriate range of skills, and a broad mix of
business talents, outlooks and backgrounds. All Directors have extensive business experience both
in their chosen fields of endeavour and in business generally. Seven Directors live in Australia

(5 in Sydney and 2 in Melbourne). Two Directors live overseas.

The Board considers that 6 of the 9 Directors (including the Chairman) are independent Directors.
Of the other 3, 2 are nominees of the major shareholder and one is the Managing Director.

Under the provisions in the Company’s Constitution for the rotation of Directors, Mr King and
Mr Meiklejohn will retire at this Annual General Meeting and will offer themselves for re-election.
Ms Brenner was appointed to the Board on 2 April 2008 and in accordance with the Constitution
will offer herself for re-election.

Background information on each Director who is seeking re-election is provided below.

Wallace (Wal) Macarthur King, AC

Mr King joined the Board in February 2002 and is a member of the Related Party Committee, the
Nominations Committee and the Compliance & Social Responsibility Committee.

The Board has determined that Mr King, a Non-Executive Director, is an independent Director.

A full Curriculum Vitae of Mr King is set out in Appendix 2 to this Notice.

David Edward Meiklejohn

Mr Meiklejohn joined the Board in February 2005 and is Chairman of the Audit & Risk Committee,
and a member of the Nominations Committee, the Related Party Committee and the Compliance
& Social Responsibility Committee.

The Board has determined that Mr Meiklejohn, a Non-Executive Director, is an
independent Director.

A full Curriculum Vitae of Mr Meiklejohn is set out in Appendix 2 to this Notice.

Catherine Michelle Brenner

Ms Brenner was appointed a Director on 2 April 2008 and is a member of the Related Party
Committee and the Nominations Committee.

The Board has determined that Ms Brenner, a Non-Executive Director, is an independent Director.

A full Curriculum Vitae of Ms Brenner is set out in Appendix 2 to this Notice.

Coca-Cola Amatil Limited 3 2008 Annual General Meeting




Resolution 4 - Increase in Directors’ Fees

The current maximum amount available for payment of Non-Executive Directors’ fees in aggregate
each year is $1,500,000. This amount was established at the Annual General Meeting held in May 2005.

Based on advice received from external remuneration consultants (via the Compensation
Committee), Non-Executive Directors fees are reviewed annually and set and approved by the
Board with Non-Executive Directors abstaining from voting on the matter. The next review

is scheduled to be effective from 1 January 2009.

The number of Directors has increased from 7 Non-Executive Directors to 8 and, although this
number may change from time to time, the proposed increase is required for flexibility. It is
emphasised that this is a maximum limit and does not indicate that fees will be increased
immediately to that limit.

Voting Exclusions
The Company will disregard any votes cast on this resolution by:

* any Director; and
*  any associate of those persons.
However, the Company need not disregard a vote if:

* it is cast by a person as proxy for a person who is entitled to vote, in accordance with the
directions on the proxy form; or

* it is cast by the person chairing the meeting as proxy for a person who is entitled to vote,
in accordance with a direction on the proxy form to vote as the proxy decides.

Resolution 5 — Participation by Executive Director in the 2008-2010 Long Term
Incentive Share Plan

Approval is being sought to allow Mr Davis to participate, as an Executive Director of the Company,
in the 2008-201( Long Term Incentive Share Plan (“LTISP”).

The LTISP is a performance-based share plan that was established in 2002 replacing both a

cash long term incentive plan and subsequently a non hurdle based option plan. Details of the

four most recent plans (2004-2006 LTISP, 2005-2007 LTISP, 2006-2008 LTISP and 2007-2009 LTISP),
including the performance of each of these Plans as at 31 December 2007, are disclosed in the
Remuneration Report within the Company’s 2007 Annual Report.

Mr Davis’ potential allocation of shares under the 2008-2010 LTISP (as set out in the table below)
increases from a maximum of 205,200 shares for the 2007-2009 LTISP to a maximum of 247,844
shares for the 2008-2010 LTISP (an increase of 42,644 shares or an increase of approximately 21%).
However the maximum for the 2008-2010 LTISP is still 72,156 shares less than the maximum

of 320,000 shares granted for the 2006-2008 LTISP.

The dual performance hurdles in the 2008-2010 LTISP continue unchanged to that of the
2007-2009 LTISF, being a Total Shareholder Return {(“TSR”) hurdle (and since 2006 with two
Peer Groups) and average annual growth in Earnings Per Share (“EPS”).

The two components in the 2008-2010 LTISP are subject to separate performance measures
as follows:

Component Shares Threshold Maximum
A — Peer Group 1 31,600 61,961

Peer Group 2 31,600 61,961
B 63,200 123,922
Total 126,400 247,844
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Component A

Component A of Mr Davis’ participation in the LTISP is subject to measurement of the Company’s
TSR from 1 January 2008 to 31 December 2010. The TSR performance hurdle will be measured
against two peer groups (which are identified in Appendix 1 to these Explanatory Notes). Half of
the TSR performance will be measured against Peer Group 1 and half will be measured against
Peer Group 2.

If the Company’s TSR ranking for the 3 year period against Peer Group 1 meets or exceeds the
51st percentile, Mr Davis will be awarded 31,600 shares. As TSR performance exceeds the

51st percentile, the number of shares to be awarded will be scaled up to a maximum of 61,961
shares (or 196.1% of the threshold award) which will be awarded if the Company’s TSR
performance meets or exceeds the 75th percentile. The same tests will apply against Peer Group 2.

In summary:
TSR Percentile Percentage Peer Group 1 Peer Group 2 Total TSR
of Threshold {number {number Shares
Awarded of shares} of shares) Awarded
51st percentile 100.00% 31,600 31,600 63,200
55th percentile 117.60% 37,176 37,176 74,352
60th percentile 137.30% 43,372 43,372 86,744
65th percentile 156.90% 49,569 49,569 99,138
70th percentile 176.50% 55,765 55,765 111,530
75th percentile 196.10% 61,961 61,961 123,922

@i the TSR percentile achieved is between two of the percentiles detailed above, then the equivalent pro-rata is applied to the applicable
award of shares, on a straight line basis.)

If the TSR measure is not achieved against either one or both of the Peer Groups at the end of the
3 year period, then that part or parts of this Component A will be re-tested at the end of each
subsequent quarter up to the end of year 4 (fe: one further year of testing up to 31 December 2011).
The re-testing for each Peer Group ceases at the earlier of one year after the initial test or when the
TSR hurdle first vests.

Component B

Component B of Mr Davis’ participation in the LTISP is subject to measurement of the Company’s
average annual growth in EPS from 1 January 2008 to 31 December 2010. If average growth in EPS
is less than 8.2% per annum, no shares will be awarded to Mr Davis. If average growth in EPS is
8.2% per annum, Mr Davis will be awarded 63,200 shares.To the extent that average growth in EPS
exceeds 8.2% per annum (up to 16% per annum), then the shares awarded to Mr Davis will be
scaled up to a maximum of 123,922 (or 196.1% of the threshold award). No re-testing applies

to this component.

Annual Average Percentage of

Growth in EPS Threshold Awarded Shares Awarded
8.2% growth 100.00% 63,200
9.0% growth 117.60% 74,352
10.0% growth 137.30% 86,744
15.0% growth 166.70% 105,334
16.0% growth 196.10% 123,922

(If the Annual Average Growth in EPS achieved is between two of the percentages detailed above, then the equivalent pro-rata is applied to
the applicable award of shares, on a straight line basis.)
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Summary

The approximate value of the 126,400 threshold number of shares using CCA’s share price as

at 31 December 2007 of $9.48 = $1.2 million (or if the 2007-2009 LTISP fair value at grant date

of $7.70 was used, this would value the shares at $0.97 million). The LTISP component represents
approximately 20% of Mr Davis” on-target remuneration package of $5.9 million.

All shares to which Mr Davis may become entitled as a result of his participation in the
2008-2010 LTISP will be allocated in respect of the 2008-2010 performance period by no
later than 28 February 2012.

The shares will be acquired by the Trustee of the LTISP on behalf of Mr Davis either by purchase
of shares at the prevailing market price or by subscription for new shares in the Company
at no cost to Mr Davis.

Since the 2007 Annual General Meeting, 193,429 shares have been acquired on behalf of Mr Davis
under the 2005-2007 LTISP, at no cost to him.

The proposal by the Board to offer shares under the LTISP to Mr Davis has been recommended by
the Compensation Committee following detailed reviews and advice from external remuneration
consultants. The cost to the Company in relation to the acquisition of any shares by the Trustee

on behalf of Mr Davis will be expensed in the financial statements over the vesting period in
accordance with the relevant accounting standards.

Details of any shares awarded to Mr Davis under the LTISP will be published in each annual report
of the Company relating to the performance period in which the shares have been awarded
together with a statement that approval for the award of the shares was obtained

from shareholders.

There are no Executive Directors on the Board, other than Mr Davis, and no other Directors on the
Board who qualify for participation in the LTISF. Should that change, no Director will be entitied
to participate in the LTISP unless their participation is approved by shareholders.

Voting Exclusions
The Company will disregard any votes cast on this resolution by:

s  Mr Davis; and
¢ any associate of Mr Davis.
However, the Company need not disregard a vote if:

*  itis cast by a person as proxy for a person who is entitled to vote, in accordance with the
directions on the proxy form; or

* it is cast by the person chairing the meeting as proxy for a person who is entitled to vote,
in accordance with a direction on the proxy form to vote as the proxy decides.

Directors’ Recommendation

The Directors, other than Mr Davis, recommend that shareholders vote in favour of this resolution.
Mr Davis makes no recommendation in light of his personal interest in this resolution.
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Appendix 1

2008-2010 LTISP
Company Name Peer 1 Peer2| Company Name Peer 1 Peer 2
ABB Grain Limited Yes James Hardic Industries N.V. Yes
ABC Learning Centres Yes Leighton Holdings Limited Yes
AGL Energy Limited Yes Lion Nathan Limited Yes
Altria Group Inc Yes Little World Beverages Limited Yes
Amcor Limited Yes Macquarie Airports Yes
Aristocrat Leisure Limited Yes Macquarie Communications
Asciano Group Yes Infrastructure Group Yes
Australian Agricultural Macquarie Infrastructure Group Yes
Company Limited Yes Maryborough Sugar Factory Limited Yes
Australis Aquaculture Limited Yes McGuigan Simeon Wines Limited Yes
AWB Limited Yes Metcash Limited Yes
Babcock & Brown Namoi Cotton Co-operative Limited Yes
Infrastructure Group Yes News Corporation Inc (Voting CDI) Yes
Billabong International Limited Yes OneSteet Limited Yes
BlueScope Steel Limited Yes Orica Limited Yes
Boart Longyear Limited Yes Patties Foods Ltd Yes
Boral Limited Yes Primeag Australia Limited Yes
Brambles Industries Limited Yes Qantas Airways Limited Yes
Caltex Australia Limited Yes Ridley Corporation Limited Yos
Clean Seas Tuna Limited Yes Select Harvests Limited Yes
Cochlear Limited Yes Sigma Pharmaceuticals Limited Yes
Cockatoo Ridge Wines Limited Yes Sims Group Limited Yes
Computershare Limited Yes Sonic Healthcare Limited Yes
Connecteast Group Yes Symbion Health Limited Yes
Eﬁ;\;zgdated Media Holdings Yes Tabcorp Holdings Limited Yes
Constellation Brands, Inc Yes Tandou Limited Yes
Costacxchange Ltd Yes Tassal Group Limited Yes
Crown Limited Yes Tatts Group Limited Yes
CSL Limited Yes Telecom Corpor.ati.on of

New Zealand Limited Yes
CSR Limited Yes Telstra Corporation Limited Yes
David Jones Limited Yes Toll Holdings Limited Yes
Downer EDI Limited Yes Transurban Group Yes
Dyno Nobel Yes United Group Limited Yes
Fairfax Media Limited Yes Warrmnambool Cheese & Butter
FFI Holdings Limited Yes Factory Company Holdings Limited Yes
Foster’s Group Limited Yes Wesfarmers Limited Yes
Futuris Corporation Limited Yes West Australian Newspapers
GrainCorp Limited Yes Holdings Limited Yes
GSF Corporation Limited Yes Woolworths Limited Yes
Harvey Norman Holdings Limited Yes Worleyparsons Limited Yes
Incitec Pivot Limited Yes
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Appendix 2

RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

Following is a Curriculum Vitae for each of the Directors standing for re-election at the meeting.

Wallace {Wal) Macarthur King, AQO

Wal King was born and educated in New South Wales and graduated from the University of New
South Wales in 1966 with a Bachelor of Engineering Degree and a Master of Engineering Science
Degree in 1968,

He began his career with Leighton in 1968 working on major construction projects all over
Australia and quickly moved into management, becoming a Director of Leighton Holdings Limited
in 1975 and being appointed CEQ of Leighton Holdings in February 1987. He is also a Director of
all major operating subsidiaries.

Under his leadership, the Leighton Group has grown from an organisation with a market
capitalisation of around $100 million and revenue of around $1 billion to one with a market
capitalisation of $15 billion and annual revenue of more than $12 billion, The organisation now
has a very diversified base of construction, property and services businesses in Australia, Asia and
the Gulf region, and is the largest contract miner in the world. The Group directly employs over
27,000 staff and has some 60,000 people employed on its projects globally.

Mr King participates in various business groups and is President of the Australian Constructors
Association. He is also a Director of the University of New South Wales Foundation Limited;

a Council Member of the University of New South Wales and the Business Council of Australia;
a Foundation Member of The Committee for Sydney Inc and the New South Wales Infrastructure
Council; and a Founding Councillor of the Australia Business Arts Foundation.

Mr King is an Honorary Fellow of the Institution of Engineers Australia; a Foundation Fellow of the
Australian Institute of Company Directors, and a Fellow of the Australian Institute of Management,
the Australian Institute of Building and the Australian Academy of Technological Sciences and
Engineering. He is also a Member of the American Society of Civil Engineers.

Wial King was the 2001 winner of the ICAA/Zurich Business Leader of the Year Award. He was also
awarded the 2001 Peter Nicol Russell Memorial Medal - The Institution of Engineers Australia’s
highest award, and was presented Life Membership by the Tourism and Transport Forum for his
contribution to the development of Australian transport infrastructure.

In October 2002, Wal King was conferred an Honorary Doctorate of Science by the University of
New South Wales for his distinguished eminence in the field of construction engineering.

He joined the Board of Coca-Cola Amatil Limited in February 2002.

David Edward Meiklejohn

David Meiklejohn was born and educated in Queensland and graduated from The University of

Queensland with a Commerce Degree and a Diploma in Education. After a short term as a high

school teacher, he joined the pulp and paper manufacturer, APM Limited in Queensland in 1966
and transferred to the head office in Melbourne in 1967 as a Cost Accountant. He remained with
APM (subsequently Amcor Limited) until his retirement from Amcor in June 2000.

During his career he progressively occupied all of the senior accounting positions in the head office
moving from Chief Accountant of APM to Finance Manager and then Chief Financial Officer in
1981. In the period prior to 1981, he also managed the company’s Fairfield Mill in Melbourne from
1979 to 1981 and attended the Stanford Executive Program in 1976.
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Appendix 2 (continued)

RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS {CONTINUED)

He was appointed an Executive Director of Amcor Limited in 1985 and worked closely with the
Board and the CEQ as the company was transformed from a domestic pulp and paper
manufacturer to a global packaging giant. He was directly involved in many major acquisitions,
both in Australia and overseas and was responsible for all of the accounting, taxation and funding
issues throughout the Group. He retired from Amcor in 2000 and accepted the position as
Chairman of PaperlinX Limited which was spun out of Amcor in that year. Prior to his retirement
from Amcor, he was also Chairman of Kimberly Clark Australia Limited and a director of Mayne
Nickless Limited and Colonial Limited. Since retirement, he has served on the boards of other
companies and was at different times Chairman of SPC Ardmona Limited, Deputy Chairman of
GasNet Australia Limited and a director of WMC Resources Limited and Treasury Corporation of
Victoria Limited.

Today, besides being a director of this Company, he is Chairman of PaperlinX Limited and a director
of Australia & New Zealand Banking Group Limited and Mirrabooka Investments Limited.
Recognised as a financial expert because of his commercial and accounting experience, he is
Chairman of the Audit Committees of ANZ and Mirrabooka.

He has served on the Committee of the Melbourne Cricket Club since 1987 and during this time has
been Treasurer (for 9 years) and a Vice President (for 6 years). He was elected President of this famous
club in February 2007. He was also a member of the Finance Committee for the Murdoch Institute for
some years and is currently involved in a group raising funds for research into prostate cancer.

He joined the Board of this Company after the acquisition of SPC Ardmona Limited in 2005.

Catherine Michelle Brenner

Catherine Brenner was born in Gundagai and educated in New South Wales. She graduated from
Macquarie University with an economics degree and a law degree. She completed her Masters of
Business Administration at the Australian Graduate School of Management.

After completing the professional program at the New South Wales College of Law, she was
admitted to practice as a Legal Practitioner in the Supreme Court of NSW. Ms Brenner joined
Phillips Fox Solicitors following university where she practiced in the corporate division of the firm
until early 1997.

In early 1997, she joined the investment bank, BZW (subsequently ABN AMRO}. During her career
in investment banking she worked her way up to Managing Director and also held senior roles in
the mergers and acquisitions and equity capital markets divisions. She has recently left ABN AMRO
to focus on her non-executive directorships.

As an investment banker, she has provided advice to a range of clients including the Federal
Government, various State Governments, Lend Lease, Westfield, SingTel Optus, AGL and BHP
Billiton. She has worked on over $250 billion of corporate restructurings, takeovers, capital raisings,
capital structuring, divestments and acquisitions of businesses and privatisations.

In addition to her directorship of Coca-Cola Amatil, she is a non executive independent director of
Centennial Coal Company Limited and Cryosite Limited. She is the Chairman of the Remuneration
and Safety Committees at Centennial Coal Company Limited. Her prior directorships include
Trafalgar Corporate Group Limited (2003 — 2008).

Ms Brenner has been a director of the Australian Brandenburg Orchestra since 2006. She is the
Chairman of its Finance, Audit and Risk Committee. She is also a Member of the Takeovers Panel.

She joined the Coca-Cola Amatil Board in April this year.
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In 2007 Coca-Cola Amatil (CCA) achieved a YECOY a res HITdriven by the strong
performance of the Australian and New Zealand beverage businesses, an excellent result

from Indonesia and a solid contribution from our emerging alcoholic beverage business.

The result has been driven by improved pricing and product mix, a number of successful

new product launches, and the incremental earnings generated by our significant capital !

investment program and the Trans-Tasman business integration. CCA continues to focus on

IVWIOVJTIOM and CXPJVLS iOVl of the brand portfolio, increasing the availability of
its products. In doing so, CCA is able to rCfF‘CSI’L ”Ydrﬂ'rc and CVICF@!’SC our

consumers — all day, every day.

L

Terry Davis
Group Managing Director
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fear in

In 2007 CCA achieved a
record result, delivering
net profit after tax of
$366.3 million, before
significant items, an
increase of $42.8 million
or 13.2% on 2006.

O

CCA's profit result has been
achieved through the strong
performance of the Australian and
New Zealand beverage businesses,
an excellent result from Indonesia
and a solid centribution frem our
emerging alcohot business.

The result has been driven by
improved pricing and product mix, a
number of successful new product
launches, and the incremental
earnings generated by our
significant capital investment
program and the Trans-Tasman
business integration.

n
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Our strong financial performance
enabled the Board to increase the
final dividend to 20.0 cents a share,
fully franked. This gives a total fully
franked dividend for the year of
35.5 cents a share, 2 9.2% increase
on last year, representing a payout
ratio of 73.0% of net profit, before
significant items.

Cver the past five years, we have
delivered average net profit after tax
growth of 12.3% per annum, before
significant items, underpinning the
13.9% per annum average increase
in dividends paid to shareholders
over that pericd.




2007 has been marked
by the delivery on all of
the primary business
drivers identified in

our strategic review

in April 2007.

1. Expand the
product portfolio

We have continued to expand our
non-alcoholic beverage portfolic
with a number of successiul new
product launches, including
Pumped flavoured water, new
Powerade |sotonic flavours,
Goulburn Valley premium juice,
smoothies and fresh flavoured
milk and the Kirks Sugar

Free range.

g

1 Includes Maxxium revenue
which is not reported in CCA accounis

S ElyD - gD
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2. Develop an alconolic
beverages business
in Australia and
New Zealand

In alcohol, we launched our
premium beers — Peroni, Pilsner
Urquell and Miller Genuine Draft -
in New Zealand. Miller Chill was
launched in Australia, the first
significant beer innovation in
Australia for many years, and we
also successfully launched Jim
Beam & Zero Sugar Cola.

CCA's rapidly-growing alcohol
business generated over $300 million
in revenue’ in 2007 from the sale of
Pacific Beverages' premium beers
and the Maxxium spirits portfolio,
delivering solid incremental earnings
to CCA.

RS-
f)41...|-
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2. Maintain our
commitment 1o
Indonesia, PNG and Fifi

Additional capital investment in
Indonesia over the last two years
in new can, PET and hot-fill
production capacity continued

to drive profitable growth in the
modern food store channel,

4. Create a world-class
operating system

The integration of CCA’s Australian
and New Zealand beverage
businesses delivered savings in
2007 of over $10 million from
improved revenue management
initiatives and procurement savings.
And further opportunities have been
identified for 2008.

The investment in a new technaology
platform across Australia and New
Zealand is expected to deliver many
process and operating efficiencies
to the organisation and will be
phased in over the next few years.

CCA Shareholder Review 2007




YCdF in Review continucd

Operations Review

CCA’s continuing
operations delivered
EBIT of $648.4 million,
an increase of 15.3%
on 2006.

AUSTralia achieved an excellent
result with EBIT growth of 12.3% on
strong trading revenue and volume
growth of 9.1% and 2.6%
respectively.

The result was achieved by CCA's
continued focus on new product
and package innovation and price
realisation, and was supported by
the emerging alcohol business.

15.3%

Increase in earnings
t0 $648.4 willion

CCA's continued investment in new
higher value premium products and
packages such as Brand Coke in
385ml glass and slim line cans,
Powerade Isotonic, and Pumped
flavoured water delivered strong
growth for the year as consumers
responded positively to CCA's
increased range of premium brand
and pack combinations.

New Zealand & Fifi
recovered from a difficult 2006
trading year to deliver a record EBIT
growth of 19.5% on revenue growth
of 9.1% and volume growth of
1.5%. This was an excellent result
given the business was cycling the
successful launch of Ceca-Cola
Zero in New Zealand in the first half
of 2006.

4 QCA SharehoI&)r Review 2007 Year in Review
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Indonesia & PNG - The
region more than doubled EBIT to
$36.8 million, with strong volume
growth of 7.2% and revenue growth
of 4.5% as the economic recovery
in Indonesia that commenced in the
second half of 2006 continued
throughout 2007 .

Food & Services delivered
EBIT growth of 5.1% on revenue
growth of 5.5%, which was a solid
result and was achieved despite the
continuing impact on SPC Ardmona
of the drought, increased
commedity prices and increased
competition from imported
packaged fruit and vegetable
products.

Pacific Beverages, coas
alcoholic beverage JV with
SABMiller achieved strong
penetration with its premium beer
brands particularly Peroni Nastro
Azzurro and Miller Genuine Draft,
achieving volume growth of more
than 150% over 2006 when the
brands were under other distribution
arrangements.




Acquisition of
Bluetonguce Brewery

On 5 December 2007, Pacific
Beverages acquired Bluetongue
Brewery. Bluetongue’s premium
beer brands include Bluetongue
Premium Lager, Blugtongue
Premium Light, Blustongue
Traditiconal Pilsner, Bluetcngue
Alcoholic Ginger Beer, and Bondi
Blonde. The acquisition of
Bluetongue Brewery adds a fast-
growing and uniguely Australian
premium beer brand to Pacific
Beverages' existing portfolio of
imported premium beers and fits
perfectly with CCA’s strategy of
developing a material presence in

the Australian premium beer market.

Brewery Development

Pacific Beverages intends to
establish a boutique premium
brewery at Warnervale in New South
Wales in order to further accelerate
its premium beer strategy. The
brewery site, when completed,

will enable Pacific Beverages to
materially increase production of
Bluetongue to meet increased
national demand, while also
providing capacity for the potential
production of other Australian
premium beer brands. The brewery,
with a capacity of 500,000
hectolitres, is expected to be
completed during 2010 and will

be jointly funded by CCA and
SABMiller,

Off-Market
Share Buy-Back

CCA successfully completed an
off-market share buy-back on

29 January 2008. A total of 21.7 million
shares, or approximately 2.9% of
CCA's issued shares, were bought
back at a price of $7.84, representing
a maximum 149% discount to the
applicable market price.

Disposal of the
South Korecan Business

CCA compleied the sale of its
South Kerean business to LG
Household & Health Care Ltd
(LGH&H) on 24 October 2007 for
$520 million including net debt. The
final loss on disposal after income
tax expense was $49.4 miliion, or
$46.3 million on a pre tax basis,
This amount has been recognised
as a significant item for 2007.
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Vear in Review continued

Outlook for 2008

CCA’s strategy to focus on organic growth over the
last two years has proven to be the correct path,

and our management team is highly focussed on
delivering leading brands to the market. As a result,
the Company is in excellent shape to respond to
changes in economic conditions.

The pricrities for 2008 will be the
continued expansion of CCA's non-
alcoholic and premium alcoholic
beverage portfolio and further
realising the benefits of its Trans-
Tasman business integration
program. This will be achieved
through significant capital and
technology investments in Australia
and New Zealand in cold drink
equipment, automated warehousing,
systems infrastructure and increased
beverage production capacity.

We have some exciting new product
launches in the pipeline for this year,
with our major new product for the
year, Glacéau Vitamin Water,
launched in Australia in February.
Glacéau has been a huge success
in the United States where it now
leads the enhanced water category.

CCh is on track 1o continue
the expansion of its wulti-beverage

strategy in 2008

The consumer spending
environment will have challenges in
2008 with interest rate rises, higher
petrol prices and higher food
inflation. However, on the plus side,
employment in Australia and new
demand remains very strong and
there are income tax cuts legislated
for July. With the sale of the South
Korean business, our balance sheet
is very strong and the 4.7 times
EBIT interest cover is the highest
interest cover in over 10 years.

We expect to be able to deliver
good revenue growth in 2008.

At this early stage, we remain
optimistic that our strong
performance in 2007 has
established a sound platform
{or 2008 and that the business
i5 in excellent shape to raspond
appropriately to changes in
economic conditions or
consumer sentiment.
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Five Year Financial Summary

2007 2006 2005 2004 2003

Income Statement
Trading Revenue 5 million 4,393.2 4,353.1 40214 3,4501 3,357.1
EBIT — before significant items $ million 653.1 580.5 5106 518.3 4700
Net Profit — before significant items $ million 366.3 3235 3205 2743 2388
Significant Ytems (net of tax) $ million (55.6) {41.1) - 23 (44 5)
Net Profit $ million 3107 2824 3205 2766 1942
Balance Sheet
Net Debt $ million 1,607.3 20746 21327 1,636.8 15795
Equity $ million 1.440.7 1,470.7 14248 932.5 29217
Capital Employed $ million 3,048.0 35453 3.557.5 24693 4501.2
Key Ratios
Capital Expenditure to Revenue? % 6.8 6.5 15 6.1 43
Return on Average Capital Employed? % 19.0 163 175 21 B 102
EBIT Interest Caver? times 47 4.0 4.1 a7 41
Net Debt to Equity % 116 1411 149.7 164.8 54.1
Per Share Infermation
Earnings per Share — before significant items cents 48.6 432 433 9.0 34.3
Earnings per Share cents M3 37.7 433 393 278
Dividends per Share cents 355 325 N5 280 230
Level of Franking — Final % 100 100 100 100 75

— Interim % 100 100 100 100 50

1 2003 financial information has been prepared under the previous framework of Australian Accounting Standards {AGAAF)

2 Before significant items

3 2004-2007 capital expenditure includes purchases of returnable containers owing to a change in accounting policy in 2004,
whereby returnable containers were classified from inventories to property, plant and equipment. 2003 has not bean

restated for this change.
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corporate Social

Responsivility

- Environment At Northmead, we are building two Other significant environmental

| . underground rainwater harvesting achievements include the continued
During Australia’s worst drought in tanks — the size of two Olympic “lightweighting” of beverage
100 years, GCA embarked on a swimming pools — to capiure water containers, saving 21,000 tonnes
plan to save water which hlas from the new warehouse roof. The of PET since 2003 and a further
resulted in a remarkable mlle'st.one - water will be piped underneath the reduction in the product to
becoming the most water effmgnt highway to irrigate a neighbourhood packaging ratio by weight from
non-alcoholic beverage bottler in park. 14.8:1 in 2006 to 13.7:1 in 2007.

our industry in the world. In 2007

our Northmead plant in Sydney was We opened twp more puplic plagg
awarded a 5-star rating for waler dmillion lifres {71 Olympic swimming ol atighs af Ausalia
management foim Sydney Water~ ) ls) o water thanks o “dry-lube* i Al < le) i

the first for a may J5

Afg;fwell, we are saving an extra

For more
information on
sustainability you
can download
Citizenship @ CCA
from our website at
www.ccamatil.com

/
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Marketplace

We are proud of our Northern
Territory team’s strategy to help
remote indigenous communities
implement healthier lifestyles, mainly
by encouraging indigenous store
owners to sell more water, sugar-
frea soft drinks and fruit juice over
traditionat sugar soft drinks.

This Healthy Community Strategy
in the Top End is supported by the
Coca-Cola Australia Foundation’s
Healthy Bodies Healthy Minds Week
in Tennant Creek and by a $60,000,
three-year sponsorship of the AFL's
Healthy Lifestyles carnivals.

In New Zealand, a Sprite Zero pilot
in conjunction with a health board's
diabetes campaign resulted in a
17% decrease in sugar intake
across participating McDonald’s
restaurants. As a result, Sprite Zero
has replaced Sprite across
McDeonald's network nationally.

community

In its second "pink lids” year
Mount Franklin donated mcre than
$300,000 to the Nationa! Breast
Cancer Foundation, an increase
of $130,000 from 2006. CCA staff
donated $70,000 to charities
through our workplace giving
program Thirst For Giving, and
“donated ZQOO books to the “Share-
‘g-Book” Iii:)lfary at Tennant Gree

SPC Ardmona committed more than
$10 million of initiatives to ensure
the viability of fruit and tomato
growers in the Goulburn Valley
during the drought.

In PNG we donated 5000 cartons of
bottled water to flood victims and in
Indonesia the Cinta Air (Love Water)
project in West Java restored sate
drinking water to local communities
and held education sessions on
water, recycling and health.
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Shareholder enquiries

Investors seeking information about their
shareholding sheuld contact the Company’s
Share Registry. Shareholders should have their
Security holder Reference Number (SRN) or
Holder Identification Number (HIN) available
when contacting the Share Registry.

Share Registry contact details
Link Market Services Limited
Locked Bag A14

Sydney Scuth NSW 1235

Ph: 61 2 8280 712"

Fx: 61 2 9287 0303

Email: registrars@linkmarketservices.com au
Website: www linkmarketservices.com.au

Coca-Cola Amatil Limited
ABN 26 004 139 397

iy Ui wiihj iuvry

For enguiries about American
Depositary Receipts {ADR):

BNY — Mellon Sharecwner Servicas
Investor Services

PO. Box 11258

Church Street Station

New York, NY 10286-1258

Toll Free ([domestic): 1-888-BNY-ADRS
Imernational: 1 212-815-3700
Email: shareowners@bankofny.com
Website: www adrbny.com

Vating rights

Ordinary shares — entitle the holder to one vota,

except on a poll where each share is entitled 1o
one vote.

Website

The Annual Report and Shareholder Raview are
available on the website:

www.ccamatil.com
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How to contact us

Coca-Cola Amatil Investor Relations

71 Macquarie Strest

Sydney NSW 2000

Ph: B1 2 9258 6159

Fx: 612 9259 6614

Email: aus_investor_relations@anz.ccamatii.com

Shareholder Review

The Shareholder Review has baen prepared as a
general business overview and doas not, and
should not be expected 1o, provide a detailed
understanding of Coca-Cola Amatil’s financial
performance, financial position or financing or
investing activities. Financial commentary
within this review has been derived from the
Coca-Cala Amatil Annual Report for the year
ending 31 December Z007.

You may obtain a copy of the Annua! Repart
from our website.
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